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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FIRERS

Dear-Shareholders,

I-am pleased to present the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018 on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company.

Under the combined effect of iterative upgrade of the emerging
technologies such as big data, artificial intelligence, blockchain,
cloud computing and machine learning, “technology-driven” has
become an important means to lead financial innovation. Propelled
by the dual forces of the policies and market, the global financial
technology industry emerged rapidly, with China in the lead in
terms of development speed. According to the Pulse of Fintech
report released by KPMG a renowned international accounting
firm, in 2019, global fintech funding rose to a new high of US$111.8
billion in 2018, increased by 120% from US$50.8 billion in 2017.
China was the champion of Asia fintech investment, with US$18.2
billion in funding across 83 deals.

In 2018, China’s consumption demand continued to maintain
an upward trend, with the patterns of market supply continuing
to innovate, and consumption remained as the most powerful
driver of China’'s economic growth. In a consumption system
featuring continuous innovation in consumption patterns and
accelerated integration of online and offline spending, there
were many participants in the featured financial services market
which target individual consumption demands, with various
differentiated products and services. In recent years, China's
consumer credit market has maintained a rapid growth. However,
there is a huge gap to be filled as compared with the United
States, particularly a comprehensive personal credit system in
the United States compared to the one under construction in
China. Many consumers are yet to be covered by the personal
credit system of the People’s Bank of China who cannot enjoy the
credit service of banks and other financial institutions. We believe
that our service enjoys a huge room of development among the
general Chinese consumers with financial needs. Leveraging the
financial technology service capabilities, the exploration and
expansion from its existing businesses to the new economic
sector will become the driving force for building our influence in
the capital market and create better return to the shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FIRERS

It can be foreseen that the predictability, flexibility, coordination
and effectiveness of China’s macroeconomic and financial policies
will be improved significantly in 2019, and its financial reform will
advance to a deeper and wider extent. Standing at a key turn
of further development of the industry, the Group is resolved
to deepen its exploration for financial technology and continue
to extend its products and services to new economic sectors
while improving its product service capabilities and optimizing its
strategic layout, so as to create greater value for the Shareholders.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
appreciation to you as our Shareholders for your continuous
support, and to thank all our employees for their dedicated efforts
and invaluable contribution to the Group.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

22 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E 1= 51 5 b2 1l
FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% B 8
FINANCIAL RESULTS VR

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$53,067,000 as compared with approximately HK$19,361,000
(restated) last year. Profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$16,197,000 as compared with
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$48,293,000 last year.

The change from loss to profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year was mainly attributable to the profit
contribution from the Group’s financial technology services
business.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$107,654,000 (2017 approximately
HK$70,500,000), total liabilities of approximately HK$45,987,000
(2017: approximately HK$63,124,000) and cash and bank balances
(excluding pledged bank deposit) of approximately HK$18,369,000
(2017: approximately HK$59,173,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 22% (2017: approximately 671%), based on the total
borrowings of approximately HK$13,768,000 (2017: approximately
HK$49,516,000) and the total equity of approximately
HK$61,667,000 (2017: approximately HK$7,376,000). The total
borrowings solely represent the Group’s convertible bonds. After
the exercise of the conversion right attached to the Group's
convertible bonds on 26 January 2018, the gearing ratio of the
Group has dropped significantly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 o K2 73 i

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s total number of issued
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each was 4,671,035,048 (2017:
4,629,368,382 ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each).

The Company had no issued non-redeemable convertible preferred
shares as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Details of the movement in the Company's share capital during the
year were set out in notes 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As the previous share option scheme adopted on 29 June 2007
expired and all the remaining share option lapsed in June 2017 and
the Company has not adopted any new share option scheme, the
Company currently has no share option scheme.

Details of the movement in the Company’s convertible bonds
during the year were set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no asset that was pledged
(2017: Nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$10,390,000
(2017: approximately HK$1,377,000) for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment. As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 21 March 2018, the Company also made a capital
contribution of RMB6,600,000 (approximately HK$8,167,407) to
the subsidiary REREMEE R EREM A A (transliterated as
Wuhan Wuhao Property Management Company Limited (“Wuhan
Wuhao")) during the year. Save as disclosed in this report, the
Group had no other specific plan for material investment or
acquisition of capital assets as at 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 o K2 73 i

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and Renminbi (“RMB").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
exchange rates may also be affected by economic developments
and political changes domestically and internationally, and the
demand and supply of RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of
RMB against HK$ may have impact on the operation results of the
Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial Technology Services Business

The Group relaunched its financial technology services business
in the beginning of March 2018, and it showed a steady growth
momentum throughout the year. The loan facilitation volume for
the year amounted to approximately RMB646 million, and had
generated a revenue of approximately HK$42,108,000 (2017:
approximately HK$8,354,000 (restated)). The financial technology
service business has grown to become the Group’s most
important revenue contribution business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 o K2 73 i

Apartment Leasing Business

The Group jointly established Wuhan Wuhao with an independent
third party and commenced apartment leasing business at the end
of March 2018. As of 31 December 2018, the Group has secured
the agency rights of 245 apartments (with 833 rooms in total) and
successfully procured the leasing of 614 rooms thereof, which
generated a revenue of approximately HK$4,446,000 for the year
(2017 Nil).

Smart Wearable Device Business

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed
sales of 784 pairs of smart glasses and 16,003 smart fitness
watches, which generated revenue of approximately HK$659,000
and HK$2,442,000 (2017: approximately HK$5,573,000 and
HK$2,983,000), respectively.

Currently, the market of smart fitness watches is experiencing
a slowdown and the development of technology runs into a
bottleneck. The technology entry barrier of industry is quite low
which resulted in fierce price competition and certain resistance
to product sales. In the future, the Group will closely monitor the
operation of the smart wearable device business to formulate
suitable development strategy.

Lottery Business

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 January
and 13 April 2018, respectively, the Directors have made changes
in the business strategy in relation to the Group's lottery business
in the PRC to focus on Shandong instead of Shenzhen and
Chongging. Pursuant to the respective agreements entered into by
IS LB BHE B IR A Al(transliterated as Shenzhen Gaorong
Caizhi Technology Company Limited (“Shenzhen Gaorong")) with
each of Shandong Province Sports Lottery Management Centre
and an independent third party, Shenzhen Gaorong is responsible
for providing relevant technical services and is entitled to collect a
particular percentage of the revenue from the sales network.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 o K2 73 i

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has submitted
applications for the establishment of 1,614 sales points in various
cities in Shandong and 1,000 of which have been approved.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's lottery
business generated revenue of approximately HK$996,000 (2017:
approximately HK$223,000).

Due to the fierce market competition and the enhanced control
over the lottery industry by the government, the lottery sales
did not increase significantly. In the future, the Group will closely
monitor the operation of the lottery business to formulate a
suitable development strategy.

Sports Training Business

The Group operates the Hui So Hung Table Tennis Training Centre
in Hong Kong to provide table tennis training services to students
with different ages and levels. The Group's sports training business
maintained a stable operation and revenue continued to increase
for the year. Revenue from sports training business for 2018
has reached approximately HK$2,416,000 (2017: approximately
HK$2,228,000).

PROSPECTS

The Group’s financial technology services business is expected
to further expand with brand promotion, user base expansion
and experiences accumulation. At the same time, the Group will
continue to stabilise the apartment leasing business in order to
strengthen the Group’s financial position.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 54 (2017: 42) employees
in total.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as auditors of
the Company on 29 November 2018 after the resignation of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited with effect from 8 November 2018.
Save as the above change, there is no further change in auditors of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESNRERENREBEENR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 38, was appointed as the chairman and
an executive Director of the Company and a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company in August 2017. Currently, Mr. Sun
also serves as the chairman, chief executive officer and an
executive director of 51 Credit Card Inc. (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2051), and a director of various subsidiaries
of its group including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (‘"Hangzhou Enniu”), Beijing Dingli Chuangshi
Technology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.,
Hangzhou Yeniu Asset Management Co., Ltd. and Fuzhou Enniu
Network Micro Credit Co., Ltd.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as Hangzhou Dianzi University) in June 2002.
He has been engaged in Internet businesses since 2004, and
founded several Internet companies before founding Hangzhou
Enniu in 2012. From May 2004 to August 2007, Mr. Sun served as
founder of Hangzhou Aladdin Information & Technology Co., Ltd.
and E City, a 3D mapping website in the PRC; and from August
2007 to February 2012, Mr. Sun served as the general manager and
founder of Hangzhou Fangtoo Information & Technology Co., Ltd., a
large online second-hand property platform.

In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
and 51 Credit Card Group has grown to be one of the leading
financial technology companies in China during the past few years.
Mr. Sun has been honored the Entrepreneur of 2016 by Dark Horse,
2017 Chinese Economic Figures by SINA and New Business 100
Annual Actors by 36Kr, etc.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFNRERENREBEENR

Mr. Zhao Ke, aged 35, was appointed as an executive Director
and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company in August
2017. Currently, Mr. Zhao also serves as an executive director and
the chief financial officer of 51 Credit Card Inc. (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2051), and a director of various subsidiaries
of its group including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu. From July
2006 to October 2015, Mr. Zhao served in a number of positions,
including as a senior manager of the capital markets services
group at Hong Kong Firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Xi‘an Jiaotong University in July 2005 with
a bachelor’'s degree in finance and obtained a master's degree
in economics from the University of Ottawa in October 2006. He
was accredited as a certified public accountant by The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2011 and by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Song has over 20 years'
experience in the entertainment and media industry. Mr. Song
founded “Maitian Music” in 1996 and served as its general
manager for 4 years since 1996, and then served as the executive
vice-president and production director for Warner Music Group
(China) from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing Taihe Rye
Music Co., Ltd. in 2004 and served as the chief executive officer
and also the president of Taihe Media Investment Co., Ltd. for
8 years. He joined Evergrande Music as the chairman of the
board from 2012 to 2015; and then worked for Beijing Alibaba
Music Technology Co., Ltd. as the chief executive officer and
the chairman of the board from 2015 to 2018. Mr. Song was an
independent non-executive director of A8 New Media Group
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 800) from May
2013 to May 2016. Mr. Song graduated from Tsinghua University in
July 1988 with a bachelor degree in environmental engineering.
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ESNRERENREBEENR

Mr. Wu Bo, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Wu is the founder and chief
executive officer of Meiaoju.com, a serial entrepreneur in Internet
sharing economy, artificial intelligence and deep learning. Mr. Wu
obtained his bachelor degree in automation engineering from
Tsinghua University and his master degree in computer science
from Western Michigan University. Mr. Wu has founded focus.cn
(a leading Chinese real estate portal), lashou.com (a Chinese top
group buying site) and meiaoju.com (an Internet service company
which brings Chinese investments into United States real estate
development market).

Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Yu
obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong
Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Yu has
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management. He had held senior management positions in several
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is currently an independent
non-executive director of Golden Resources Development
International Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
677), EVOC Intelligent Technology Company Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308), Applied Development Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) and Lerado
Financial Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1225), respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFBRS

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
371 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December 2018
by business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to
271.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company, a new dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is
adopted by the Board on 8 November 2018 which aims to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future growth
opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not
limited to, the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and
any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews
the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT", “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS” and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT" sections of this report. These discussions form part of the
"REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group's businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, the Directors or senior management have kept good
communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business
update with them when appropriate. During the year, there was
no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 28 to 29 and
26 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in notes 28 to 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31
December 2018, the Company did not have any reserves available
for distribution (2017: Nil).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company’s articles of association (“Articles”), or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 272 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$15,000 (2017: approximately HK$8,000).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. During
the year, there was appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group's employees in the PRC participate in defined
contribution schemes provided by the relevant provincial and
municipal governments under which the Group and the employees
in the PRC are required to make monthly contributions to these
schemes in accordance with relevant requirements. The Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds to the pension in
accordance with the requirements of the relevant provincial and
municipal governments.

The Group has arranged the Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee whereby each of the Group
(the employer) and the Hong Kong employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme in accordance with the relevant
legislation.

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit
schemes are shown in notes 10, 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately 664,580,000
(after adjusted for the share consolidation as effected on 27
February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated convertible
bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a former substantial
shareholder, and former chairman and executive director of the
Company. The convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years
from the issue date and can be convertible into one ordinary share
of the Company at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible
bonds at the holder’s option (after adjusted for the share
consolidation as effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion may
occur at any time between 27 August 2010 and 26 August 2015.

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 executed between
the Company and Mr. Leung, pursuant to which the Company and
Mr. Leung agreed to extend the maturity date of the convertible
bonds for 5 years from the date falling on the fifth year to the date
falling on the tenth year from the date of issue of the convertible
bonds (the “Extension”). The Supplemental Deed was approved
by independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company ("EGM") held on 3 November 2015.
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The Extension allows the Company to finance the debts under
the convertible bonds without any interest cost and enhance the
sufficiency of working capital of the Group.

On 24 January 2018, the Company received a conversion notice
from Mr. Leung to exercise the conversion rights attached to
the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$50,000,000. 41,666,666 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 0.9% of the issued shares of the Company as
at 24 January 2018 and approximately 0.89% of the enlarged
issued shares of the Company immediately after the conversion,
were alloted and issued to Mr. Leung on 26 January 2018 at the
conversion price of HK$1.2 per share.

As at 31 December 2018, the remaining convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$18,016,000 had not yet been converted.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
SPECIFIC MANDATE

On 12 April 2017, the Company and 51RENPIN.COM INC. (the
“Offeror”) entered into a subscription agreement (as amended by
a side letter dated 23 April 2017 and a second side letter dated 16
June 2017) (the “Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which
the Company had conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
Offeror had conditionally agreed to subscribe for, 390,000,000
shares at the consideration of HK$31,980,000, being HK$0.082 per
share (the “Subscription”).

The resolution proposed at the EGM held on 14 July 2017 regarding
the Subscription and the granting of the specific mandate was
duly passed by the independent Shareholders by way of poll at
the EGM. On 19 July 2017, 390,000,000 subscription shares were
allotted and issued to the Offeror at the subscription price of
HK$0.082 per subscription share, pursuant to the completion of
the Subscription Agreement upon the fulfilment of all terms and
conditions thereto. Please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 24 April 2017, 15 May 2017, 29 May 2017, 9 June 2017,
16 June 2017, 14 July 2017 and 19 July 2017 and the Company’s
circular dated 23 June 2017 (the “Circular”) for further details.
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The net proceeds of the Subscription were approximately HK$32.0 REEBMEHRIBFEL AR 0EEB L HNA
million. The updated intended use of proceeds as set out in the R&alHEA2018FAABENAEZEFHRERE
Company's announcement dated 13 April 2018 and the actual use  REE2018F12A31H I FEMERBZEERH

of proceeds as of 31 December 2018 are set out below: BREFN AT
Utilized
amount
Updated as of
intended 31 December
Intended and actual use of proceeds amount 2018
BZ2018F
B 12A318B 1t
FIBREZRERER AR BESHE CHANSE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(B85 T) (B8BIT)
(Approximate)  (Approximate)
(BE49) (#E49)
Staff costs which include salaries and other BINAK BIEEIRES Y
benefits of staff and Directors e MEHMET 14.0 14.0
Rental expenses for office premises MAEYWEZHERAT 2.5 2.5
Legal and professional fees FEEREEMRY 4.5 4.5
Business development of the Group’s AEELABHEEKR EBKER
apartment leasing business 8.0 8.0
Other administrative and operating expenses HEMiTHREERYT 2.5 2.5
Total intended use B R est 31.5 31.5
Additional proceeds used for other AREMITRAEEERTN
administrative and operating expenses FBINFRIA 0.5
Total actual use ERARAS 32.0

As at 31 December 2018, all net proceeds of the Subscription had  #2018%12A318  REFIEZIEC BN Ltz B
been utilized as set out above. o

Save for disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements were B EXFHEBEEIN  NREERFABET T HFE
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year. R

20 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
£EBHRE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EESH

No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning F R BREEAKIIN  WEST 7 sk 17 £ B L F 2
the management and administration of the whole or any BEHEIMEELLEKEEZEERITHRAEN -
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or

existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFRHEER
During the year, the sales and purchase percentage from the major FR ' AEBEEEEF RHEEE(GHEELIRER
customers and suppliers of the Group are set out below: BTN
Percentage of
total sales
hEHERER D
(1) Sales
HE
- the largest customer 5%
-BRAEP
— the five largest customers (combined) 7%

-AKREF (&6

Percentage of
total purchases

HERBAEEES L
(2)  Purchases
g
- the largest supplier 3%
- RAREER
— the five largest suppliers (combined) 11%
- hR#tER (&0F)

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any BESHAM EFREE2TMEZHE A L5
of their close associates, or any Shareholders (which, to the EFFTHMEE AR ADETRMOBIA LS 2T
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’'s  fAIfg &R AFEMERN A EE R KT P K HEE %
issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five HAEMEzHkER-

largest customers and suppliers for the year.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles, Mr. Sun Haitao and
Mr. Zhao Ke will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM").

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 13
of this report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

The Company entered into an agreement with 51 Credit Card
(China) Limited (a company wholly-owned by 51 Credit Card Inc.
and ultimately controlled by Mr Sun Haitao) (“51CCC") regarding
the sharing of the Hong Kong Head Office and other related
administrative expenses with effect from 1 July 2018.

Save as disclosed above and in this report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED

CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO") as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuer
as referred to in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”), were as follows:

Long position in the Shares

Name of Director Number of Shares

Capacity and

nature of interests

EERAQARSTHRAERAR QT
FEMABEENRD  HERO K
BEFETFHEENEERAR

2018F12A318  EERARRRRITHRAER
AARHEAMAEEE (F&RFSH KBS K
(BEEBIESE) ([BHFRBEMKEGI) EXVED
M)zlm HERO REST HEREZFSR
HEIEDIE3AUE BB RANMGEE 2 B LMz S
KoK A AR IR GEM LT #R Al 855. 4618 Z=5.67 16 F
MEMBITAESETELFRGZIMNTRE([R
SUFREE])ENEMA XM AR T KA
ZHESERARMT

RERGBzHR

Approximate
percentage of
issued Shares

HEBTRAZ
EEHRE ®#5EE SO RERMEE BHBE DL
Mr. Sun Haitao 1,834,963,213 M Interest in controlled corporation 39.28%

(“Mr. Sun”)
7wEE([BREE])

Note:

M

REEGEE 2 #aw

51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly-owned by t&EEFHERFEBER AT

(transliterated as Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Company Limited)
(“Shanghai Wuniu”), which is in turn wholly-owned by Hangzhou Enniu.
Further, contractual arrangements are entered into between #i il ik 4= 8. &
K ABRAF] (transliterated as Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co.,
Ltd.) ("Hangzhou Zhenniu”) (a company wholly-owned by 51CCC, which is in
turn wholly-owned by 51 Credit Card Inc. (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2051), and ultimately controlled by Mr. Sun) (details of which are set out
in “Long position in shares of associated corporation” below) and Hangzhou
Enniu so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Enniu. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in those Shares held by 51RENPIN.

COM INC.

R

51RENPIN.COM INC.Hf BB B4 @B HAER AR ([L£
BEF])ZEHER EBBEFRAENMMBGEZEHER It
SN UNIRFEEREER AR ([RMIRSF]) (B51E
AR (RE)2E#ES Mz ARBSERBRERA A (K
AT ET BRI 2051 2 EHE RBREERKE
B (EFBHA T [REBEERGZT8]) B
B4 BRI A LR HE - B R A g3 AL N B4« AR IR
FEH M HEE GG R £ B AS5TRENPIN.COM INC.
FiRBEZERD 2

(1
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Long position in shares of associated REBLIERODZHE
corporation
Approximate
Name of associated Capacity and nature percentage of
Name of Director corporation of interests Number of shares issued shares
HERTRGAZ
Esps HEEE AR SHRERME 17 & B BRED
Mr. Sun 51 Credit Card Inc. Founder of a discretionary trust who 120,076,000 10.05%
can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion @
BEE SIERRERAA BEEFAIVA ATFEXEA
TRERERE HAO
Others @ 50,355,000 4.22%
Hig
Others @ 387,756,522 32.46%
Hig
558,187,522 46.73%
Note: it -

(1 Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is
beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr.
Sun), (i) beneficially holds 120,076,000 shares in 51 Credit Card Inc.; (i) acts as
a general partner and controls 51 Xinhu L.P, which in turn holds 50,355,000
shares in 51 Credit Card Inc.; and (iii) holds 387,756,522 shares in 51 Credit
Card Inc. through various voting proxies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had or deemed
to have any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.

24 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ AN

O Rising Sun Limited ( &2 & &R AWukong Ltd. (BER %A

817 BB S5t Wukong TrustBE % B ) ) (VE 215451

EAFARRAFZ120,076,0008 051 : (HETEBREEA
I HI51 Xinhu L.P,M51 Xinhu LP#BES1ERFARA
7)250,355,0000% i 17 K (ii)#E BT RFEEZLFESE
AFARAEZ387,756,522/% i {7

B EXXFTIEESIN P2018F 128310 iflEE =
EARRBIHZRSITHRABRA R sk E w458
B (EERFHFRAEEGIEXVE) 2 EMBKRH
HERMD REFT BEIWREBEEREESF X
HEIRHIE352EBELAMGE 2 E LMz EWm
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, so far as was known to the Directors,
the persons or entities, other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company, who had or deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO are as follows:

FERRRAQDANRD - HERD
REZTHEENEZERXA

M2018F12A31H "HEZEEMA - U TATHEEE
(BEZHARRESTRABRIN RARBIMG »

HERDERESFTHREI W EAEERBEEFLR
HIE 1R HI B33 M EBELARRRIBFEZE
Rz EEIAE  HRIEES KT KR EXVE
F2REID B Z AT AMAR B TR 2 = FOK

PN

=

Number of
Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of

Name nature of interests and category® issued Shares

EESEE HERT

BFENKR G 18774

% B REREE HBEREAC BAES

51 Credit Card Inc." Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
SIERRBRARY REEHEE %

51CCCm Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
SIERAR (RE) REEHEE %

Hangzhou Zhenniu™ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
FN RGO REEHEE %

Hangzhou Enniu®™ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
T B0 REEHEE %

Shanghai Wuniu® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
LigEEn REEHEE %

51RENPIN.COM INC.?" Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%

EGBEEA

Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")? Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213 (L) 47.10%
FRERE([EEE]) REEHEE %

Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.@* Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213(L) 47.10%

RYTREREEERHERAA?

WX EHER #5
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Number of
Shares directly Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Name nature of interests and category® issued Shares
EESREE RE#T
BFENKRB B2z
£ FORERNLE HERERC BAES
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
REHABRRAF REEHEE R
Tiantu Investments Limited? Person having a security interest in shares 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
REREBEERAR HROBERERZNA
Tiantu Investments International Limited@ Beneficial owner 365,000,000(L) 7.81%
REREBEBBRERAR EGBEA
* (The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective

Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.)

Notes:

(1) Duplicate with those disclosed in the section “INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" above.

2) Tiantu Investments Limited is wholly-owned by Tiantu Advisory Company
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by ®¥IITh KBl % & 12D B A 7
(transliterated as Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.) which is owned as to approximately
59.80% by Mr. Wang. Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
2,199,963,213 Shares, of which 1,834,963,213 Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM
INC. is charged in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited and 365,000,000 Shares
are held by Tiantu Investments International Limited, a company wholly-owned
by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.

3) (L) - Long Position, (S) = Short Position.

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2018, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or deemed to have
an interest or a short position in the Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EE

()

B EX[EERARBHRDITRABRAR B A EE
EEH D AERD REFTEENER AR
WA 2 AR

FERERRARIAREZNERARZERS  KEZ
HERARAEFITREREEERNDERAR (£
S A HAS0.80% ) 2 EHA - TAEWRARA
& #£2,199,963,2130% f 15 U 25 - F #1,834,963,2130% i
3 EH51RENPIN.COM INC.FT B W T RER EBR A
7]+ 365,000,0008% 8% 17 Bl 1 =PI T K Bl & E B H BIR
REIZEBMEZ ARIRBEIREABRBEERAREE

br EXFT AN BLE S ATAN - 2018512 A 31
B #EALZ(BEERAQRETSTHEABRIN)
RO HR R SRR ARG RIEES REBEKRG
FIEREBELARRBBHEE 2B LMz
HHAR  RBIEBHF MNP EROEXVIE2RE
3N WZREARAARNRIBEEZERIAR -
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section “CONNECTED AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS" in this report, at no time during the year
and at the end of the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other subsidiaries.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year, the Group did not enter into any contract
of significance with its controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries.

During the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was made.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of
material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules, or did not fall under the definition of connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year under review, none of the Directors or controlling
Shareholders or any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which causes or may cause any significant competition with the
business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued shares was at all times held by the public
during the year and up to the date of this report. The Company
has maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with Rule
11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules.

BEROIESNRH

BRARES ERBHEEALRS ] —BHMKES
Sh > RAFREMFBRARFE  NAASEEMA
ERRAR B AR SARNE AR RELEITS
TR AEESA R AR QB SR E M
J& A B {0 S (B A FE T BUAS M o

BEREW
FAGE P9+ 7% S [ 30 48 B 420 R R R o LA () Y BB
AETSLEMEREH -

RERN - ZERBRRREEMNEARRERRALE
BEEMHRGILEMEREGL -

HEREBEEALXRS

REZE2018F12A31BILFE  ARRIWERER
SHFEEBELHAETCEMEMBRAE-+5
THER AESBIRERIENRE R AEEH
HEEBBREPETHERBEHRA LIS FBH
RIFA B RERMFEI7 - A ZERFHERR
EBFGEMEMBRIE—_+EBETHER AERE
STREHER T A NEBGEM ETAREIE —+E T
ATHNEERFHRIFERERS -

33 337
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS
Overview

Pursuant to the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-
funded Telecommunications Enterprises and its amendments from
time to time, foreign investors’ capital contribution to a value-
added telecommunications services provider shall not exceed
50%. Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign
Investment (2017 revision), value-added telecommunication
service are subject to foreign investment restriction in
which a foreign investor shall hold no more than 50% equity
interest in a value-added telecommunication service provider
(excluding e-commerce) in the PRC (the “Foreign Investment
Restrictions”). The operation of mobile Apps and the provision of
online information services (the “Relevant Businesses”) of the
Group are subject to the Foreign Investment Restrictions. In order
to conduct the Relevant Businesses, the PRC operating entities
are required to hold the Value-added Telecommunication Service
Operating Permit for Internet information services (the “ICP
License”).

Structured Contract 1

Hangzhou Hongmai Information Technology Limited (# /1 BAMR {2
BRHZ AR AA) ("Hangzhou Hongmai”) is an indirect wholly-
owned PRC subsidiary of the Company.

Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management Limited (A k& & & & 12
B A7) ("Hangzhou Weizi") was incorporated in September
2017. It is currently wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Yongjun. Hangzhou
Weizi has obtained the ICP License.

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the Internet business in which Hangzhou Weizi is
engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is
adopted by the Group, the details of which are set out below.
The mobile application “Xiaowu Purse” developed and owned
by Hangzhou Weizi (“Xiaowu Purse App”’) acts as the major
channel through which Hangzhou Hongmai approaches its users
and conducts business. Hangzhou Weizi presents information to
specific Internet users by connecting Xiaowu Purse App to its
cooperating Internet platforms, thereby providing the potential
users with financing demands to Hangzhou Hongmai. At the
same time, Hangzhou Hongmai gets access to users application
information through Xiaowu Purse App. Therefore, the Contractual
Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is crucial to the Group.

28
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Hangzhou Hongmai entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 1 with Hangzhou Weizi in late 2017; and
further entered into: (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement 1; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights
Entrustment Agreement 1 and supporting documents (collectively
referred to as the “Structured Contract 1°) with Hangzhou
Weizi and Mr. Wang Yongjun (the “Nominee Shareholder 1) to
enable the Group to obtain the power and ability to control the
business of Hangzhou Weizi and acquire economic benefits (the
“Contractual Arrangement 1°).

The Structured Contract 1 has an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which
is renewable by prior written notice of Hangzhou Hongmai. As
security for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement 1 and the performance of the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Equity Pledge Agreement 1
executed in favour of Hangzhou Hongmai as pledgee will only
be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholder 1 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement
1 are fulfilled. Similarly, for protection of the Group, the power
of attorney executed with Hangzhou Hongmai or the person
designated by it as entrustee will be valid so long as the
Contractual Arrangement 1 is in force. The Company will keep
exploring various opportunities in building up its services
operations so that it can obtain qualification as early as possible
to acquire the entire equity interest of Hangzhou Weizi if and when
the Foreign Investment Restrictions are abolished.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 1 which
involves the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Weizi to
Hangzhou Hongmai, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Hangzhou Hongmai to the Nominee Shareholder 1 under
the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Contractual Arrangement 1
does not involve payment of any consideration.

MMNBAR 2017 F I BN IR ERTSL - ()VBHRER
BEHHE  REMMNBESREIRERE ([REA
BER1)E—HFIL: QBREEREGBZ QK
BERHR  RORRRAEZEH R I RAEEX
(S EBESN1]) UEAEERBESM
MR EEBNRN RENRBGEENE ([§8
ZH1) -

RREESMZNRFHAEEa OB EESSH
T AAMMNMRE L ELEEMBMATAELY-
ERARBEREBEEHZEIXNRGELETE
REEEBRINER UMLK AE AL
MBEREERBZIKESRARAHL IR TR
BABRRIMBEEEKRRRL - A KERER
KB URMARKEREALTRARIEABRLZE
REAZENANLREBETHRFERER AR
AREERR TR S MRRG EE - SIREFRER
BER RINERERHIRRRRBEBMIMNE 25
P HE -

BBREBE B KA A [RAT M 5AR 52
MRBE - U RN BRI IBEREE#IHE1H
S TFREABRINEEBEEIN GOTHIT
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The Structured Contract 1, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Hangzhou Weizi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company's subsidiary resulting in
all economic benefits of its business flowing into the Company.
Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Weizi, the Company believes that Hangzhou Hongmai is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business
operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, and at the same time, ensure due implementation
of the Structured Contract 1.

The Structured Contract 1 enables the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the
business operation of Hangzhou Weizi. The validity and legality of
the Structured Contract 1 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Hangzhou Hongmai to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Weizi. The Structured Contract 1 also
permits Hangzhou Hongmai to exclusively acquire all or part of
the equity interest in Hangzhou Weizi, to the extent permitted
by the PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group’s
lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Weizi, the Group is able to
control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Weizi in
substance through the Structured Contract 1. As a result of the
Contractual Arrangement 1, Hangzhou Weizi is accounted for as
the Company’s subsidiary, and its financial position and operating
results are consolidated into the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangement 1, the revenue and net
loss of Hangzhou Weizi for the year ended 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately HK$2.3 million and approximately
HK$0.6 million, respectively. The net assets of Hangzhou Weizi as
at 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately HK$12.6 million.

30
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Risk factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 1: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 1 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 1 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 1 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this
area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 1.

Internal control measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, the Contractual Arrangement 1 has provided
that, without having obtained the written consent of Hangzhou
Hongmai, the Nominee Shareholder 1 and Hangzhou Weizi: (1) shall
not in any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the
equity interests in Hangzhou Weizi, or allow any encumbrance
thereon of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any
merger, partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association
with any person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get
separated from Hangzhou Weizi, amend the articles of association
of Hangzhou Weizi and change the registered capital or legal form
of the company.

No material change in the contractual
arrangement 1

The Company confirmed that there is no material change in the
Contractual Arrangement 1 and/or the circumstances under which
it was adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the
Contractual Arrangement 1 are on normal commercial terms.

[ B A &
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No rescission of the contractual arrangement 1

The Company also confirmed that there is no rescission of the
Structured Contract 1, and that there are no circumstances
resulting from which the Structured Contract 1 could not be
rescinded when restrictions on the adoption of Structured
Contract 1 are removed.

Structured Contract 2

Wuhan Wuhao is an indirect PRC subsidiary owned as to 55%
equity interests by the Company, and the remaining 45% equity
interests is directly held by Mr. Liu Jiping.

Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (R Z 155
B 4845 ST AR 2 7)) (“Yuechang Feichi”) was incorporated
in April 2018. It is currently wholly-owned by Mr. Wu Di. Yuechang
Feichi has obtained the ICP License.

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the online apartment leasing business in which
Yuechang Feichi is engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 2 (as
defined below) is adopted by the Group, the details of which are
set out below. The website http://51gongyu.cn (“51gongyu.cn”)
developed and owned by Yuechang Feichi acts as the major
channel through which Wuhan Wuhao approaches its users and
conducts business. Yuechang Feichi presents information to
specific Internet users through Internet platforms that include
51gongyu.cn for cooperation, thereby providing the potential users
with apartment leasing demands to Wuhan Wuhao. Therefore, the
Contractual Arrangement 2 (as defined below) is crucial to the
Group.

32
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Wuhan Wuhao entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2 with Yuechang Feichi; and further entered into:
(2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the Equity Pledge
Agreement 2; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights Entrustment
Agreement 2 and supporting documents (collectively referred to
as the "Structured Contract 2") with Yuechang Feichi and Mr.
Wu Di (the “Nominee Shareholder 2") in mid-2018 to enable the
Group to obtain the power and ability to control the business of
Yuechang Feichi and acquire economic benefits (the “Contractual
Arrangement 2°).

The Structured Contract 2 has an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which is
renewable by prior written notice of Wuhan Wuhao. As security
for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2 and the performance of the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2, the Equity Pledge Agreement 2 executed
in favour of Wuhan Wuhao as pledgee will only be terminated
when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder 2
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement 2 are fulfilled.
Similarly, for protection of the Group, the power of attorney
executed with Wuhan Wuhao or the person designated by it as
entrustee will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangement 2
is in force. The Company will keep exploring various opportunities
in building up its services operations so that it can obtain
qualification as early as possible to acquire the entire equity
interest of Yuechang Feichi if and when the Foreign Investment
Restrictions are abolished.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which
involves the payment of a service fee by Yuechang Feichi to
Wuhan Wuhao, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Wuhan Wuhao to the Nominee Shareholder 2 under the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, the Contractual Arrangement 2
does not involve payment of any consideration.
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The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Yuechang Feichi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company's subsidiary resulting
in the responding economic benefits of its business flowing into
the Company. Through the appointment of senior management
of Yuechang Feichi, the Company believes that Wuhan Wuhao
is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the
business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and
assets of Yuechang Feichi, and at the same time, ensure due
implementation of the Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise
control over and receive, in proportion to its shareholding
percentage, economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Yuechang Feichi. The validity and legality of the
Structured Contract 2 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Wuhan Wuhao to be entitled to the economic benefits
generated from Yuechang Feichi in proportion to the shareholding
percentage. The Structured Contract 2 also permits Wuhan Wuhao
to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in Yuechang
Feichi, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group’s lack of equity ownership in Yuechang
Feichi, the Group is able to control correspondingly the business
and financial position of Yuechang Feichi in substance through the
Structured Contract 2. As a result of the Contractual Arrangement
2, Yuechang Feichi is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results are included in the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements.

The net loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 and net assets
of Yuechang Feichi as at 31 December 2018, pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangement 2, amounted to approximately HK$0.2
million and approximately HK$1.1 million, respectively. No revenue
was generated for the year ended 31 December 2018 from
Yuechang Feichi.
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Risk factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 2: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 2 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 2 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 2 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this
area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 2.

Internal control measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Yuechang Feichi, the Contractual Arrangement 2 has provided that,
without having obtained the written consent of Wuhan Wuhao,
the Nominee Shareholder 2 and Yuechang Feichi: (1) shall not in
any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any
legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the equity
interests in Yuechang Feichi, or allow any encumbrance thereon
of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any merger,
partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association with any
person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get separated from
Yuechang Feichi, amend the articles of association of Yuechang
Feichi and change the registered capital or legal form of the
company.

No material change in the contractual
arrangement 2

The Company confirmed that there is no material change in the
Contractual Arrangement 2 and/or the circumstances under which
it was adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the
Contractual Arrangement 2 are on normal commercial terms.
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No rescission of the contractual arrangement 2

The Company also confirmed that there is no rescission of the
Structured Contract 2, and that there are no circumstances
resulting from which the Structured Contract 2 could not be
rescinded when restrictions on the adoption of Structured
Contract 2 are removed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 37
to 53 in this report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited has been appointed
as auditors of the Company on 29 November 2018 after the
resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited with effect
from 8 November 2018. A resolution will be proposed to the
forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as
auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

22 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

During the financial year under review, the Company complied
with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, the role of the chairman of the Board is performed
by Mr. Sun. Mr. Sun has been engaging in Internet business
development and financial technology for years. The Board
believes that by virtue of the practical experience of Mr. Sun in
mobile Internet and financial technology, Mr. Sun is able to provide
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, facilitate
effective and efficient planning, implementation of business
decisions and strategies, and ensure the generation of benefits to
the Shareholders.

Although the appointment of the chief executive officer of the
Company remains outstanding, the overall management of the
Company is performed by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke, their respective
areas of profession spearheaded the Group’s overall development
and business strategies.

The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy of the chief executive officer in order to comply with the
CG Code.

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code to its
corporate governance structure and practices in the manner
described in this report.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code”) which is on terms no less
exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings against which
issuers and their directors must measure their conduct regarding
transactions in securities of their issuers. The Company made
specific enquiry with all Directors and has not been notified of any
non-compliance with the Required Standard of Dealings and the
Code by any of the Directors during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and
up to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed "BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report.
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The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company. Additional meetings are convened as and
when the Board considers necessary. The Directors attended those
meetings in person, by phone or through other electronic means
of communication. The attendance record of the Directors in 2018
is set out below:

EFeTHeR (ELEBFRFEEHEIA) - A
BRI RMERARB 2MBREERR  ERIME
ARREEBRBEEBR -EESERRVERE A
RENEZ -EFHRS SBREFLHMETAEM
FRAEREZEEE BUEFN2018F 2 HE L
W

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERE EREESEEE
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Exg EREEE FMzEES REZEE
E=HE L =] 2t =] BRRXE
Executive Directors:
HITEF
Mr. Sun Haitao 4/4 - 11 171 1/2
BESEE
Mr. Zhao Ke 4/4 - - - 2/2
HE LA
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BUHNTEE
Mr. Song Ke 4/4 4/4 11 11 0/2
R K&
Mr. Wu Bo 4/4 4/4 171 171 0/2
RBEEE
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi 4/4 4/4 11 171 2/2
RELLE
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointing and supervising senior management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi are
the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs"). All of them
are under a term of service of three years commencing from the
date of their respective appointment or the date of entering into
their respective letter of appointment. All Directors, including the
INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM
in accordance with the Articles, provided that the appointment
may be terminated by the Company or the Director concerned
with a written notice pursuant to their service contract.

Save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are
free to exercise their independent judgement during the year.
The Company has received annual written confirmations from
the INEDs in respect of their independence pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDS to be independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year ended
31 December 2018, and the Directors are continually updated
on developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous ®IEZRFER M BEEXRREEIFE
professional development during the year are set out below: T

Scope of Training

T e g
Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EEEH EERE ZEREEEH EBEL TEER
Executive Directors.
HITEE
Mr. Sun Haitao Yes Yes Yes Yes
BRERE =] =] e] B
Mr. Zhao Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
S A =] =) =] e
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BUIHNITEEF
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
RS HE E) ) | E)
Mr. Wu Bo Yes Yes Yes Yes
RREE =] =] E] B
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi Yes Yes Yes Yes
REESLE =] =) =) e
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FERITHAR

The role of the chief executive is currently taken up by Mr. Sun and  fTERAEF 2B E B ATR AL ERBEE LA RE-&E
Mr. Zhao Ke. The roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief Z=&@TXENTTHRAHZBETERS BAKLLE
executive are not separate and exercised by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao MBI EABEIT - EZHBEZRARE [TAEX
Ke. For further details, please refer to the section headed "Code  ZFEA2. 1| —f&f-

PROVISION A.2.1" of this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES EEZET

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the ZEESEKUIERZES FHNZESKEXELE
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively, & (%8 [BEEZE8E]) UWREARFSKFEZ
the "Board Committees”) in order to maintain high level of B A%ER]-

corporate governance standard of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDS. The committee is chaired by
Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, with Mr.
song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the board diversity policy;

- reviewed the nomination procedures for directorship during
the year and recommended to the Board the adoption of
nomination policy for Directors;

- assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

- made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2018. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Nomination Committee are set out on page 39 of
this report.

Nomination Policy
The Board has passed a resolution to adopt a nomination policy
(the “"Nomination Policy”) on 8 November 2018.

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee has been delegated to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The Board
is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new
Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and measurable objectives which are set for
the purpose of implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity
Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board. In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has
been considered from a number of measurable aspects including
skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence,
age and gender. All Board appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

Measurable Objectives

The measurable objectives for the purpose of implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy include the independence, educational
background, professional qualifications and years of experience in
the industry the candidate is specialised in.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and resolved that the diversity in
the Board composition was in the interest of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The committee is chaired by
Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration;, make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment; consider
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group.
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During the year, there was no executive Director’'s service
contract .or INED's letter of appointment to be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

- discussed the remuneration of the Directors;

- reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2018. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 39 of
this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The committee is chaired by Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, with
Mr. Song Ke and Mr. Wu Bo as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors and assessing their independence and
performance; review the Group’'s financial information and
compliance; and review the Group's financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems.
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Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

reviewed the audited financial statement for the year ended
31 December 2017,

- reviewed the financial statements for the three months, six
months and nine months ended 31 March, 30 June and 30
September 2018, respectively;

- reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,

- considered the change of auditors of the Company and made
recommendation to the Board; and

- discussed with the new auditors the audit matters before the
commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held a total of four meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2018. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Audit Committee are set out on page 39 of this
report.

The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities.
These committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board's approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
Committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively
responsible for the corporate governance duties. Such duties
include but are not limited to:

developing and reviewing the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the
abovementioned corporate governance functions.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration
payable to the external auditors in respect of the audit and non-
audit services are as follows:

R AT

HE2018F12A31H L F[E - gL AE B INE X B
REZZBRIFZEREEMNZEAM BT

Type of services Amount
REER k-t
(HK$'000)
(F%T)
Audit services EETR 1,000
Non-audit services T AR TS 690

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITORS'
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 which give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the
auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in the section “INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS' REPORT" of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group's pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board’s responsibility to evaluate and determine
the nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The
Board acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework
for effective risk management and follows The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COS0") Internal Control - Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of
the inside information.

The Board has performed an annual review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Board was of the
view that throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group were
adequate and effective.

The Board’s annual review for the year ended 31 December
2018 also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
For this aspect, the Board was satisfactory. The Board was also not
aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group’s official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation
of risks.

The First Line of Defence - Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate
them by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk
owners are also responsible for designing and implementing
internal controls related to their risks.
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The Second Line of Defence - Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence - Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal
audit team is highly independent and reports to both the Board
and the Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditors and
other regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to
further strengthen the Group'’s governance and controls.

During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is
a summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the
applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk

The Group's businesses face fierce market competition,
especially for its financial technology services business
segment. China’s financial technology services market
is a very dynamic market that is highly competitive. To
ensure continual growth, the Group must constantly remain
innovative, assess changing consumers’ needs and provide
in-demand services over its competitors. There is the risk
that the Group is unable to maintain its edge and lose
market share. The Group has mitigated this risk by carrying
out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and also by
monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely react
to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion to
product innovation and marketing enables the Group to meet
customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.
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Government Policies and Regulations Risk

The Group's financial technology services business,
apartment leasing business and lottery businesses
belong to industries that are highly regulated by the PRC
government. Players in these industries have to adhere to
strict regulations. As these industries grow and the regulatory
landscape keeps on evolving, the PRC government often
promulgates new measures and restrictions which all
participants have to cope with. Unable to comply with these
rules and regulations will lead to serious consequences
including possibility of business termination. To mitigate this
risk, the Group has maintained a strong team of lawyers
and compliance advisors to ensure the full compliance
of laws and regulations. The Group also fosters close
communications with the PRC government and remains
vigilant in the latest regulatory updates.

Information Security Risk

The Group's financial technology services business,
apartment leasing business and lottery business serve the
mass population and hence collect a lot of user’s confidential
information and sensitive data. These data and information
must be well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and
damage. Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its
reputation, lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The
Group places a strong emphasis on information security
and has a team of information security experts. A series of
measures are implemented to ensure customers’ data is
secured, including regular testing of the Group’s data system
to eliminate any breaching loopholes, implementing content
segregation and access authorization controls for sensitive
data.
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4. Tenancy Risk

With respect to the Group’s apartment leasing business,
when room supply in the market exceeds demand, the Group
might be unable to find tenants for its apartment rooms,
thereby unable to generate revenue. As rental prices in the
market fluctuate, the Group might not be able to negotiate
for a high enough rental price with the customers to maintain
its profit margin. The Group’s mitigation response to these
tenancy risks is two-fold. First, the Group strives to negotiate
for favorable contract terms with landlords that can protect
the Group’s position, such as obtaining a longer rent-free
period so that more time is allowed to source for tenants.
Second, the Group utilizes strong data analysis and forecast
techniqgues to update its business strategy.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Control - Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group
to achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s internal
audit team has carried out independent internal audit activities on
the Group's major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group’s internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Hiu Ling is the company secretary of the Company. She is a
full-time employee of the Group, has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs and has complied with the relevant professional
training requirements under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to the
Shareholders. The Company delivers quarterly, interim and annual
reports and publication of the quarterly, interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosures of information on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the
Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at investorrelations@chinanetcomtech.com or by
mail to the address of the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit 1006, 10th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a
timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed to attend AGM and EGM. The Shareholders’ enquiries
will be responded in a prompt manner at the aforesaid meetings.
Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, voting by poll is mandatory at
all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of AGM
and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company after the AGM and the EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution
are encouraged to convene an EGM in accordance with section
headed "“PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EGM" above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its Shareholders and investment public.

The Company regularly updates its Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there is no significant
change in the Company’s memorandum and the Articles.
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APPROACH

The Group is committed to promoting transparency of operations
and creating positive impacts on the environment and society in
which it operates, and also maintaining good communication with
the stakeholders.

The results of the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
review shown in this ESG report (the “ESG Report”’) demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection that the Group places
on top of its business development target, and explain how the
Group seeks to continually improve its ESG strategy. The ESG
report also illustrates the focus of the Group's resources utilized
for core operations, which allows the Company to continuously
create value for the stakeholders.

The Group looks at issues that may have a reputational impact on,
or that may pose a risk to, the Group in short-, medium-or long-
term. Issues that are important to the stakeholders, including
but not limited to, customers and employees, as well as non-
governmental organizations, are also crucial to the Group. The
Group is positive in developing opportunities with a focus on work
ethics to ensure that the success in business development is
sustainable with the benefits to be passed on to the employees,
customers and the environment.

Integration of sustainability into the business strategies as well as
daily operations of the Company is a must to pursue the business
model. To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding
of, and interaction with, the employees, customers and other
stakeholders are of the highest priority. The Group believes
that effective management of ESG issues is important to long-
term success in the rapidly changing world. With a thorough
understanding of the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will
be better positioned in allocating resources to reduce and recycle
different kinds of waste, and responding to the increasing demand
for higher standards of waste treatment by regulators. Thus, with
all the aforementioned factors, the Group expects to face greater
challenges.
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The Group is confident that as part of the business decision-
making process, by involving all relevant stakeholders in the ESG
management process, the ESG issues will be monitored closely,
and the long-term success of the Group will be assured.

The sustainability strategy of the Group in the following aspects
applies to all the work streams:

to promote environmental sustainability;

o to attract, retain and support employees;

o to engage with stakeholders;

o to promote sustainability of local communities;
o to strengthen community relations; and

o to grow suppliers’ commitment.

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Profile

This ESG Report focuses on the Group’s main operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC for the financial year ended 31 December 2018
(the "Reporting Period”). It describes the Group's progress
towards the goal of creating sustainable value for Shareholders
and other stakeholders. During the process of preparing this ESG
Report, the Group has conducted thorough review and evaluation
of the existing ESG practices with the aim of achieving better
performance results in the future.
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Report Scope and Boundary

This ESG Report contains information that is material which allows
readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and performance
in its daily operations in Hong Kong and the PRC.

In addition to the internal factors such as core values, strategy
and competency that contribute to sustainable development of
the Group, the Group has communicated with the stakeholders
and considered the ESG challenges as reported by other market
players, to decide and prioritize material topics to be set out in this
ESG Report.

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

o the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC;
o the current and future environment and/or society;

o the Group’s financial and/or operational performance; and

J the stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide ("Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply
or explain” provisions, this ESG Report has outlined the overall
Group’s performance in environmental protection, human
resources, operating practice and community involvement during
the Reporting Period. The Guide for the ESG Report from pages 77
to 88 is provided for cross-referencing purpose.
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STAKEHOLDERS OF THE GROUP

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the
products and services can be implemented. The Group strongly
believes that the stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of business.

Stakeholders
S60E

Areas of concern
RTEE

rEBZHENE
AEEMESRGERE UTRREBHEE
B RRT REERRRY  AEEREHHEY
EBHEDBRYMEALEEAE.

Communication and responses
BB R EE

Stock Exchange

Bk 22 PfT

Government

B i

Suppliers
e

Investors

BEH

Compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, timely and
accurate announcements.
BFGEMEMAR A A MERAE -

Social welfare, compliance with laws and
regulations, preventing tax evasion.
MR BPIEERIER @Rk o

Payment schedule and stable demand.
NHEERRIBEFR K

Corporate governance, business strategies and
performance and investment returns.

DESE LB LRI A RIREELER -

Meetings, training, workshops, website updates
and announcements.
gH B ITE BUHEHEAS-

Interactions and visits, government
inspections, submit tax returns and other
information.

EYRGRT BREEE 2XWREEMER -

Site visits.
RG22 -

Interviews, Shareholders’ meetings, financial
reports and operational reports for investors,
media and analysts.

H#X BRRERAEG MREE HERIITAREHR
BB mEREERSE -
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Stakeholders
FoE

Ri-HBREG?

Areas of concern
BT EE

R

Communication and responses
B KB E

Media & Public

Customers

Employees

7l
i

community

it lE

Corporate governance, environmental protection
and human rights.
TEER RRMEARE-

Product and service quality, delivery schedule,
product prices, service fees and personal data

protection.
EnlFEs INBER - ERER REEX
AAERRE-

Rights and benefits, employees’ compensation,
training and development, working hours, working
environment, labour protection and work safety.
RN REN EEME B RER IR TER
BoBIRERIELZZ-

community environment, employment and
community development, and social welfare.

HERRR BEMEBEERAMEE AL -

Company’s announcements, quarterly, interim
and annual reports.
ARRZRE FH PRRFR-

Quality control and after-sales services.

HEmH RE®RRS-

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memoranda, and employees’ suggestion boxes.

sz

g 8 Mk

community activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies and
donations.

HEEESH - EEELFIUEMERATENRE

-
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ENVIRONMENTAL
overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group consisted of five
business segments:

o Financial Technology Services Business
Engages in the provision of financial technology
services, such as credit referral and post-origination
services

o Apartment Leasing Business
Engages in the management of apartment leasing for
property owners and lessees

o Smart Wearable Device Business
Engages in the research, development and sale of
smart wearable devices

e  Lottery Business
Engages in the development of computer systems and
provision of technical consultancy services in the PRC

o Sports Training Business
Engages in the provision of sports training services

Sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection and strives to mitigate
any undesirable impact on the environment.

In order to achieve this, the Group closely monitors the rates
of emission, waste generation and resources consumption to
achieve the environmental goals of the Group.

JD¥F
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MR - AR B TR S AN

e ZHAPNBBRBEFK
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7
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e EHEFREREGRE
R ERHEEETRERE

. EREH
oo B B R R R
MR

e REIHEE
TERHEEEIRRS

ARFERRZRAZKBEIMERMESR
- Fit AREBERRERERE RIS
YHEFREHRRTERTAEETE -

BERILE IR AEBERIERHAN HEY
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B g
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The Group strives to adhere to its policies of engaging
responsible outsourcers that minimize the total emission
of greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources
consumed. No production activity is currently engaged by the
Group, and hence, direct total emission of greenhouse gases,
waste generated and resources consumed by the Group are
limited.

compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to, the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ( (FEARL
MERERZERL) ) and Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC ( (h#E AR EFEI KT R A
7A)» ). During the Reporting Period, no confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the Group
in relation to environmental issues.

A1. Emissions

Since there is no stationary or mobile sources that
combust fuels owned or controlled by the Group, no
air emission is generated during the course of its
daily operations. However, the Group has generated
greenhouse gases through indirect emissions from the
consumption of electricity and disposal of waste paper
at landfills.

W
DF

R

AEESNERUTZEBASEINIINAEZ
BE NEERVBEREBEATNE EL
BEEYNAAERER - N RE B A ELE
EMAERS BHAETREBEAFRE ME
EREREYEFIERERAR -

ERKHHR

RBESHE AEBEETHEAEATYELZ
FrEMRBRFRERNER  BRETRRE
BIEDIFISAE (EMEERD) - (FEAR
HKMBERFREE) & (PEARKLMBEIK
ERPDEER) cRBmERE AREREIE
NERREEABACEINTARFMHK
B Hf o

A1, BEBY
R P 7N 55 B8]0 45 R A o 47 S AR AR R )
EAETRIBEIHE WA ELEBRE
oh I 48 4T fa] T B BB o AT - AN B A
ENEREER Y BB R MEH
BYmEL T B=RE-
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced 70.32
tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (2017: 53.65 tonnes). Details

R

BERB N
RREEIRE  NEBEL 770328 &
{E A% (20174 : 53.650 ) - BE M F 1B

of the emissions are shown in the following table: RTE:
KPI A1.2
MRENEZAL2
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERBAHNE
Emission
Emission Indicators Source 2018 2017 Type 2018 2017
ERER RR 2018 20174 BRER 20184 20175
Energy Indirect Emissions
B BERERHH
Unit of Electricity 83,599.41 65,190.00 Carbon 68.75 53.65
Consumed kWh kwh Dioxide tonnes tonnes
EREENEM 83,599.41 65,190.00 Z&1bHR 68.75M 53.65M
TRE TRE
Other Indirect Emissions
BEtEEHH
Paper Waste Disposed Weight of Paper 326.60 kg N/A Carbon 1.57 N/A
at Landfills Disposed Dioxide tonnes
BEREREER ZEMEE 326.60A T TiEA —&fbik 1571 TEA

Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period:

REGHEFELZ —GILHEE

70.32 tonnes 53.65 tonnes
70.32M 53.650F
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
The Group does not produce any hazardous waste
during the course of its daily operations.

Non-hazardous wastes are mainly office-use paper. To
minimize the adverse environmental impact caused
by the disposal of paper, the Group has adopted the
use of eco-friendly paper and promoted the use of
double-sided printing. For any single-sided printing,
the relevant paper should be reused under the
circumstances that no confidential information is
printed on one side of the paper. The Group aspires
to move towards paperless operations through the
implementation of electronic administrative platforms
and communication channels.

The wastes produced during the Reporting Period are
detailed in the following table:

KPI A1.4
BRENRIERALL

EEREEZERY
AEEREAFEEBRRETURELL
MEEERD-

BEREVIZRBRLARA -RBEE
MRELEZTNREZERERE K
S EE AIRR AR L EEmENR - fim
EMEEENRARL ESHEGERTER
AERERABER AEEEBERE
FIBFeBRARE REERER
LiE-

R|BEMREEEZBEEYRN TRF

Waste Indicators Source 2018 2017

BEVER IR 20184 20174
0.0060 tonnes

Non-Hazardous waste produced per capita Paper per capita Note

ANAFMEEREEEY MR A150.00607 iz

Total Non-Hazardous waste produced Paper 0.3266 tonnes Note

MEAEREEENEE R 0.3266M (i

Note: No disclosure in 2017 as the non-hazardous waste produced
(paper consumption) in 2017 was considered to be immaterial.

The Group is not aware of any material cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
during the Reporting Period.

MiEE: mR20M7FEEZEBEREEY (KFER)
WRBLNEKR  BWNR2017F REREE -

AREES T HENHEREE B
EERENEEREN ERIERZ
BERTEREER-
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A.2 Use of Resources

Energy and Water Consumption

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-
term development of the Group. Thus, the Group
always aspires to promote sustainability and strives to
minimize resources wastage. The Group has established
the “Smart Usage of Electricity, Water and Paper Rules”
to promote efficient resources consumption. The
aforementioned rules have set out clear guidelines on
adopting green practices, including but not limited to
energy saving, water saving and paper saving.

During the Reporting Period, 83,599.41 kWh of
electricity (2017: 65,190.00 kwh) and 642.35 cubic
metres of water (2017: 2,436.96 cubic metres) (notes)
were consumed by the Group. The electricity and water
consumption intensities are detailed in the following
table:

KPI A2.1&2.2
FRERERA2.1K2.2

A2 ERER

BEIR R KB FE
REAFHEERAEERPER ZH
oA AEEREHES A FER
B-UBNBEERIERRE - AEHE
ERVZCAEEREN KEERR
A1) e S MEIRIEFE - L5 Rl
HEETRREBZ/EMES BFEE
TRVEAEEIR KEER-

R E R NE BB EFE83,599.41F
FLEF & 71 (20174 : 65,190.00F FL &)
642.3557 73 KK E (20174 © 2,436.96
MAK) (K HEERFEKERE
MR :

Use of Resources Indicators Source 2018 2017
ERERAEE TR 20185 20174
1,778.71 kwh 1,590.00 kwh

Consumption per capita Electricity per capita per capita
A191,778.71 A$91,590.00

AEE BN T & B T E B
13.67 cubic metres  59.44 cubic metres

Water per capita per capita

A1913.67 A1559.44

K 3 A K AV
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Notes:

(1) a new subsidiary company in Wuhan (“Wuhan Subsidiary”)
was formed on 21 March 2018, and thus, the Group takes into
account the electricity and water consumption of the Wuhan
Subsidiary for the period from 21 March 2018 to 31 December
2018 only.

2) for the Hong Kong office located in Admiralty, relevant water
consumption is included in the rental fees, and therefore the
figures disclosed have excluded the water consumption at the
Hong Kong office.

©)] reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e.
using average consumption of other months).

The increase in the total electricity consumption and
its intensity is due to the formation of the Wuhan
Subsidiary in March 2018. Meanwhile, the decrease in
the total water consumption and its intensity is a result
of the downsizing of the Shenzhen office due to office
relocation in 2018.

The Group has implemented the following measures to
reduce the usage of electricity and raw materials:

J turn off air-conditioners and lights during non-
office hours and/or in idle rooms;

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;

o regularly maintain office equipment such as air-
conditioners, computers and lights etc.;

o educate employees on energy saving; and

o reuse office supplies, such as paper and paper
clips.

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing water, and the
existing supply of water meets its daily operational needs.
Water consumption by the Group is minimal, which mainly
serves the purpose of basic cleaning and sanitation. In order
to reduce water wastage, the Group actively promotes water
conservation awareness among the employees. For instance,
staff members are reminded to tightly turn off the faucets
after use.

o

M AERRENHFRE([REFARA])
201853 A 21 A AL - B A 5 B {2 5 BUE
FRAIR20185F3H21H £20185F12A31H
R 2 KEHFE -

(2) BRNMIREEZEBRIE  LBRKHERE
BEERERN SRERECIHIBREERA
= ZIKHEFE

@) EBHTEBZLHEHAERR (AR
A2 FIEHEFEE)

R R2018F3A AL BVEF A Al B85
BEENHEZEIZ N R AR2018F
ZIS%I FYN P A EEBPAEIRB MR
RE BACERERERERD -

AR EEEHLA TR BEERE
ZEE

o  HBRIEMARRELKXHEEREME
ZZERRES

o B NMERZBARKE  NUEE
BEROHFE

o HEBETHREHRE KX

e BAMREEFHERLARAMSD-

RS B BE X = KR U7 [ 2 AR fa] ] RE
AR ZKHEERTHEATZETE
SEZKBEREBD  TERANERFRLE
Ho RBADIKORE  RNREBRBREERE 2
KB B Pl 1REE S T A/KIEER/KEESR -
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SOCIAL
overview

The key to the Group's success depends on a strong team
of committed and innovative talents. The Group focuses
on building a harmonious working environment for all
employees and providing various training opportunities in
order to attract, motivate and retain talents.

Compliance and Grievance

As a responsible employer, the Group complies with all
relevant employment laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on it, including but not limited to, the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the PRC ( (/R A R L FIE &4
F)’%) ), Labor Contract Law of the PRC ( (FhZE AR FE
“B)ARE)Y ) and Production Safety Law of the PRC  ( (&
EAREMBEZE2EERE) ).

B1. Employment

The Group has established internal policies in
accordance with the relevant labour laws and
regulations related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare, employment development
and training, and child and forced labour.

R
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BmE
AEBEZRINARNESBTEERI#EE
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To ensure that the Group's key policies are clearly
and consistently communicated to the employees, the
Group has an “Employees’ Handbook”, which details
the rights of the employees, such as working hours,
leave entitlements and other benefits and welfare. Each
employee is provided with a copy of the "Employees’
Handbook” when he/she joins the Group.

The Team

The Group believes that a diversified and cohesive team
is indispensable to the success of business. The Group
strives to ensure that the recruitment process is fair
and without any discrimination.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 54
employees (2017: 42 employees). The increase in the
total number of employees is a result of the formation
of the Wuhan Subsidiary in March 2018, which has been
partially offset by the decrease in the total number of
employees caused by corporate restructuring.

The breakdowns of the Group's workforce by gender,
age group, employment type and region are as follows:

BY GENDER

gzl

® Male
Bk 2k

@ Female

34%

® Male
Bt gl

' ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BY AGE GROUP

€% 7 F R4 R -
379% 2018 2017 44%
51%
57%
® <30 @ 3050 >5 ® <30 @ 30-50 >5

BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE

REEER

1% 10%

np

15%
2018 2017
74% 90%
® Top @ Middle General ® Top @ Middle General
= RE —# =&k RE —%

BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

R @
2% 10%
98% 90%
@ HongKong @ PRC @ Hong Kong @ PRC
&% A G H
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover
rates are as follows:

KPI B1.2
BRENIEEB.2

W
DF

R

RBEREAZEBERRENT

Employee Turnover Rates ESmAE
By Gender 7R
Male xS
Female Z
By Age HEHB
<25 <25
25-29 25-29
30 -39 30 -39
40 - 49 40 - 49
> 50 > 50
By Geographical Region it B
PRC H
Hong Kong BB

Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration policy, adhering to the principles of
fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human
resources management, the Group offers rewards (e.g.
promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g. warning and
dismissal) according to the employees’ performance
and conduct.

Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, paid
leave and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to, paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and annual leave.

In addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good
work-life balance is vital to the employees’ physical
and mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.

59%
41%

24%
36%
36%
3%
1%

94%
6%

& 7 R 7 25
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally
and respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and competencies
irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and
disability. Through the enforcement of the policy of
prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group
strives to create a workplace free of bullying, belittling
and sexual harassment.

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to providing a safe working
environment for all employees. Occupational health and
safety of employees are always the Group's top priority.
The Group makes every effort to minimize potential
occupational hazards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied
with the relevant laws and regulations in regard to
health and safety, including but not limited to, the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
(CPEARKEFMBEBEMRBAEE) ). During the
Reporting Period, no work-related fatality and lost days
due to work injury were recorded by the Group.

The Group has implemented the following practices to
create and maintain a comfortable, safe and healthy
working environment for the employees:

provide sufficient lights at workplace;

o ensure the proper use of personal protective
equipment at work;

o prohibit smoking in the workplace; and

o conduct regular safety inspections.

R

B2.

FERE STIERRER

AEE-BERIREBRRHEATFZTIE
R SREXINAFHFENERNE
E-2REBZHELFHARKEZ
REERBENTE M AR E 2Bk -
RY MR Fl MR o BBITELE
BARNRBREZBRR AEEBAIE—
EZHE REKERE TERE -

BRERZZ
rEBENOSERERSRRAL2ZTH
BRE-BEZBEXRFEZEZ —HEA
SEZEZEBK -AEETERS K
BERFEERERK-

RBEHE AREETARREEY
E2HRBEREESR BREIRR
BEBIEDIES09E (BEL 2 MEZEK
) RAhEARAMBERBERD A
E) o MBEHE AEBEBEESFE
THERTERBZILT RIBXRTIEAR
2o

RAREZERER—EFE T2k
BEITERE AEREEETATE
M

o  RIESMIEHENZEN:

s BRI(FHEEEMMBEARNER
(=K

e TRBRBEERE: K

e FEHETLERE-

hEEEERERAT ¢ 2018FF R 69



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Ri-HBRE

In. case any employee encounters any work-related
injuries, the Group will take all necessary measures to
make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
respective employee.

. Development and Training

The Group regards its employees as the most valuable
asset. Thus, the Group places emphasis on personal
development of the employees. The Group believes
that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction and staff loyalty. Different
types of training are provided to the employees to
enhance their knowledge and capabilities.

Orientation training sessions are provided to newly
recruited staff members by their respective department
supervisors. The training covers the introduction of the
Group, their own department structure, responsibilities,
required skills and working instructions. Moreover, on-
the-job-training is provided to make sure that all staff
members possess sufficient knowledge and skills to
provide quality services to the customers.

In addition, employees are encouraged to attend
external training courses and seminars in order to
strengthen their knowledge and expertise in relation
to their work. The training seminars and courses
include, but not limited to, updates on the GEM Listing
Rules, corporate governance, as well as changes and
development of relevant laws and regulations. Fees
incurred for the courses or seminars are reimbursed by
the Group upon management’'s approval.

R E = BE W T8 RN&EE SRR
BB EROEHEESRKES
BEEE
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B4. Labour Standards B4. % T %8|
The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance REBEBRRETEBENETE (B
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the 13 151 \<<EPEE/\E LFNE &5 8% )
PRC ((F#E ARHEAMEIZE))L) ), Labor Contract Law (FEARKNELEBERE) REHS
of the PRC ( (P EAR LML E4E FJE) ) and other BB H fth BRI AN | FREGEE T R 5R il 4
related labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong and TR B EPER -
the PRC to prohibit employment of any child and forced
labour.
The recruitment process of the Group is subject to a REE 2 RIS B IE /A B 5T B A% M EB B
stringent internal review process that includes verifying By BREZERBAZBAEE -
personal information of applicants. For instance, o BEEFEREEARESHER:
the recruitment officer collects the identity proof WREFBRTEEARETHIHRE-
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfils the
requirements as stipulated by the law.
The employment of forced and child labour is strictly NEEBSERBHS T RET - Nl
prohibited. During the Reporting Period, all employees HHIR T EEE Y R18m A L Wik
were over the age of 18, and had been properly EMBEBERZEREARZHATERS
employed in accordance with the requirements of all B AEBEBTTNBEMEEETER
applicable laws and regulations. No confirmed non- EEo AR
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the
Group.

B5. Supply Chain Management B5. fitFESE EE
The Group places emphasis on its supply chain AEBEFTERHAEERERE -BRIEA

management. In addition to improving cost
competitiveness, the Group also values the
sustainability of its supply chain. The Group supports
the purchase of environmental-friendly products to
minimize the environmental impact caused by its
business operations. The Group also closely cooperates
with the suppliers to maintain the quality of products
and services provided to the customers.
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The Group’s “Purchases Control Process and
Management Rules” and “Administration Procurement
Management Policy” clearly set out guidelines on
the performance of competitive bidding and vendor
appraisals. Under the policy, quotations from more than
one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons
to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. Moreover, the
Group closely monitors the performance of the existing
suppliers and selects new vendors based on defined
criteria, such as quality, delivery time and cost, etc.
Approved suppliers are evaluated on a regular basis
by the respective purchasing departments to ensure
that the quality of products and services that the Group
purchases is up to standard. Suppliers who are not
up to standard for a prolonged period of time will be
disqualified.

During the Reporting Period, major purchases were
made from 32 PRC suppliers. The Group works with
the suppliers and strives to optimize the supply chain
capabilities in order to fulfil its responsibilities in social
and environmental protection.

Product Responsibility

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap. 26
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Product Quality Law of the
PRC ((FEARHLMBEEREEL) ), Law of the
PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and Interests
((PEARHEFMBEBE#ERRZEEL) ) and Tort Law
of the PRC ( (FEARAMBEREEDIER) ).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and services provided.
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Quality Assurance

The Group aspires to improve its brand reputation
by ensuring good quality of products and services. In
order to minimize product liability risk, the Group has
established the “Product Quality Assurance Process” to
ensure that the products strictly adhere to the internal
quality standards. In the event of product failure not
caused by improper use, the Group would recall the
products and provide refund to customers. Moreover,
customers are offered with other value-added services,
including product warranty and after-sales services.

As a result of the continual efforts on quality
management, the Group obtained the 3C Certification,
CE Certification and FCC Certification in 2017.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.

Complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive
continuous improvement of the Group and are vital
to its pursuit of excellence. Various communication
channels (e.g. via website and customer service hotline)
have been established, aiming to better address
customers’ enquiries.
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During the Reporting Period, there were 13 written
complaints received related to product and service
guality. The Group makes every effort to promptly
investigate and resolve all disputes and complaints
lodged by the customers. “Complaint Handling of
Customer Service Policy” has been established to
ensure that all customer complaints can be properly
handled. All complaints received are handled by
the customer service team. Upon the receipt of a
complaint, the responsible personnel will investigate
into the matter and appropriate action will be taken in
a timely manner. All 13 complaints have been properly
resolved.

Personal Data Privacy

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the
Group has established measures to reduce the risk
of employees leaking confidential information to
outsiders.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of customers’
personal data for any purposes other than what have
been stated in the customer contracts. If any employee
who has been discovered of misappropriating
customers’ private data, the Group will take disciplinary
action against the employee concerned and reserve its
right to take legal action.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by
all employees of the Group to ensure that they are
aware of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group maintains information
technology systems with high level of security
to prevent unauthorized access to confidential
information. Operating systems, security programs
and hardware are updated on a regular basis so as to
protect customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property
rights in Hong Kong and the PRC that have a significant
impact on it, including but not limited to, the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Trademark Law of the PRC ( (PEARKMEH/IZ
%) ) and Copyright Law of the PRC ( (FFZE AR A
BZEERE) ).

The Group acts proactively to enforce intellectual
property rights against third-party infringers. The
Group has established the “Intellectual Property
Management Policy” to ensure that its intellectual
property is closely monitored and adequately protected.
The Legal Department is responsible for identifying
any unauthorized use of its trademarks by third-
parties. Legal actions will be taken in due course upon
identification of any trademark infringements.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap.
405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Organized and
Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Criminal Law of the PRC ( {/#E A R H
Bl fI;%) ) and Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
((PEARAMBIREEE) ).

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes
for any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited
to abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain.
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The “Employees’ Handbook” of the Group clearly sets
out guidelines for the acceptance of gifts. As stipulated
by the “Employees’ Handbook”, all employees are
required to exercise caution and judgment when
accepting gifts. Gifts should not be accepted if they are
of a value higher than RMB300 (or equivalent).

Moreover, the “Anti-corruption Management Policies”
clearly sets out the procedures and channels for
reporting corruption and fraud cases. As stipulated in
the policies, all employees should immediately report
to the Company any suspected fraud cases. After a
potential fraud case has been reported, investigation
shall be conducted with due care. An investigation
report shall be prepared and submitted to the Board.
For any proven fraud case, punishment will be inflicted
pursuant to the policies.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption and money
laundering cases were noted or reported.

. Community Investment

The Group understands the importance of giving
back to the society. In order to contribute to a more
sustainable and harmonious society, the Group
encourages the employees to take part in community
services.

Children are the pillars of society. The Group believes
that investing in children is one of the most effective
means of propagating and sustaining community
developments. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has organized a Christmas celebration party for the
children staying at Po Leung Kuk Home. Christmas gifts
were delivered on the occasion, with an aim of sharing
happiness and festive joy with the children.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Part A: Environmental

ESG Aspects
BRI - HEREAREE

BMXRE e REAREESA

BRI IRIE
Related Section(s) Remarks
EBEE BT

A1. Emissions

Al #HHKY
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FRBERIBEREEN MKEEHEEs BF R
BEEERVNELSNBRRERETHRETABEAY
ENRBARRAPIHER

KPI A1.1
The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B A U IR AL
BEn R R R AR R B D BUE

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance, Emissions,
Hazardous and Non-
Hazardous Wastes

B ARNMEF W
Y BEREEEEY

N/A No air emission is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.
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ESG Aspects
RE-HEREREHR

BMXRE e REAREESA
REs| (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
B EE BT

A1. Emissions (continued)

Al #Hxy (&)
KPI A1.2
Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
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KPI'A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

Bl B2 A WUIE1ZA1.3
FrEAEEREEYEAE (U8R (NER)RE
(AN EBESEMN SHEHRMTE) -

KPIA1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BB B IZA1.4
FrEEAEEEEYES (UWEE) R (1ER) BE
(AN EBESEMN SHEHRMTE) -

Emissions

BB

N/A No hazardous waste is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.

TEH AEEEERETHEE
EEMEEEED-

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

BEREEERY
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ESG Aspects
BE - HEREREE

BMXRE e REAREESA

BRE5| (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
HEIEE B

A1. Emissions (continued)

Al #HY (&)
KPI A1.5
Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved.

FA B 45 IR 1R A1
AR R BE B IR e R RS ACR -

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

BB S IR 1R AL
WlRIEEEREBSTEEYMNT L REELENEE
KSR -

A2. Use of Resources

A2. BREHA
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BERERER (BEER KREMRME) B -

KPI'A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in "000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

B A TUEZA2.1
RS oMmERN  SEEZER(WE  REUH) 2
RE(UWTEATESAE)REE (WASESEM
GIERMEETE) -

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes, Use of
Resources

BEREZEEY BR
-3

Hazardous and Non-

hazardous Wastes

BEREZERY

Use of Resources

BIRER

Use of Resources

BIRER
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INDEX: (CONTINUED) BRES| (F)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

BiE HEREAEE BB B

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

A2. BREH (&)
KPI A2.2
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit Use of Resources
of production volume, per facility).

BB B IR A2.2

BEKERERE (MASESSEML BERMETHE) - BRERA
KPI'A2.3
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and Use of Resources

results achieved.

B8 9 A8 MU IR A2.3

i BE R R SR B R TR - BIRER
KPI'A2.4
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Use of Resources

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.

BB B IR IRA2.4
i SR EGE KR BRI A E R - LA R R AR BIREA
EIMATEAR -

KPI' A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in N/A No packaging material is
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit used during the course of
produced. the Group’s operations.

BB 48 I 1R A2.5

HRmAABEMHNEE (AE) &K (ER) & 5 AEBZEBETHEE
EEBMGE- RERBEMF -
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ESG Aspects
RE -HEREREER

BMXRE e REAREESA
B#sl (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
EEBEE BT

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
A3. RERAAREZR

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

BEZETAHRBERAARERENEAZENHBR -

KPI' A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

B4 A IR IR A3
HR RS IRBERRAERNERTE LD HE
BERARETENTY-

Overview, Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes,
Use of Resources

BIREM

Overview, Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes,
Use of Resources

BIREM
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Part B: Social

ESG Aspects
RIE - HEREREE

BMXRE e REAREESA
REs| (&)

e
Related Section(s) Remarks
HERES fBak

B1. Employment

B1. fE1E
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERFM e BREEE  TERE R TSH
G ZITE - RIER A R ELAD 5 48 e 48 B B9 BRR M8 P
BETABERFZENHEBEZRERROINER -

KPI B1.1
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

BA B 45 NI 1R B 1.1
BIER - BEEE FRAN MRS NESEH-

KPI B1.2
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

B R 4E B 1EB1.2
MR FRARN LR E D NEB KL R

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance,
Employment

BE - ARNBAF ERE

Employment — The Team

TR — Mz EEX

Employment — The Team
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ESG Aspects
RIE HEREREE

BMXRE e REAREESA

B#sl (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
HEES B

B2. Health and Safety

B2, #FEHL 2
Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

AMRHREE THBARARER R EREEREY
B R MTH BT A EARE 0MRER BRI
Bt

KPI B2.1
Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

B B 48 AR 1R B2.1
ATEREMETHAB R K-

KPI B2.2
Lost days due to work injury.

B8 42 48 B 1EB2.2
AIBELXTIEBSE-

KPI B2.3
Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and

monitored.

B AE B 1EB2.3

TR AN B R E R L 2 U EEERTR
BEE ke

Health and Safety

Health and Safety

f Rz 2

Health and Safety

fEERT S

Health and Safety

fEERT S
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Remarks
fBak

Related Section(s)
HEERS

B3.
B3.

B4.
B4.

84

Development and Training
RERZEI

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

BRRTHE BT TIERE /&3 M B AE O BUR - f
BIEE -

KPI B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

B B 45 AN FE5 1R B3.1
B REEERN (MEREEE TREEES)E
DHEIEEBED L

KPI B3.2
The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

B B 45 AN 15 B3.2
BRI R EEBERE D B EETRZIINFHE
%0

Labour Standards

HTEA

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

BRAKLEETREH S THERERETHETARE
REENHEBERRAPINER -

Development and Training

TR MAEFI

Recommended
disclosure only

EEHEE

Recommended
disclosure only

EEHEE

Labour Standards
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BMXRE e REAREESA
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE HEREREE B EH B
B4. Labour Standards (continued)
B4. TR (&)
KPI B4.1
Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
8§ 48 B 1R B4.1
iR BEENNEEABRET REHS T BT AR
KPI B4.2
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Recommended
when discovered. disclosure only
B 2 48 WUIE 12 B4.2
ol 7 3 3R HR 1B U JH BR B IS 0 P ERER Y AP R o Bk
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. REHEEE
Policies on managing environmental and social risks Supply Chain
of the supply chain. Management
IR S A IR IR At g R IR - HEEER
KPI B5.1
Number of suppliers by geographical region. Recommended
disclosure only
8 48 B 12 B5.1
RinEE S EREE - EREWE
KPI B5.2
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
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ESG Aspects
RIE HEREREE

REs| (&)

Related Section(s)
HEERS

Remarks
fBak

Bé6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmEF
Information on the policies and compliance with laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labeling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.

BRAMREHERNRENRERLZ2 B RELL
BEEULRERTEZNBRELETHETABEAY
ENEBERLEONER -

KPI B6.1
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

BB 4B I 1R B6.
EEXNCEXEMAHT AL 2R FIERMADIK
BB -

KPI B6.2
Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

B8 4 B M HE 1R B6.2
EEBANERMREORFEBE AR EHIT A

KPI B6.3
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

B B 45 AN E 1R B6.3
R R REA B EEAREAED

Product Responsibility

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

it

£-

i
B

B R
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Product Responsibility
— Complaints Handling
Procedures

EREX-KRFEERF
Product Responsibility
— Intellectual Property

Rights

ERET-MHER
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ESG Aspects
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Related Section(s)
HEES

BMXRE -HERES

AR EESIA

Bé6. Product Responsibility (continued)

B6. EimEF (&)

KPI B6.4
Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

842 48 IR 1ZB6.4
WG ERTFBENERLDKIER-

KPI B6.5
Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

A4 48 B 1EB6.5
HAUEBEE ERHRE RALB R - U AR T R EE5E
Fike

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RES

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BRAM LK 9% &K
ABERZENHEBEAERBEOINER -

KPI B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

BA B 45 M 1R B7 1
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Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

EmBEE-BERE

Product Responsibility —
Personal Data Privacy
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
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ESG Aspects
RIE HEREREE

BMXRE e REAREESA
REs| (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
HEERS B

B7. Anti-corruption (continued)

B7. RE)S (#&)
KPI B7.2
Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.

BB B AR 1R B7 .2
AL S R R IRIR T - A RABRAAT REER A

B8. community Investment

BS. #HERE
Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure that its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.

FRNMESERTREEMEHEFTENRERLE
BEESHEEELRMEOBEK -

KPI B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

7R B 45 X F5 15 B8
FIEREE (NHE REFE SIFR BE X

-85 -

KPI B8.2
Resources contributed (e.g2. money or time) to the
focus area.

7R B 45 3 H5 15 B8.2
EEIBREMBAER (NERAKH) -

Anti-Corruption

community Investment

HEREE

community Investment
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1B U i BB ¥R

@ pakertilly
R B (8] B

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 99 to 271, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

FEREFLEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional REFRMMNFELAE BREFZZEARMBIZN
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the ZAHEMNGEUBEREPFEZNETE - RMIER
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These HZ&GABMEHRR LM ZENE RBRIEH S HIE -
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the MAEHUEEEEFBERER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

The Key audit matter
EREZSBE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEERTEEBEREERSEENL Z

Revenue recognition on provision of financial technology services

1R BB ARE B W a5 757

The Group maintains sophisticated information
technology (“IT") systems in financial technology
services business in order to track the service provision
for each transaction. The calculation of the service
charge is performed by the IT systems based on pre-
defined key parameters, including service charge rates.
Revenue from financial technology services highly relies
on the information generated from such IT systems.

EEERERBMERBERGTIRABENEARZ ([E
AR ZRRAEREBER ZORBIRHINN - RIEE B
BRMBRARERAAREZIZZH (BRERBEEX)
AE-RESRHMERENEESEEEZTEARRE
MEEZEFR -

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on
provision of financial technology services included:
BRI EE BB BRRBO RS ERETNRF B

. Utilising information technology specialists to
assess the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of management’'s general IT controls
and key application controls over the Group's IT
systems which govern revenue recognition, including
access controls, controls over program changes,
interfaces between different systems and key manual
internal controls over revenue recognition;

o FMABMBEERFHEREHY BESERAENRSHE
ROEARE RGN —REAB KT R AR ERE
Hl (BfEEEG R EEE - AR Rz B
A%) ARSI ERO AR A TN ZEH B R
B e R
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continueq)

The Key audit matter
ERERSBE

RARELEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EFEERTEEEEERETENS A

Revenue recognition on provision of financial technology services (Continued)

PR BAFARB N W2 BT (8

We have identified revenue recognition on provision
of financial technology services as a key audit matter
because a significant portion of the Group’s revenue was
derived from provision of financial technology services.

BN RESRMERBO B REREEHAREZEE
RAT BEEBBAIMOWEEESRESRBHERE -

In addition, due to the significant volume of transactions
and heavy reliance on the IT systems, minor errors
could, in aggregate, have a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

N AR R SGEERUAREHEARR RSN EFRE -
YR EARERI YRV BRRENEATE -

Understanding the business process of the financial
technology services business,
BRe B RRGEBHNIRRT

Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to
assess if there were any terms and conditions that
may have affected the accounting treatment of the
related revenue,
BEEEPREREBEHSANFEZRI RGN
Nl R B FEA T ERBER RN S RENEM
16K B A1

Performing analytical procedures on credit referral
and service fee revenue by developing an expectation
using independent inputs and information generated
from the Group's IT systems and comparing such
expectations with recorded revenue; and
BRHABYEEL EEEEMBERGELENE
BEA—IBERYH L TEREMREREETER:
LEHERENRREERGSETONET &

Performing substantive testing on accounting and
financial records.
Hest Mg sETEE A
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KEY-AUDIT MATTER (Continueq)

The Key audit matter
ERERSBE

RREREE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPEERTEEEBEERETENS X

Assessing impairment of contract assets, trade and other receivables and quality assurance fund
receivables and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities
FHEENEE EFREMENTEREREERFSHHAEBUAREZNEEREE

Assessing impairment of contract assets, trade and
other receivables and quality assurance fund receivables
(together “receivables”) and recognition of financial
guarantee liabilities are the subjective areas due to
the level of judgement exercised by management in
determining the amount of impairment allowances and
financial guarantee liabilities required.
HREEERECMERELEEIMBERAEEN SR
FEPTIEH #IET KT - A ENEE 85 R AMmEYNTK
BEREWESRES (58 [ EUYEIE]) a8 E & #RE
BEREBEBNEZEHED -

From the Group's perspective, the receivables portfolios
and guarantees which give rise to the greatest
uncertainty are typically those where impairment
losses or financial guarantee liabilities are derived
from individual cash flow assessments and collective
assessment models.

B OEEEME BRFBAEGRERBTEAZZREES
BdepEREBERBHEGNBSRETEREETEHE
AIEN T ERAK

Individual impairment losses and financial guarantee
liabilities are estimated by management considering
objective evidence of impairment. Management
exercises judgement in determining the quantum of
loss based on a range of factors. These include available
remedies for recovery, the financial situation of the
borrower, and the collection measures applied by the
Group.

BRI REBEERVBERAGHREEERETEAES
BETEHF -BEERE—ZIARELEBEENHE-
ZERKRBEAAAOBFE TR - ERAB T EAR R
NE BEEEHEAHKTIEIES-

Our procedures to assess the impairment of receivables
and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities included:
B G ERRIBRERERMGEREAENETFEE:

. Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls over the approval,
recording and monitoring of loans and receivables
and guarantees, the credit grading process, the
collection process and the measurement of
individual impairment losses and financial guarantee
liabilities. For the key underlying systems used for
the processing of transactions in above process,
we utilised information technology specialists to
assess the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of general controls and application
controls, including controls over access to these
systems and controls over data and change
management;

o GMEEEENR BUWFIARERNEM R85 REEE-
ERFTAAIE  WHUBIE LA K (B BIRE E 18 & B S R
BEENHERZESNRG Bl RBRIEARE - HR
ELatiRRRRAREEZ SN EEREERS  RMFA
BB BRI E —RIEH R ERZEH AR i
RBEBRM - IR ZE RO 850 B2 6 LA R Y BUE
LB EIRMIES
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continueq)

The Key audit matter
ERERSBE

RARELEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEERTEEBEEEREENG Z

Assessing impairment of contract assets, trade and other receivables and quality assurance fund
receivables and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities (Continued)
FHENEE EEREMERNERENEBRESHHEARBERZNBERERE (&)

The determination of the collective impairment losses
on receivables and recognition of financial guarantee
liabilities is heavily dependent on the external macro
environment and the Group's internal credit risk
management strategy. The Group's collective impairment
losses and financial guarantee liabilities are derived from
estimates including the Group's historical losses for
loans and receivables and other adjustment factors.
JERFIENEAGRESE ET R BERBECER
RRIEELBURRIIMNBZEIRE R BEXEHNAIEAR
REWREE - BEBEMNAESREEERVEEREGER
REEME - B1EF ESEERRERFIBENELEIRE
LA B B Ah 8 B A 2 -

We identified impairment losses on receivables and the
recognition of financial guarantee liabilities as a key
audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and
management judgement involved and because of their
significance to the financial results of the Group.

RS REBETREEREEENHE ALY BE5E6H
BEENE2M  BMHERFIBRESERVBERE
B ERBN RERETEIE

Comparing the total balances of the loans list, which
contain information used by management to assess
impairment losses and financial guarantee liabilities,
with the general ledger and comparing individual
loans and related service fee information, on a sample
basis, with the underlying loan agreements and other
related documentation to assess the presentation of
the information in the loan and related service fee list;
HESHENREREENBHRE AP EER
ReHEREEBEERVBEREBENER  UREEEE
HipEREMBEEXHEERENER ARG EE
B CERER) A ERNHERBESEFHER
25

Performing credit review procedures for the sample
of loans and receivables and guarantees selected
as mentioned above, which included reviewing
the customers’ historical records and evaluating
management’'s assessment of the amount of
impairment, considering the viability of the Group's
recovery plans, and considering other sources of
repayment asserted by management;
HEMEFHNERREBRBBAREROERANETE
REEEF EREEs P NBRTRE FHEEEY
BWESENAE 28 S5BBRKEEOATTHE I
ZEEIRER D8 EMERR
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KEY-AUDIT MATTER (Continueq)

The Key audit matter
ERERSBE

¥ X7 % BB ¥ 5

RREREE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPEERTEEEBEERETENS X

Assessing impairment of contract assets, trade and other receivables and quality assurance fund
receivables and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities (Continued)
FHENEE EEREMERNERENEBREFSHHEARBEZNBERERE (&)

Evaluating the validity of the models used and
assumptions adopted in management’s calculation
of the collective impairment losses and financial
guarantee liabilities for guarantee losses by critically
assessing input parameters involving subjective
judgement, seeking collaborative evidence from
external sources and comparing historical losses
against the Group’s other internal records. As part
of these procedures, we considered the Group's
revisions to estimates and input parameters, the
consistency of judgement applied in the use of
economic factors, the historical default rates and loss
rates. We compared the economic factors used in the
models to market information to assess whether they
were aligned with market and economic development.
Having considered the above, we performed re-
calculations to assess the amount of collective
impairment losses and financial guarantee liabilities;
and

BBERETEY REBAEBORARE . SRREIE
RIRK B VERE R ARG BTEERE SSEMHHEMA
TR U EEEFEHEARERER
MBEREENEREBMEANELRRINEX
M- ERZERTFHN - BMEEE EXEHZ
LR RBASENEE] EERALBERAZRTERH
B — B BERNEREBEX -RMAKERRER
RABE A =M MIGE BETHE UM AT RTIS
REBBRRERFB B - LERLMAR®E BEMEHE
T8 Ut A RERE LM EREAENEE:
54

Assessing the completeness and accuracy of
outstanding financial guarantees by inspecting
contracts, on a sample basis.
EBAMESTNRES R THERBITVBERNTE
R EREE o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
("Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

H th &

ERREFAHEMENERERT EMERBR
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

EERBEREEENRAVBERREA
AENEE (F)

BEnZEeWmE BE/ARNEZEETHEE EXH
MBEHRERIENBE -
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ERER®BE TMEEBRE - RARTIRARS
MATHEMEMALTBRSABEEFNEE-GE
BEBSEANZE EREFARTENLETH
BRI ETEREAEREMFENERERR
o $E R R P AEKFF SRR AR E A - W AR S B8
EREEHBERTAZEERERERES VR
RIFHREFRER - QIR R S ERHERBRL -

ERBEBEERETETNBRES  RMER
BXRHE REBREREEE - RMT:

o BRI MAFABNIREEREE R MGG E IR
WRFEBRERBOLER R RATT
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BRBMRBELGS M BHRRAREN
BE (&)

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

THRERGEBEOANIER ARFEE
EHEFOKAEEY SSEAMEE
MAREERRER -
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BRRPHOERBE - WERBETTE Al
ABRMER -HMERDERBEZEER
T EMIEPrBUSHEETRE - AT REKFEIR
HIENAEES BEREEISELE-
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT-OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Gao Yajun

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong,

Gao Yajun
Practising certificate number P06391
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

miﬁ D

=V

B

R Hfth 2 i IA %

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 20184128318 It F &

2018 2017
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=g THExT FHET
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue Uy &= 5 53,067 19,361
Cost of sales and services 58 R ARIE AR (15,112) (7,504)
Gross profit EF 37,955 11,857
Other income and gains/(losses), net Hpp g A Rz~
(BB F#8 7 4,213 (2,514)
Administrative expenses THER (22,453) (32,595)
Impairment of concession rights RIS R E = (58,239)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 8 (1,846) (5,593)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLARF (EIE) 17,869 (87,084)
Income tax (charge)/credit FTs# (X)) #H% 9 (4,932) 15,713
Profit/(loss) for the year REERA(FHE) 10 12,937 (71,371)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Htt2m (X)) WA
Items that may be reclassified REREEH 7 BER
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE
Exchange differences on translating MEFINER 2R ET
foreign operations (3,276) 4,595
Changes in the fair value of financial assets BRANBEFAEMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive WAZEREEZ
income NABEZE 30 -
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AEEHEMEAE
for the year (Ax),/ A (3,246) 4,595
Total comprehensive income/(expense) TAEERERA
for the year (BAxX)# % 9,691 (66,776)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mﬂi D B;()} \‘“_])EEMA%

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #, 20184128318 It F &

2018 2017
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F&T FHET
(Restated)
(seE5)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: TH AL REGRER
(FE) :
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIEZ P =N 16,197 (48,293)
Non-controlling interests FE5 R 5 (3,260) (23,078)
12,937 (71,371)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) THATEAZEEA
attributable to: (BAxX)#%:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZ ZS DN 13,200 (45,571)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M (3,509) (21,205)
9,691 (66,776)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRERN (BE) 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EAXREE (FRBW) 0.35 (1.18)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — BEW Z Ml T AG A KRR ZEKX LD -
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
an o Ik IR &

At 31 December 2018 #2018%12A31H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
M®12H31H R1A1H
2018 2017 2017
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET FHET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E5) ($&E5)
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment LESRY N 15 9,964 2,713 2,436
Financial asset at fair value through other ¥ 2 7o BEE A
comprehensive income Hib2EI AR
EREE 16 350 - -
Club debenture 2HES - 115 115
concession rights S 17 - - 60,580
10,314 2,828 63,131
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 5 18 522 1,433 911
Quality assurance fund receivables fElEZ2RES 19 10,623 - -
Contract assets BHEE 20 23,737 -~ -
Trade and other receivables H5 M HEMmEWHIE 21 6,826 4,992 2,516
Amount due from a related company FEW —MEERF 2
RIB 22 - 574 -
Amount due from a non-controlling W —RHB AR Z
interest of a subsidiary RS 2 RIBE 22 6,978 1,500 1,497
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary el — R R KM B
NAEZHRIE 22 1,394 - -
Financial assets at fair value through EARBEF AR
profit or loss K& B E E 23 22,058 - -
Pledged bank deposit EIRIR{T 73X - - 216
Restricted cash 2R HIE 2 24 6,833 - -
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTHE % 24 18,369 59,173 23,817
97,340 67,672 28,957
current liabilities REEE
Quality assurance fund payables ENEERES 19 13,688 - -
Trade and other payables B REMBERNFKIA o5 10,070 8,845 7,776
Contract liabilities AHBE 20 143 197 126
Receipt in advance TE U FRIE 1,094 _ _
Amount due to an intermediate FEAT — Rl R R 1
holding company REZHIE 22 598 598 -
Amount due to a non-controlling interest & —EH B AT 2
of a subsidiary IR 2 KIBE 22 247 - 472
Current tax liabilities BVEARI IR B & 3,631 916 -
29,471 10,556 8,374
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
an o IR R &

At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H

As at
As at 31 December 1 January
Mm12831H W1E18
2018 2017 2017
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FAT FAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&) (&)
Net current assets REBEEFE 67,869 57,116 20,583
Total assets less current liabilities #REEBRBAE 78,183 59,944 83,714
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES 26 13,768 49,516 43,923
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 27 2,748 3,052 19,120
16,516 52,568 63,043
Net assets EEFE 61,667 7,376 20,671
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital - ordinary shares i AR — 38 A 28 23,355 23,147 15,600
Share capital - non-redeemable A — A& D
convertible preferred shares Al R B 5 B 29 - - 5,017
Reserves G 35,451 (15,489) (20,869)
Equity attributable to owners of the ZN/NSIEZ ¥ S DN (S]
company T 58,806 7,658 (252)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE R 2,861 (282) 20,923
Total equity REREE 61,667 7,376 20,671

Approved by the Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf

by:

Sun Haitao
Director
£

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GORSENE
For the year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018%F12A31H L F &

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARE
Share
capital-
non-
Share  redeemable Convertible Foreign
capita-~ convertible Share Capital Capital bonds Share currency Non-
ordinary preferred premium  contribution  redemption equity options  translation Other  Accumulated controlling
shares shares account reserve reserve reserve Teserve Teserve Teserve losses Subtotal Interests Total
fREx-
fx-  FAREY TARES
LEk  AREER  ROEEE TERE RABORERE ExliE  BERERE MENER EftERE ZiTBR et EERES 3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FEn FiEnL TR TR Tin TiEn TR TR TEn FiEn FiEnL TR TR
Balance at 1 January 2017 ROVEIA1B 268 15,600 5017 3,348,003 - 1 16,341 36,783 115,692 (49 (3,537,640) (252) 20923 20671
Loss for the year RERER - - - - - - - - - 48299) 48299) (23078) 31
Other comprenensive income for the year  AEEEp2ERA - - - - - - - 272 - - 272 1873 4595
Total comprehensive expense for the year  AFE2EFRTEE - - - - - - - 272 - (48,293) 45,571) (21,205) (66,776)
Conversion of non-redeemable convertble IR R R E %R
preferred shares 5017 (5017) - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuie of orcinary shares under RERRETHETERR
share option scheme 580 - 15,791 - - - (4,479) - - - 11,892 - 11,892
Release of reserve upon REREXAEERGR
share options lapsed - - - - - - (32,304) - - 32,304 - - -
Issuie of new ordinary shares RERDABRETINEBR
Under shares subscription 1,950 - 30,030 - - - - - - - 31,980 - 31,980
Transaction cost attributable to BNERREEZRHMA
issue of new ordinary shares - - (19 - - - - - - - (19 - (19
Deemed capital contribution by RATHERLATE
an intermediate holding company - - - 9628 - - - - - - 9,628 - 9,628
Balance at 31 December 2017 RO7E12A318 2 &8 2347 - 3,393,805 9,628 1 16,311 - 18414 (49 (3553629 7,658 (282) 1316




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GRENENX

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =20185E12A31H It E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAREARR
Financial
Share asset
capital- at fair value
non- through
Share  redeemable Convertible other Foreign
capital- -~ convertible Share Capital Capital bonds  comprehensive currency Non-
ordinary preferred premium  contribution  redemption equity income translation Other  Accumulated controlling
shares shares account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
BROMEE
Ba- HARK
Ba- FIRETY TERES 2EHAZ
EER  ARER  BAEER EERE  RARERE BEME  SHEENME  MEXRE Bk 2iER M EERER i
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
T iz T TR TR T Tin Tin Tin iz T T TR

Balance at 1 anuary 2018 ROBEIR1B 265 (R2F)

(origial Staed) 23,147 - 3,393,805 9,68 1 16,341 - 18414 () (3553629) 7658 (282) 1376

Effet on adoption of RAERIBRS RN 8

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 - - - 205 - - - 205 = 205

Balance at 1 lnuary 2018 (Restated) ROBEIFIB 26 (HET) 23,147 - 3,393,805 9,628 1 16,341 205 18414 () (3553629) 7863 (282) 7581

Proft for the year RERET - - - - - - - 16,197 16,197 (3,260) 12937

Other comprehensive expense for the year TEEEHZERY S - - - 30 (3,027) - - (2,997) (249) (3,246)

Total comprehensive income for the year TFE2ENAEE - - - - 30 (3,027) - 16,197 13,200 (3,509) 9,69

Exercise of convertivle bonds ETRRES 208 - 49,19 (12,406) - - - - 37,59 - 37,59

Capial contrbuton - over - provison of taxetion ~ $A- B ERHEL BERE

of prior year - - - 149 - - - - - 149 = 149

Capitalcontrbution by a non-controling HEAREERER R

interest of a Subsiciary - - - - - - - - - 6,652 6,652

Balance at 31 December 2018 RBEIRANE ZEH 23,355 - 3,443,597 91m 1 3,935 235 115,387 ) (353743 58,806 2861 61,667

Notes: B 5t

(i) The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an (i) FEREENR20177FRE — P HEERABNEE FiE
intermediate holding company in 2017, please refer to note 34 to the LR E M SRR T34 -
consolidated financial statements for details.

(i) The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share (i) RAEE FEEARRRERFHAORAEERE
capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

(i) The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through iy AEBEEESETEAAEBEFAHMZARAGENE
other comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are BIAR-BZIAMS AABEEHRAREZTANE
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other ARBEFAHMEZARAGENSREEN - HIRER
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair IFERKBEN  AABENESEHERTES-
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

(iv)  Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for  (v) EHMEEERNWEIFERER ABNEAMERIERR

the additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s
share of the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
o RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 20184128318 It F &

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx FET
(Restated)
(reE5)
Cash flows from operating activities KRETBHREBHEERE
Profit/(loss) for the year RNEEHF, (EE) 12,937 (71,371)
Adjustments for: Bt T FIEELFHE:
Income tax expense/(credit) recognised PEEPERZEHES
in profit or loss (E%) 4,932 (15,713)
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss B 2= MR 2 B B AR 1,846 5,593
Interest income from bank deposits and loan RITF R EWE W F B U A
receivables (178) (18)
Interest income on financial assets through FABRECERMEEMNFBEWA
profit or loss (111) -
Waiver of other payables G B FE A 5RIE - (3,057)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE R&EEBE
plant and equipment 420 102
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1%¥ - MEMBREZITE 2,357 1,133
Amortisation of concession rights FRET IS E R 3R = 6,471
Impairment of concession rights R &R B - 58,239
Written down value of inventories FERE 609 -
Written off of inventories 17 B 35 145 -
Impairment of trade and other receivables Z 5 Rk E b W E TR A 54 -
Impairment of contract assets EHEEREA 2,142 666
Movements in working capital HEESEH 25,153 (17,955)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (M) 123 (522)
Increase in quality assurance fund receivables  fE g/ & (£ & 4 1 1 (11,025) -
Increase in contract assets BHEELM (27,544) -
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 [k Hh e W GRIE S N (2,162) (3,142)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a fEW—MRABE AR ZRER LD,
related company (3hn) 568 (570)
Increase in amount due from a fellow subsidiary &4 — & R Z i B A &) 2 ZIE & hn (1,447) -
Increase in amount due from a non-controlling & Us — R Bt /8 A &) 2 FF AR A o
interest of a subsidiary Z FIEIE N - 3)
Increase in restricted cash =R %35 £ 50 (7,091) _
Increase in trade and other payables g 5 & H b S FRIEIE N 1,611 3,888
Increase in quality assurance fund payables JEAE 2 RS 1 14,205 -
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities SWHBaE R (54) 71
Increase in receipt in advance &8 U F I8 1 0 1,136 -
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to a non- JER—FEN B AR 2 FEER R
controlling interest of a subsidiary ZEEEM S CRD) 256 (234)
Cash used in operations BREFMERS (6,271) (18,467)
Income tax paid EFEH (2,226) -
Net cash used in operating activities RETBHARSFE (8,497) (18,467)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

fay e
GRoRNENEX
For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =20185E12A31H It E

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
($E5)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEFEESRE
Increase in financial assets at fair value through 122 R EBET AIEZHH
profit or loss D EVEEG M (22,892) -
Interest received 2 A& 289 14
withdrawal of pledged bank deposit EREFERITFR - 216
Payment for property, plant and equipment Y BB LB (10,390) (1,377)
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWE BERKEBEHRE
plant and equipment 4 -
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFARSFE (32,989) (1,147)
Cash flows from financing activities METHRESRERE
Capital contribution from a non-controlling MEBAREZERER 2 FE
interest of a subsidiary 967 -
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares under — RiFEERET 2T L RAK >
share option scheme FriS 3kI18 - 11,892
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares under — IRIERMDRBERITEBRATEHRIE
shares subscription - 31,980
Payment for transaction cost attributable to SN BEITHERRENL 2R KA
issue of new ordinary shares = (19)
Advance from an intermediate holding company 4% 3% A 5124 5% - 10,755
Net cash generated from RMETBHRESRSFE
financing activities 967 54,608
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRESEE (EL) EINFHE
cash equivalents (40,519) 34,994
Cash and cash equivalents at FOzEEREE£EE
the beginning of year 59,173 23,817
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEHFLE (285) 362
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZ2EESRESEE
the end of year 18,369 59,173
Analysis of the balances of cash and REeRBESEEERZON
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e RIRITAE R 18,369 59,173

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — B&EM 2 i3t B4R A BB RKR 2 AR D -
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, its parent
company is 5TRENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands) and its ultimate parent company is 51 Credit
Card Inc. (incorporated in the Cayman Islands). Its ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Sun Haitao, who is also the chairman
and an executive director of the Company. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
engaged in financial technology services business, apartment
leasing business, smart wearable device business, lottery
business and sports training business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

—REHR

PERBERERAR ([AAR])RERAES
HERAaLE (KT RRSHEEMALA
—EXHBRBRAR KRR 2RO E B
ERGABRAT ([HAF]) GEM LT - &
E£R A EE AT AS5IRENPIN.COM INC. (KA
RERZHSEMAY) MESKERAAE
SMERRERAR (RRASHSEMAT) -
HERERFRARRERERNTESRHS
BRE - ARRIZAMPEREREAELTES
¥R FERAREAR —EIHEE-

Bl E20185F12A31H L F & - AN &) & H
BRr(GREAIANEERESBIRR
BEG ABHERS TEFERBEH-
FREBRBEIIRES-

REMBRRARRR ZHEEEET ([1E
Tel) R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

108

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2018:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

o HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

. Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions — Amendments to HKFRS 2

o Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

. Transfers to Investment Property — Amendments
to HKAS 40

. HK(IFRIC) 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The Group had to change its accounting policies
following the adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. The
other amendments listed above did not have any
significant impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

2
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o FAAEMBWMEEAFISHEKEE
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o RO ABEMINRZZ 2N E
KEtE - BV BMEERE25
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o 2014F2016F HAfM 2 FE B

e HBEEZREVX-FEGI LR
FA05% Z1EFT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

FE P 3718 B A AE T B B I
;é;;{%ﬁ'] ([BRMBHREER])

(@) ZSEEERAN YR IE K EERT 2Rl
(&

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

The complete version of HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” was issued in September 2014 which
replaces the guidance in HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” that
relates to the classification and measurement
of financial instruments, impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting. HKFRS 9 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 9 with a date of
transition of 1 January 2018, which resulted in
changes in accounting policies and adjustments
to the amounts previously recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group
did not early adopt any HKFRS 9 in the previous
periods.

As permitted by the transitional provisions
of HKFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate
comparative figures. Any adjustments to the
carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities
at the date of transition were recognised in the
opening accumulated losses of the current period.

(i)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

110

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the
consequential amendments to HKFRS 7 disclosures
have also only been applied to the current period.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has resulted in changes
in our accounting policies for recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities and impairment of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 also significantly amends other
standards dealing with financial instruments such
as HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

The key changes to the Group’s accounting
policies and the expected impact resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 9 are described below.

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

FE P 3718 B A AE T B B I
iif’%ﬁu ([BRMBHREER])

(@) ZSEEERAN YR IE K EERT 2Rl
(&

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

The classification and measurement of financial
assets will depend on how the assets are
managed (the entity’s business model) and
their contractual cash flow characteristics.
These factors determine whether the financial
assets are measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI") or fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL"). The combined effect of the application
of the business model and the contractual
cash flow characteristics tests may result in
some differences in the population of financial
assets measured at amortised cost or fair value
compared with HKAS 39.

(i)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

BEBUMBHEEREIR [£MT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

112

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

The HKFRS 9 classification and measurement
model requires that all debt instrument financial
assets that do not meet a “solely payment of
principal and interest” (“SPPI”) test, including
those that contain embedded derivatives, be
classified at initial recognition as FVPL. The intent
of the SPPI test is to ensure that debt instruments
that contain non-basic lending features, such as
conversion options and equity linked pay-outs,
are measured at FVPL. Subsequent measurement
of instruments classified as FVPL under HKFRS
9 operates in a similar manner to trading under
HKAS 39.

2
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@ RAE] (TSPPI]) AIFEMFTE
BEHTASREE(BEIAR
ARTET AWM ESREE) R IE

RS BEB/BAABETAR
s ° SPPIAIE ) B M2 RER S A 9F
EXAEFFHNEF LA (WEin
RRBRABB ) BRREER
ABmst B - REFEWHREE
AIESR D BRIRARBEAR
SN TANREFELTESGS
ERIFEIRIA TR ZFHBRIET R
Bl

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

FE P 3718 B A AE T B B I
;é;;{%ﬁ'] ([BRMBHREER])

(@) ZSEEERAN YR IE K EERT 2Rl
(&

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

For debt instrument financial assets that meet
the SPPI test, classification at initial recognition
will be determined based on the business model
under which these instruments are managed.
Debt instruments that are managed on a “held
for trading” or “fair value” basis will be classified
as FVPL. Debt instruments that are managed
on a “hold to collect and for sale” basis will be
classified as FVOCI for debt. Debt instruments
that are managed on a “hold to collect” basis
will be classified as amortised cost. Subsequent
measurement of instruments classified at FVOCI
and amortised cost classifications under HKFRS
9 operate in a similar manner to available-for-
sale for debt securities and loans and receivables,
respectively, under existing HKAS 39, except for
the impairment provisions which are discussed
below.

(i)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

114

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

For those debt instrument financial assets
that would otherwise be classified as FVOCI or
amortised cost, an irrevocable designation can be
made at initial recognition to instead measure the
debt instrument at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

All equity instrument financial assets are required
to be classified at initial recognition as FVPL
unless an irrevocable designation is made to
classify the instrument as FVOCI for equities.
Unlike available-for-sale for equity securities
under HKAS 39, the financial assets at FVOCI
for equities category results in all realised and
unrealised gains and losses being recognised
in other comprehensive income (“OCI") with no
recycling to profit and loss. Only dividends will
continue to be recognised in profit and loss.

2

ERFEREETEEMBR

4 #EH

= S A

(%)

| (TEBMBHREER])

(@) ZSEEIERAN Y HT I8 K RS RT 2R
(#%&)

(i)

BEBUMBHEEREIR [£MT
A/ (&)

DERREE (F)

OB REBEAREEFARLMLE
EUA S E XA ENZFE
BTASREEMS  AIRVIIaHE
R PAHH IR E R SEB T
AR AR EEN AR (B
TTEMBERAER D GTHEEC)

MERaTASMEEANIIA
AR DB RBARBEARE
o BRIET A BEH MR E % F
TEASBARUEARBEFAR
2R A - BE B ST ERIEI9
SIETE A R ERAES T —
B BRABEAREBESARGME
EWAEHE D R RRER
Yezn K BB A B Ath 2 E YA P B
RemAEEER - EREHE
BREZPER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

FE P 3718 B A AE T B B I
;é;;{%ﬁ'] ([BRMBHREER])

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(Continued)

The classification and measurement of financial
liabilities remain essentially unchanged from
the current HKAS 39 requirements, except that
changes in fair value of liabilities designated at
FVPL attributable to changes in own credit risk are
to be presented in OCI, rather than profit and loss.

Derivatives will continue to be measured at FVPL
under HKFRS 9.

Impairment

The new impairment guidance sets out an
expected credit loss (“ECL") model applicable
to all debt instrument financial assets classified
as amortised cost or FVOCI. In addition, the ECL
model applies to financial guarantees that are not
measured at FVPL.

(@) ZSEEERAN YR IE K EERT 2Rl

(&

(i)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

116

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

ECL Methodology

The application of ECL will change the Group's
credit loss methodology and models. ECL
allowances represent credit losses that reflect
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
which is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. ECL allowances
will be measured at amounts equal to either:
(i) 12-month ECL; or (ii) lifetime ECL for those
financial instruments which have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition or when there is objective evidence of
impairment.

2

ERFEREETEEMBR

4 #EH
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(@) ZSEEIERAN Y HT I8 K RS RT 2R
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(i)

BEBUMBHEEREIR [£MT
A/ (&)
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R R R RAE B AR — R B
BrgER EEREEERAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 ERHERKEITEBMER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FER([EBMBEHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (4&)

(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) EEBRAHYFTIE R IEETER
by the Group (Continued) (#%&)
() HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued) (i) BBHBHRLEERFEIN[+/@MT
A/ (&)
Impact of adoption of HKFRS 9 RMEBMBEHRELEREI R 2
&
The impacts of adopting HKFRS 9 on the RNE B B ImELERFE 5 4R
consolidated financial statements are as follows: AV BRMRITFENT
consolidated statement of financial position IRe M BARRE (Fik)
(extracted)

At 1 January 2018
201851 81H

Effect of
Originally adoption of
presented HKFRS 9 Restated
RRMBE BB
wEERFE5
RZ7 x KE
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FET

Financial asset at FVOCl A ABET AEMEE
WA EBEE - 320 320
Club debenture EHTES 115 (115) -

d}f

i)

Reserves T - 205 205
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(a) New and amended standards adopted

by the Group (Continueq)

(ii) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers”

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” replaces the previous revenue
standard HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and related
interpretations. The standard is effective for
annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2018 and earlier application is permitted. The
Group has first time adopted HKFRS 15 for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and has elected
to apply HKFRS 15 retrospectively to each prior
reporting period.

2

ERFEREETEEMBR
i:{%ﬂu ([BRMBHREER])
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HHRERM - AEEERER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKEITEBHKR
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING E£EA([EAMBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued) (#&)

(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) EEBRAHEIE R KIEETER
by the Group (Continued) (4

(i) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with (i) BEBHREEREISE [ FEFE

customers” (Continued)

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework
for determining when to recognise revenue and
how much revenue to recognise through a 5-step
approach. The core principle is that a company
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customer in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which
the company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. It moves away from a
revenue recognition model based on an “earnings
processes” to an “asset-liability” approach based
on transfer of control. HKFRS 15 provides specific
guidance on capitalisation of contract cost and
license arrangements. It also includes a cohesive
set of disclosure requirements about the nature,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from the entity’s contracts with customers.

The accounting policies for the Group’s main type
of revenue are explained in note 3(f).

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(ii) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15

() Impacts on consolidated statement of
financial position

The following adjustments were made to
the amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have
not been included.

2 EAMEREEIEBMBR
SR (TEBMBHREER])

(%)

(@) ZSEEIERAN Y HT I8 K RS RT 2R
(#%&)

(i) BBHBHREERLEISE [EFE
HWA] (&)

RAERMBREEEISK 2

E/
=

()

HIRAMBARERZFE

BT B Ty B RA B S ik
REREREHEMAEL - Lk
SRYYENHEER L E

SRBRE A o

As at 1 January 2017

#®2017F1431R

Effect of

Originally adoption of
presented HKFRS 15 Restated

RNE B

WEER
RZ5I BISR B =R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TET

Current liabilities nEBEE

Receipt in advance U IE 126 (126) -
Contract liabilities EHAEE - 126 126
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKLETEBBBER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HFER([ERAMBREEL])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (&)

(a) New and amended standards adopted () "EBEZFEMPWHIBRLEITER
by the Group (Continued) (#&
(i) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with (i) BBYUBHEEAEISE EFE
customers” (Continued) AMA S (&)
Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 RnE B BERELEREI5HEZ
() Impacts on consolidated statement of () HHREEUEMRARZITE
financial position (Continuead) (%)

As at 31 December 2017

R2017912A318

Effect of

Originally adoption of
presented HKFRS 15 Restated

RNE B

HELER
RE5I BRI E &y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT TET

Current liabilities nEBEE

Receipt in advance U IE 197 (197) -
Contract liabilities EHAE - 197 197
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(ii) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

() Impacts on consolidated statement of
financial position (Continued)

ERFEREETEEMBR
ijﬁ’ﬁ}ﬂu ([BRMBHREER])

(@) ZSEEIERAN Y HT I8 K RS RT 2R
(#%&)

(i) BBUBHREEREISH [FEFE
HWA] (&)

RAERMBREEEISK 2
S8 (E)

() HREMBARERZZE
(#&)

As at 31 December 2018
M2018%12831H

Without the Effect of
adoption of adoption of
HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 As reported
WA HPE BB
EBMBE®RE & %R
ZRHE155 HI15HK 2 E2HREH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHExT THET
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets BREE - 23,737 23,737
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H fth j& Uk 5K 18 30,563 (23,737) 6,826
Current liabilities REAE
Contract liabilities EHBE - 143 143
Receipt in advance TE U FRIE 1,237 (143) 1,094
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKLETEBIBER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([ERAMBHREED])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued) (&)
(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) EEBRAHYFTIE R IEETER
by the Group (Continued) (%)
(i) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with (i) EBUBEHREEHNZISHE[EFE
customers” (Continued) WA (&)
Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 (Continued) RWE B BERELEREISHEZ
EE(E)
(I Impacts of consolidated statement of profit (I HireEzkAtMEEEKA
or loss and other comprehensive income Re¥E
The following adjustments were made to LTHRBEDAREGEER K
the amount recognised in the consolidated H2EBARBERSEM
statement of profit or loss and other EH - W RS EHTEN D
comprehensive income. Line items that were AR B W R H A o
not affected by the changes have not been
included.
Year ended 31 December 2017
BE201712ANB L5 E
Effect of
Originally adoption of Reclassification
presented HKFRS 15 (Note) Restated
BINE BB 7%
BEEREI55
RE5 %4 EXib| &y
(FF3E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FET FET FET
Revenue Yo zs 28,303 (8,942) - 19,361
Cost of sales and HERRBARA
services (22,231) 14,061 666 (7,504)
Otherincome and  E Uz A K i 28/
gains/(losses), net  (E#E) - F58 3,271 (5,119) (666) (2,514)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 ERHERKEITEBMER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FEA([EEAMBERETELN])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (%)

(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) ZEEBRAHYFTIE R IS ET R
by the Group (Continued) (#&)
(i) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with (i) BEBUBHEEREISHEEFE
customers” (Continued) HURA ] (&)
Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 (Continued) RnE B BERELEREISHEZ
- 2-2€-P)
(I Impacts of consolidated statement of profit (I HireEmkAtME2EEKA
or loss and other comprehensive income R E (&)
(Continued)
Note: B 5
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the REE2017F12A31BIEFE 5T A
impairment of contract assets approximately HK$666,000 $HE & AR5 A AR & B8 40 /666,000
included in cost of sales and services was reclassified THENEERBEDNEN»BEEH
to other income and gains/(losses), net to conform with fib e A R M a (548 ) JF 88 - AT
current year's presentation. ERFEMZES -

Year ended 31 December 2018
HZE2018F12A31BLLEE

Without the Effect of
adoption of adoption of
HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 As reported
WA HPEBIE
ERMKHRE & 2E A
ZBRIZEI155 F15%2¥ EHEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#E T FET
Revenue Y& 91,535 (38,468) 53,067
Cost of sales and #HE KR TSR AR
services (49,909) 34,797 (15,112)
Other income and HAb A R zs - F 58
gains, net 542 3,671 4,213
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FERAHFERKEITTAMER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER ([BAMBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued) (%)
(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) EEBRAHEIE R KIEETER
by the Group (Continued) (#&
(ii) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with (i) BEUBEHREEREISHE [EFE

customers” (Continued)

HWA] (&)

Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 (Continued) RnE B BERELEREI5HEZ
EE(E)

() Impacts on consolidated statement of (I HiFeReRERITE
cashflows
The following adjustments were made to LATHRBEDAREERER
the amount recognised in the consolidated EREREEMIEL - WRK
statement of cashflows. Line items that were XEHTENDERBLTE
not affected by the changes have not been R B A o
included.

Year ended 31 December 2017

HZE2017F12A31HBLFE
Effect of
Originally adoption
presented of HKFRS 15 Restated
HMES
s 2ER
RE%Y] ZEI5HTE KE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FHET
Operating RESEE
activities
Increase in contract & #J& &3 N
liabilities - 71 71
Increase in receipt  FEUFRIEIE hn
in advance 71 (71) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(ii) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
customers” (Continued)

Impacts of adoption of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

(1) Impacts on consolidated statement of
cashflows (Continued)

2 EAMEREEIEBMBR
SR (TEBMBHREER])

(%)

(@) ZSEEIERAN Y HT I8 K RS RT 2R

(%)

(i) BBUBHREEREISH [FEFE

HWA] (&)

RAERMBREEEISK 2

2 3¢ ),

() HEEHEERERZIFE

(%)

Year ended 31 December 2018

B £20185F12A31BLFE

Without Effect of
adoption adoption
of HKFRS 15 of HKFRS 15  As reported
I W|IRNE B RREB
MBEHmEER BEREER
#1588 FHISHHE 2HREHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#E T TET
Operating RESEE
activities
Increase in contract & 47& E# N
assets = (27,544) (27,544)
Increase in trade and & 5 K H th g I8
other receivables FRIELE AN (29,706) 27,544 (2,162)
Decrease in contract & %) & & 4
liabilities = (54) (54)
Increase in receipt  FEURFRIAIE hn
in advance 1,082 54 1,136
CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED * ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKLETEBBBER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HFEA([EBMBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (4&)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EEMEERERZIIGR LS
not yet effective HERCIE

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEEWEEFRMAUTER/MHER K

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet ERMFERCIET AN BHREE

effective: Al

HKFRS 16 Leases' ERMKHREEN HE

F165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BRUBREER RREL
F17%

HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax B (ERFB MEHEBRZ REN

Treatments’ WEREBZEY)
—ZRBE3R%

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BRUMBREER EBEEMHE IR
Compensation and Modifications BRI EREURSHAE
of Financial Liabilities’ LEE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BAVBMEER REEFHHEBLE AT

and HKAS 28 between an investor and its F105 BEMEZE
Associate or Joint Ventures? Rt BAEHENTA?
£28% 2 (&7

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates ARG LA REE DRI RAE DT
and Joint Ventures' B8R 2 EF] < EHER

Amendments to HKFRSS  Annual Improvements to HKFRSS BRUBREEL BEFEREER
2015-2017 Cycle’ pACH] 20155 £2017F 8

B U
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 M2019F 1AM Sz & MM E B &
2019. e
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 MG TEE 2 B %5 EEFE B
determined. R
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 MR2021F1AB sz & MM FE ML
2021. Mo

Except as mentioned below, the directors of the BrRCPTiiE SN AR B E BB

Company anticipate that the application of the other FAHE ARG R AEMNE ] & 78 B 7 5 2 )

new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations LREBETSHREBBRREEERY

will have no material impact on the consolidated 2o

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

128

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new or revised standards which are
relevant to the Group’s operation.

HKFRS 16, “Leases”
Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in
almost all leases being recognised on the lessee’s
statement of financial position, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the
leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and
low-value leases. The accounting for lessors will not
significantly change.

2

ERFEREETEEMBR
i:{%ﬂu ([BRMBHREER])

(b) T HEMR{E R A N2 #8 R AE1E

TESHBREEN (F)

B D B ST A B A BT A
BTS2

EBMBHEEERE16% [HE ]
SEMHE

BB IS RS B 16985201651 F
B HBEHETZAEMEREAMR
A BB TS AR 2R A R AR R A 4 Bl
ERENE S WM - RIBEZHE
A - BE(MEBENFERE) B
AememaERBER -E—FliER
REMEEERE - HEBANSITE
BETeFERNE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKEITEBHKR
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING E£EA([EAMBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued) (#&)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) BEMENRERZHIERLE

not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continueqd)

Impact of adoption of HKFRS 16

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group’s operating leases. As at 31 December
2018, the Group’'s future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases
is approximately HK$31,407,000, among which
within one year is approximately HK$9,394,000, in
the second to fifth years inclusive is approximately
HK$20,949,000 and over five years is approximately
HK$1,064,000. HKFRS 16 provides new provisions
for the accounting treatment of leases and all non-
current leases, including future operating lease
commitments, must be recognised in the form of an
asset (for the right of use) and a financial liability (for
the payment obligation). Short-term leases of less
than twelve months and leases of low-value assets
are exempted from the reporting obligation. The new
standard will therefore result in an increase in assets
and financial liabilities in the consolidated statements
of financial position. Operating expenses under
otherwise identical circumstances will decrease, and
depreciation, amortisation and interest expense will
increase. It is expected that certain portion of these
lease commitments will be required to be recognised in
the statement of financial position as right of use assets
and lease liabilities.

The Group expects to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for the non-cancellable operating
lease commitments which are more than one year. The
Group expects no material impact to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1
January 2019.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that are expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on
any foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEETHX

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee,

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

. the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

] any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to
be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FESITHEE (£&)

(Continueq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued) (a) mEREE(£Z)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

136

(Continued)

(b) Changes in the Group’s ownership

interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’'s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(b) Changes in the Group’'s ownership (b) ZREBRRENBARIZEERE

interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSS). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39/HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

138

(Continued)

(c) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS
19 Employee Benefits respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(c) Business combinations (Continued) (c) ¥¥E0/t(4£E)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis
is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

140

(Continued)

(c) Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments made against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during
the "measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(c) Business combinations (Continued) (c) ¥¥E0/t(4£E)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

142

(d)

(e)

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the
power to control the financial and operating policies
SO as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
excluded from consolidation from the date that control
ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 XEETHBE (&)

(Continuedq)

(f) Revenue recognition fl W=ER
Revenue is recognised when goods or services is WREERm R ERELE R
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of R-EnIBRBEE—BERHERNESE
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, —REREH BUAR G OB EER
goods or services may be provided over time or at RERBERRTE - AEERZE T
a point in time. Goods or services is provided over FE BT BRI R EE B
time if the Group’s performance meets any one of the Bk

following criteria:

e provides all of the benefits received and e RPEFWEBEEBBYMT
consumed simultaneously by the customer; 2R B 457l 25

e  creates and enhances an asset that the customer o AREEEXBEF - BIEMILRHA
controls as the Group performs; or BEPIEHNEE 3k

e  does not create an asset with an alternative use e AFAEEWEXNBEFMELNE
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable EAEBTENRAR BEXEEE
right to payment for performance completed to BHEIRITHRESE TN EL
date. B 55 Y ERFIE o

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is MERIRBE—RREANER A&

recognised over the period of the contract by reference BiEAENBEC TRBEORBEE

to the progress towards complete satisfaction of ETWREER B WEREFES

that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is Bk RS BB B AERR o

recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

144

(Continued)

(f) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

()

credit referral and service fee

The Group engages primarily in operating an
online consumer finance marketplace by providing
an online platform which matches borrowers with
investors. The Group determined that it is not
the legal lender and legal borrower in the loan
origination and repayment process. Therefore,
the Group does not record loans receivable and
payable arising from the loans between investors
and borrowers on its marketplace.

The total consideration received from borrowers
generally includes the services fee for facilitating
loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly
services (mainly covering cash processing
services and collection services), and also
includes contribution to the quality assurance
fund, which provides a protection mechanism to
investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total consideration from borrowers is first
allocated to the quality assurance fund payables
at fair value which meets the definition of a
financial guarantee under HKFRS 9, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit
referral services and ongoing monthly services.
The Group generally collects the entire amount
relating to credit referral and ongoing monthly
services as one combined fee.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

146

(f) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(M)

credit referral and service fee (Continued)

The Group considers the credit referral services
and ongoing monthly services as distinct
performance obligations. Although the Group
does not sell these services separately, the
Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not
provide these services separately, and the third-
party evidence of selling price does not exist
either, as public information is not available
regarding the amount of fees that competitors
charge for these services. As a result, the Group
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach
to determine its best estimate standalone selling
prices of the different performance obligations
as the basis for allocation. The total service
fee allocated to credit referral is recognised as
revenue upon execution of loan agreements
between investors and borrowers. The service fee
allocated to post-origination services are deferred
and recognised over the period of the loan on
a straight-line method, which approximates the
pattern of when the underlying services are
performed. When the cash received is different
from the revenue recognised, a “Contract Asset”
or “Contract Liability” shall be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(ii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

(iii) Apartment leasing

(iv)

Apartment leasing income from subleased
properties is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss on straight-line basis over the term of
lease.

Service income

Revenue from provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery
system and lottery halls is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of sports training services
is recognised when the services are rendered.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

148

(f)

(8)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(v) Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is
recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised as income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on their nature.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

(h)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

(h) Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(i)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3 "SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

152

()

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government
of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Company operating in
the PRC participate in a local municipal government
retirement benefits scheme (the “PRC Scheme”),
whereby the subsidiaries are required to make
contributions, as calculated under the rules specified
by the relevant PRC local government authorities, to
the PRC Scheme to fund their retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme
is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the
PRC Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the
PRC Scheme are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as incurred. There are no provisions under the PRC
Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used
to reduce future contributions.

3 FESFHEE(F)

()

3R 48 R A

58 Bl M A TE S FT 82 T NME B R R
BAZEEBHAEERLAX

RIEFEBAZBRRE AAREF
BEEXBHcMBARASLRE MR
FzRAAESFE (TFEFE]) -
Bt ZEMBRARARBETEE LY
BT #ER < R AT E U B S E
AEFh 2 BB (EREBRIKER -
BEHTMRAAHZBEZMNBRARZ 1]
B KRR KB B 2 IRRAE R AR -
AEBEHTEFEMBRIE—BER
RIE Lt h BT Bl A H 3 RIBT
AHEER 2 R EF R RN R A B R
H ity 2 YA K AFORR o o BIGH 83 &
B BAHOR UL 2 SRR 1R IRL D R R 3R
ZHE °

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FESITHEE (£&)

(Continued)

(k) Share-based payment arrangements (k) UBRGAERZARZH

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(k) Share-based payment arrangements

()]

(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the
fair value of the goods or services received, except
where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in
which case they are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods
or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before
tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

3 FESFEE (&)

)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

BE (&)
EELHE

R BHRERzEER AERAER
RERH BERERPUEN 2 HEREME 2
EREZRERRRELEREA - NAF—K
SIAMERRHE R ERERELEHR A
BE-REHRAEE —RNAEAER
79834 M LA B A BTG RT AR By 22 RE A A
HZEANMRERZRER - W ER8
AT R (XHA BRI B—HL
FERRVGNRGFENZRH 2 E
ENBEMES AAREEHREEE
REERNTHER-

EETRIBE B RN E AR M2 R
ZHRERRABEREZ EmERE 2 ER
DUERS Z 88 T DARERR - ME W AN SR B AT 4%
BB E R ERAE A RN ER A RS K
BOAIRRIN  AEARRKRE M EREH
ZAMRERERMmEL CRELERIBE
EENFIREE £ RSB RTUE M A Z) A
B 2 BROa N3 TR H AT A0 A) R K SR )
Ry FE 7R ©

155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
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(1

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(m) Property, plant and equipment (m) ¥ -BERRZE

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years

Computer and office equipment  3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of term
of lease or 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

(n) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(o) Impairment on tangible and intangible (o) EXRBREEZRE

assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

160

(Continued)

(o) Impairment on tangible and intangible

assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or 10ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

Government Grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

(p)

(a)

(r)

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

3 FESFEE (&)

i

FREIGAKAERZH 3 EMRETRE
IR - FERARNAINEF I EGTE -
AERFEDEFE 2 et EERERAT
BIAFT MR AR B HERA

B

HAREEBEEFMAAERA LR
BEESHEEE BEASERAEER
THEE LA SEMAaTmAAEZ
T RIBHEREE -

ERRBREZBRVENRSHRARE
TREREMFREFEL Z&ERGG
Wit RBEBEEZRER LT HEERR-
ERBRETRRAECEAMT AR
MEFER ERAEREHASRE
ZHRE(MEEREEELFEEAX) -

fHIEHIR B % =77 W m A RME R B
ZEDHEHLENS MEEE LS
ErREMERRER R ERKFKIASHE
B RUGRIAR R A EE -

BUR B

Fir
25,
AN
L

i B A IBRE MU DR B AR E
BFTA M R - B M RE IR
BEMRER -

i
=
ay

LR

N

161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

162

(r)

(s)

Government Grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments

()

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit or
loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FESFEE (&)

(t) EMTH
(i) #&

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

BH2018F1A1HE AEBMBE
SREESBEBAUTEER:

s HERAAEE(E
ﬁﬂiﬁﬂ&)\jzﬁi@iaﬁﬁ)ﬁ

RIBRAABEFENEEMNS  H
Yzt &Eﬁaﬁﬂ’\ﬁm‘kﬁﬁﬂiﬁ
WAFIBR = 5L IR 1E B B AR AR
TAREME  EHEURRAKE
ERERREEIEL T A H
HEEE  BRARERANEE
FEAEAMEERAAR-

AEBERBEERERZEEEN

EHEANEREN D BEHR

163
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

164

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

166

(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued) (t) €¢®mI A (E&)

(iii) Measurement (Continued) (iii) FrE (&)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in
the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEGTBE (&)
(Continued)
(t) Financial instruments (Continued) (t) €T A (&)
(iv) Impairment (iv) wiE

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a B2018%F 1 A1H & A& B LAl
forward-looking basis the ECL associated with WE B RV IR BN A RIE R
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost AEEF AEME R ATIERED
and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied ERTEABNEREEEE &
depends on whether there has been a significant ABETEBARNEERRES
increase in credit risk. FEIL -
For trade receivables, the Group applies the REZEWFIEN S - ~EEEA
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which BTG E LR FOGRET ST
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised LT B ERRUIFHERIE
from initial recognition of the receivables. W ERERER 2 BEE -
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued) (t) €¢®mI A (E&)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (v) R2018F 1518 FiBRHHBE

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively,
but has elected not to restate comparative
information. As a result, the comparative
information provided continues to be accounted
for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, financial assets are
classifies into the following categories:

L financial assets at FVPL,

L loans and receivables,

. held-to-maturity investments, and

. available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification determined on the purpose
for which the investments were acquired.
Management determined the classification of
its investments at initial recognition and, in the
case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-
evaluated this designation at the end of each
reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

170

(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

M

Reclassification

The Group could choose to reclassify a non-
derivative trading financial asset out of the
held for trading category if the financial
asset was no longer held for the purpose
of selling it in the near term. Financial
assets other than loans and receivables
were permitted to be reclassified out of
the held for trading category only in rare
circumstances arising from a single event
that was unusual and highly unlikely to recur
in the near term. In addition, the Group
could choose to reclassify financial assets
that would meet the definition of loans and
receivables out of the held for trading or
available-for-sale categories if the Group
had the intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications were made at fair value
as of the reclassification date. Fair value
became the new cost or amortised cost
as applicable, and no reversals of fair
value gains or losses recorded before
reclassification date were subsequently
made. Effective interest rates for financial
assets reclassified to loans and receivables
and held-to-maturity categories were
determined at the reclassification date.
Further increases in estimates of cash
flows adjusted effective interest rates
prospectively.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continueq)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i)

Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did
not change with the adoption of HKFRS 9,
see description above.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, loans
and receivables and held-to-maturity
investments were subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets at FVPL were subsequently
carried at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised as follows:

o for financial assets at FVPL" — in profit
or loss within other gains/(losses)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

172

(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(i)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

for available-for-sale financial
assets that are monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency
- translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost of the
security were recognised in profit or
loss and other changes in the carrying
amount were recognised in other
comprehensive income

for other monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-
sale — in other comprehensive income.

Details on how the fair value of financial
instruments is determined are disclosed in
note 32(c).

When securities classified as available-
for-sale were sold, the accumulated fair
value adjustments recognised in other
comprehensive income were reclassified to
profit or loss as gains and other losses from
investment securities.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continueq)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(iif)

Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each
reporting period whether there was
objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets was impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial
assets was impaired and impairment losses
were incurred only if there was objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and
that loss event (or events) had an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets
that could be reliably estimated. In the case
of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of the security below its cost
was considered an indicator that the assets
are impaired.
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(Continued)

(t) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

(iif)

Impairment (Continued)
Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of
the loss was measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that had not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset was reduced and the amount of the
loss was recognised in profit or loss. If a
loan or held-to-maturity investment had a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss was the
current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient,
the Group could measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreased and the
decrease could be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss.
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(iii)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FESTHEE (&)

(Continuedq)

(u) convertible bonds (u) ATERRKRES
The component parts of the convertible bonds are AR ES AR E D IR E N EEE 2
classified separately as financial liability and equity RENLeREBEAMERTAZEERR
in accordance with the substance of the contractual DEEMEBELAER UNETEERSE
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability I —eRMEERBRETFHE 2 XA A
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that AT AGE @R IER N R
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of TH-

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’'s own equity instruments is an equity

instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability REITH BEDRY (BEEMERAE
component (including any embedded non-equity BADTETERSE) 2 A EBEEBE B
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the EVERESSO ZEUEEZAR
fair value of similar liability that does not have an BEME-

associated equity component.
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(Continued)

(u) Convertible bonds (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or 0SS upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3 FESFEE (&)

(v) Financial guarantee contracts (v) BIEEREYN

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Quality assurance fund payables
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The quality assurance fund payables is measured at
their fair value at inception. Once the investors are
paid for a borrower’s default, any future principal
and interests recovered are contributed into the
quality assurance fund account. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the quality assurance fund payables is
measured at the greater of 1) the amount of loss
allowance and 2) the amount initially recognised (fair
value) less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
of the initial amount recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 15. The Group's financial guarantee is reflected
as the quality assurance fund payables recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position (note 19).
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(Continued)

(v) Financial guarantee contracts

(Continued)

Quality assurance fund payables (Continued)
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
are initially measured at their fair values and, if not
designated as at FVPL, are subsequently measured at
the higher of 1) the amount of obligation under the
contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets;
and 2) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Quality assurance fund receivables

The quality assurance fund receivables is recognised at
loan inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee.
At each reporting date, the Group estimates the future
cash flows and assesses whether there is any indicator
of impairment to any individual underlying loan of
the quality assurance fund receivables. If the carrying
amounts of the quality assurance fund receivables
exceeds the expected collections, an impairment loss is
recorded for the quality assurance fund receivables not
recoverable.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

() has control or joint control of the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or a joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures

of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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4 "CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

182

(a)

(b)

Revenue related to credit facilitation
services and ongoing monthly services

The Group considers the credit facilitation services
and ongoing monthly services as distinct performance
obligations. However, the Group does not provide these
services separately, and the third-party evidence of
selling price does not exist either, as public information
is not available regarding the amount of fees
competitors charge for these services. As a result, the
Group uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach
to determine its best estimate of selling prices of the
different deliverables as the basis for allocation. When
estimating the selling prices, the Group considers the
cost related to such services, profit margin, customer
demand, effect of competition, and other market
factors, if applicable.

Quality assurance fund payables and
receivables

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism
offered to investors who subscribe to the loans
facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality
assurance fund contribution rates are determined at
loan inception on a loan by loan basis and does not
subsequently change over the life of the loan.

The determination of the contribution rates is also
based on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking
into account the underlying risk profile and historical
loss record and other market factors when necessary.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 BEESTHERAETFIFEERZE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

(c) Estimated impairment of concession (c) AT KEERE

rights

The carrying amount of concession rights is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. The recoverable amount of these
assets, or, where appropriate, the cash-generating
unit(s) (“CGU(s)") to which they belong, is calculated as
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to estimate the expected future cash flows from
the CGU(s) and to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows
(note 17).

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
concession rights related to lottery business is
Nil (2017: Nil), after deducting the accumulated
amortisation and impairment of approximately
HK$2,305,428,000 (2017 HK$2,416,528,000) as detailed
in note 17.

Significant estimation is required in determining the
future cash flows expected to arise from the lottery
business. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 HERESTHERAEFTTIEEREZ

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

(d) Measurement of the ECL allowance

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial
assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is
an area that requires the use of complex models
and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of
customers defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required
in applying the accounting requirements for measuring
ECL, such as:

()  Determining criteria for significant increase in
credit risk;

° The financial instrument considered to
have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk if the borrower is past due on its
contractual payments.

. Using other warning lists as supplemental
criteria such as fraudulent list.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS EEE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

(d) Measurement of the ECL allowance (d) EHEESEREBZTE (£)

(Continued)
(i) Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for iy BEEFEEHEFEEBENGEE
the measurement of ECL; B R

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month
or Lifetime basis depending on whether
a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred since initial recognition or whether
an asset is considered to be credit-impaired.
ECL are the discounted product of the
probability of default (“PD"), exposure at
default ("EAD"), and loss given default
(“LGD"), or ECL=PD xLGD x EAD x discount
rate ("DF").

The calculation of PD and LGD started with
the Group's historical information. They are
further adjusted for the impacts from micro-
economy conditions as well as observed
industry experience. PD and LGD are
calculated by types of product, internal risk
grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the
Group expected to be owed at the time of
default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD)
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The DF used in the ECL calculation is either
the original effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 BESTHERATTFIEERZE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERR (&)

UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

(d) Measurement of the ECL allowance (d) EHEESEREBZTE (£)

(Continued)

(i)  Establishing a number and relative weighting
of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL; and

o The Group uses the Morten Model to
estimate the relationship between ECL and
forward-looking scenarios.

o Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the “base”,
the “upside” and the “downside” are
used with 80%, 10% and 10% weighting
respectively.

. Other forward-looking considerations, such
as the impact of any regulatory, legislative
or political changes, have also been
considered.

o The Group has performed historical analysis
and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL of each
portfolio. The most significant assumptions
used are consumer price index and producer
price index, given their impact they have on
the loans provided by the Group.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

(e) Estimated useful lives of property, plant

(f)

and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will increase the depreciation
charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under
the PRC, HK, Cayman Islands and BVI. Significant
judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

ZEA-REl- PSR RS
ZEBRR (&)

ERE

(g) Fair value of financial instruments (g) eMIANAIREE
HRmzZtREmsn e T A  KEE
ERMEREZEEEAABE GER

If the market for a financial instrument is not active,
the Group estimates fair value by using a valuation

technique. Valuation techniques include using recent ERESLRETEYAEETEEERER
prices in arm’s length market transactions between BEEERNGEITB o BETATERS

BEENRXHEBRK 2EME LS —
PeMTANAABE NERRER

knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another

instrument that is substantially the same, or discounted
cash flow analyses and option pricing models. To the
extent practicable, valuation technique makes the
maximum use of market inputs. However, where market
inputs are not available, management needs to make

ENBEOME B EERRETEHE -
HEDEERARE LMAABRETS
EE AM ERBRMBERELE
B BEESHEHEETETEENE
KA BEEBEHfhET-

estimates on such unobservable market inputs.

5 REVENUE 5 W=

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEEAREEBZWEZDTOT :

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

(Restated)

(FeE5)

Credit referral and service fee BENHBEREE 42,108 8,354

Apartment leasing NEHEE 4,446 -

Sale of smart wearable devices HEREFERE 3,101 8,556

Sale of lottery equipment HEXZHRMH = 79
Provision of management, marketing and FLEZE £} ﬁb&mmﬁfﬁ'r%%ﬂi

operating services for lottery system and T35 # B & &8 R 7%

lottery halls 996 144

Provision of sports training services R B IR RS 2,416 2,228

53,067 19,361

188 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments are determined based
on information reported to the board of directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(@)

Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referral and services (including credit facilitation
services, post-origination services and financial
guarantee services),

Apartment leasing business — management of
apartment leasing for property owners and lessees;

Smart wearable device business - research,
development and sale of smart wearable devices;

Lottery business — development of computer
software, hardware and application system, sale of
self-developed technology or results, provision of
relevant technical consultancy services in the PRC and
development and provision of operation system sector
of the PRC lottery market; and

Sports training business — provision of sports training
services.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

TEEHR

AEBZEEDBIIRBAAARESS (A
TERERRE ([TELERERE]) )ER

ETERDIEZERNEE D BRI A

BEMRM IR A AR HORRAE

AEEms $EI$ETF%§’§W@‘%$&¢/&@U 8
HEEDEZ A 2R REENENT

@ MPMERBEF-RHEENABER

B(BREEERE RS ERR% MM
BHERRS)

() ABHEEXH-REXIRABEARHER
BHEMEE:

REEB - RHEBELTF

d XEEXEH-ETERBEEMET EN
RIEMEG HE B EH B Z RMsK

R REBARM AR LA&F‘}%%"
FEBY TS RERREREERS

) BEIREE-—RHEBEIRRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 PEEHR(£)
(a) Segment revenue and results (@) 7 EW=ERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AT TR 2O EE 9 o AE B
results by reportable segment: REEDHT
Financial technology ~ Apartment leasing ~ Smart wearable Sports training
services business business Gevice busingss  Lottery business business Total
SRNEREER MEREEE A EUED YEEE FEEEEDS it

2018 017 2018 a7 2018 07 018 07 2018 07 2018 01
HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSOUD  HKS'000  HKSOOD
Tén TEn TR Thr fEn TEr TR TEr  TEm  TEn  fRr  ThEn

(Restated) (Restated]
(7)) (7))
Segment revenug: b
Revenue fomextemal — RESNDREZUE

customers 42,108 8354 4,446 - 3101 855 996 03 2416 2208 53,007 19,361
Segrent profitioss) AERT/ (BE) 38964 Q19 (66%) - (30200 (261 (3585 (72219) 1] {7 25495 (75809
Interest on bank deposits,  HAEFAE

other income and gains/ ~ E4MARNE/

(lsses), net (B8) 58 909 3

Central administration costs R &AL (8,535)  (14,549)
Pofiiloss) before tax ~ FREATIAR/ () 17809  (5708)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue LRl 2RzHERERREIIBEFZ
generated from external customers. There were no Was o RANEE I &S HE (2017
inter-segment sales in the current year (2017: Nil). F4E)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are ME DI R IR B3R I AN &
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described B S BE—- 28R (EE)
in note 3. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/ EEDBEEZHMN, (EE) (&
(loss) incurred by each segment without allocation DEIRITERAE - HAn A Rz &
of interest on bank deposits, other income and gain RRITEACAR) « b Ty s B R D B & 5T
and central administration costs. This is the measure mMOBERAMRAEELEARAREER
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource BREK o

allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER(E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) " EEERAEE
Financial technology ~ Apartment leasing ~ Smart wearable Sports training
services business business device husingss Lottery business husiness Total
SHUMEEER  QBEEER  EYSESEED yEsh CEELES g4

2018 017 2018 a7 2018 a0 007 2018 007 2018 01
HKS'000  HKSO0  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSOUD  HKS'000  HKSOD
Tén TEn  TRr  Thr TEn  TEr  fRr  TEn  FEm  TEn fRR  Thn

Segment assets AREE 06,466 13412 16,653 - 3914 1882 1,607 4162 2,182 2% 942 BN
Corporate and bERFILER

Unallocated assets 16232 4%
Consolidated assets GREE 107,654 7050
Segment liabilities FEEE 20,283 25713 3,546 - 103 g 19827 I 148 2243907 40882
Corporate and rERAAEER

unallocated liabiities 2,080 20
Consolidated isbiities ~ £ABE 65987 631
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance REESERRELESERESIEER:

and allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments s FBEEASKELENE EA
other than other unallocated head office and tARDEBIARDEEERIN: &

corporate assets, and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments e FBEEBGEHIEERLENE EE
other than other unallocated head office and RSB R PEE BRI

corporate liabilities.
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6 "SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

192

6 DEEHR(E)

(c) Other segment information (c) Hittp BESR
Financial technology ~ Apartment leasing ~ Smart wearable Sports training
services business husiness device business ~ Lottery business business Total
SRNAREER NERER ENEHREEY FEER BEilazE L
2018 2017 2018 017 2018 017 2018 017 2018 2017 2018 017
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS00  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS(000
Tn TEn  TEr  ThAr  TRn  TEr  THrn  TEn  TEr  TEr TEn TEn
(Restated)
(E5)
Depreciation i 12 - 936 - 760 76 156 18 4 2 1868 %4
Unallocated depreciation ~ #AFHE 489 167
Total depreciation i 2357 113
Loss on disposal of property, HENE - BER
plant and equipment Rk FE - - 256 - 67 - 9 0 - - 120 10
Effectve interest on TaRES 2
convertble bonds ik - - - - - - 18 5% - - 1% 5%
Qaltyasswancefind ~ EERES )/
(gain)loss, net BB FE 3671) 519 - - - - - - - - e s
Qualityassurance fund -~ BHEEERES
recovered (2,050) - - - - - - - - - (2,050 -
Witen down valieof ~ EEW(E
inventories - - - - 609 - - - - - 609 -
Writen offof inventories 2 43 - - - - 145 - - - - - 145 -
Impalrment of EHEERE
contract assets 2142 066 - - - - - - - - 2142 06h
Impairment of g5k
frade and other EHRIGRRE
receivables - - - - 16 - 38 - - - 54 -
Amortistion of G £
concession rights - - - - - - - 6N - - - 8471
Impairmen of RileRng
concession rights - - - - - - - R - - - B
Additions to Eip FI IS
MO"-CUITeNt 6536t - -0 - - I - - - g 1023 1
Unallocate K 158 1%
Totaladditons to ERBEEENEE
nof-current asses 0390 137
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER(E)

(d) Geographical information

(e)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas
- the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

(d) #E&EH

AREE 7 X EZURRER—
REE-

AEBREBWRE D 2 REINGFEF
ZWEFIREEMRE N ZIERBDEE
EREBET:

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
RENHEFE 2= EREBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET FHET FAT
(Restated)
(&)
The PRC e 50,651 17,133 9,078 1,493
Hong Kong A 2,416 2,228 1,236 1,335
53,067 19,361 10,314 2,828
Information about major customers (e) XEXEFZEHR

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, none
of the customers with revenue was accounted for more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

HE2018F M2017F12A318 IEFE -
BMERp s WS EAEE BN 210%
LA E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

7 "OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), 7 HttWARWzE (FE)  FHE

NET
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FET
(Restated)
(re&E5)
Other income: HAA -
Bank interest income AT H B YA 178 14
Interest income B YA - 4
Interest income on BEARBHESABENEREE
financial assets at FVPL 9 FI 2 M A 111 -
Waiver of other payables A% H th B 1 5RIR - 3,057
Government grant 53 77 B 533 -
Sundry income MIEWA - 154
822 3,229
Other gains/(losses), net: Hihlgzs,/ (F518) JF8:
Net foreign exchange gains bE 5 W 2 5 58 626 42
Quality assurance fund gain/(loss), net BEEREFS K= (E8E) F8 3,671 (5,119)
Quality assurance fund recovered BREESRES 2,050 -
Written down value of inventories FERE (609) -
Written off of inventories FEME (145) -
Impairment of contract assets ABHEERE (2,142) (666)
Impairment of trade and 8 5 N H b e W IR BB
other receivables (54) -
Other losses HtEE (6) -
3,391 (5,743)
4,213 (2,514)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

FINANCE COSTS 8 H#BA
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Effective interest on convertible bonds AR ES 2 BEEREF & 1,846 5,593
INCOME TAX CHARGE/(CREDIT) 9 FEBIEAX(EK)
(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss () REZBRZMEHR
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FH T
current tax BV ER %R 18
- PRC Corporate Income Tax —HEPEMST 3,934 355
Under-provision in prior years BEFERBTR
- PRC Corporate Income Tax —FRBEEMREH 1,302 -
Deferred tax (note 27) EEFIE (M7E27) (304) (16,068)
Total income tax charge/(credit) RIBRERNTERES
recognised in profit or loss (%) 458 4,932 (15,713)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the Lt RE BB RS TR 5T ERT
estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision Yta T 3% 7 K16.5%5T & o B il /@ F
for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the Group REEIW WA B BEE S RIUERT &
had no assessable profits arising in or derived from A A EE B BN ST EHEE -
Hong Kong for both years.
Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate RIFFRBERTEE PRI E R R A
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% BEFEsLEMSH ([EMEH])
for both years. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions BERRB25% - Bl EERES ZTIE
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant TR RERER 2RITHEFE -

jurisdictions.
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INCOME TAX CHARGE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

9 F/BEX/ (ER) (&)

Income tax recognised in profit or loss (a) RERBERZFEH (&)
(Continued)
The tax charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled REFZHERS (ER)HEiERE418
to the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated TaRhEMEEBRARFTRBEAI GRS
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive (B1E) 2HERENT
income as follows:
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Profit/(loss) before tax BrFLRTEF (E8) 17,869 (87,084)
Tax at applicable tax rate R 458 A E25%:1 B
of 25% (2017: 25%) 218 (20174 : 25% ) 4,467 (21,771)
Tax effect on different tax rate of group RE Al AEREIE 2
entities operating in SEHERBITRABEzZE
other jurisdictions 888 3,595
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  NA[ 31 2 BB 2
for tax purpose 1,427 6,859
Tax effect of income not taxable for TR A 2 T IE 5 2
tax purpose (6,157) (3,715)
Under-provision in prior years BEFEREBETR 1,302 -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised H®IER 2 HIEEIB 2 1B £ 3,005 3
Utilisation of tax losses previously FRBARERBIAESE
not recognised - (684)
Income tax charge/(credit) for the year AEEFREHRES, (ER) 4,932 (15,713)
Income tax recognised directly in equity (b) EERERERAZIBH
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
CIT: EMEN:
Waiver of amount due to HeEN — MR EER AR
an intermediate holding company 2 5RIA = (529)
Over-provision in prior year BAFEHBRERE 149 -
149 (529)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 ILFE

10 PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 10 XEERF(EBR)

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Profit/(loss) for the year has been FEHEF (E8) HEmkk,/
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (5T A) THEEEBE T
Cost of inventories recognised as EERARI 2 FEERAE
an expense (included in cost of (FTASHE MR A)
sales and services) 1,638 5,228
Auditor’'s remuneration Z B B 2 1,000 1,500
Employee benefits expense EERNER (TEEEEM2)
(excluding directors’ emoluments)
- Salaries, bonus and other benefits —Fe EARAEMEYREF
in kind 12,727 6,247
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RRBERETEIH R
schemes 1,627 295
Directors’ emoluments EEHE 1,206 2,655
Total staff costs 8 TR 15,560 9,197
Minimum lease payments paid under BRI REFEERE 2
operating leases in respect of EfNxERS
land and buildings 8,315 2,518
Depreciation of property, WE -BELRREZINE
plant and equipment 2,357 1,133
Quality assurance fund (gain)/loss, net BeRES (R BHE F8 (3,671) 5,119
Quality assurance fund recovered BEEERES (2,050) -
Amortisation of concession rights FRETAC & e 3R = 6,471
Impairment of trade and other receivables & 5 & H b & W FIE 8 (& 54 -
Loss on disposal of property, LEVE BERSEBZER
plant and equipment 420 102
Impairment of concession rights FFEriE R E - 58,239
Written down value of inventories FERE 609 -
Impairment of contract assets ABHEERE 2,142 666
Written off of inventories 7 E s 145 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 11 ES#E
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2017: MAH (2017F : +5)ES LT HER 2 B
ten) directors were as follows: W

Salaries  Contributions
and other to retirement

benefits benefits
Fees in kind schemes Total
&R BIREA
e HouBENEF TEIHES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER THER TAER
2018 20185
Executive directors HTEZ
Sun Haitao %ER - 360 18 378
Zhao Ke £ - 360 18 378
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
song Ke PN 150 - - 150
Wu Bo RK 150 - - 150
Michael Yu Tat Chi RES 150 = = 150
450 720 36 1,206
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 1 EEME (&)

MA% (20174 +8) EEXT BN Z B
BT (&)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five
(2017: ten) directors were as follows: (Continued)

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits benefits
Fees in kind schemes Total
Hek RIKEH
we E4EDEN AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TET AT
2017 2017
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao (note (i)) %8 (M5a) - 30 2 32
Zhao Ke (note (i)) R (P EE()) - 30 2 32
Leung Ngai Man (note (ii)) 25 (KI5 - 2,000 6 2,006
Wu Wei Hua (note (i) BATE (FFEE() - 400 8 408
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Song Ke (Note (iii)) A (B () 50 - - 50
Wu Bo (Note (i) SO (PR EE(i)) 50 - - 50
Michael Yu Tat Chi (Note (iii) RES (M) 50 - - 50
Xuan Hong (Note (iv)) 74T (B3E(Y) - - - -
Qi Ji (Note (iv)) B2 (MEEv)) - - - -
Cai Wei Lun (Note (iv)) &R (M) 27 - - 27
177 2,460 18 2,655
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

11 "DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five
(2017: ten) directors were as follows: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Appointed on 17 August 2017.
(i) Resigned on 17 August 2017.
(iii) Appointed on 31 August 2017.

(iv) Resigned on 31 August 2017.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, since
the appointment of chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief
executive officer of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

12 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Employee benefits expense (excluding
directors’ emoluments)

11 EEME (£2)

AA % (20176 +8) EE T BN Z B
ST (&)

MERE

(i) 201768 A17BER(E -

(i) M201748A17EEHE -

(i) M2017F8A3NBEZE(E-

(iv) 201748 A31HBHE -

R E Z20184F &20174 128318 L& - &

RARBRARRETHRAEE WA ESA AR
NATHREHME -

REANTEBELLHEUAREESH I RAER
SRS (2017F : &) o

12 EEM=E

(a) BERANER (ESMEERN)

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries and other benefits in kind T hkEMEYREF 12,418 6,180
Contributions to retirement benefits iR {RIEF 5t &I %

schemes 1,627 295

Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 309 67

14,354 6,542
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

12 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12 EEME (&)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEEEHEES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments RAEBERE&ERTREREY —F
in the Group, one (2017: two) was a director of the (20175 MB) BRERAIZEE BE
Company whose emoluments are included in the S ER EXE1 s EEAN BT
disclosure in note 11 above. The emoluments of the mE (20175 =8 ) &= T EE 2 e

remaining four (2017: three) individuals were as follows: BT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
& FET
Salaries and other benefits in kind e MEMEYER 2,767 1,481

Contributions to retirement benefits R KIE R 5T 2 ¢t 5

schemes 58 34
Discretionary bonuses BETELL 236 56
3,061 1,571

Number of individuals

EE®E
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
& T T
Emoluments bands i 2 %8 [
Nil = HK$1,000,000 4 — 1,000,000/ 7T 4 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7¢ — 1,500,000/ 7T = -
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12 "EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

202

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
nor the five highest paid individuals, as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
approximately HK$150,000 was paid by the Group
to one of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group and
approximately HK$292,000 was paid by the Group to
two of the five highest paid individuals as compensation
for loss of office, of which approximately HK$140,000
was paid to Wu Wei Hua (former director of the
Company) and included in the disclosure in note 11.

12 BEEM= (&)

(b) EEBEHEE (&)

REZE2018F12A31H L FE - AEEH
BEREESAARsFEEI e
TERSEIMAREBSMARE B
BB S IERBEEAEIE -

HZE20177F12A318 EFE - AEEM
T E&EmFEEFN —E2XNMEL
150,000/ 7T 1 /& &% By il A 7R & & =i 7
MAREEE 2825 RASERASE
&= B BHE B AW B 2 AT £9292,000
BITERBERA(E - B4 49140,000% 7T
TR THREZE(ARAINES)LHA
M 1ME i 5 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

13 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

13 8RER (FH8)

ADAEE A ESRERRBERF, (5
18) TR TSI B A

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T T
Earnings/(loss) BF,/ (BR])
Earnings/(loss) for the year attributable to  BEfEEREALEERF
owners of the Company for the purposes (E18) M5 2 AFEE AR A
of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per HHARGRT, (EE)
share 16,197 (48,293)
Number of shares (thousands) BEHE (FR)
Weighted average number of ordinary HAEERERNRESRF
shares for the purposes of basic and (BlR)Ms @Rz
diluted earnings/(loss) per share hniEe 58 4,668,181 4,098,660

The computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share did not
assume the exercise of the Company’s potential ordinary
shares granted under the Company’s convertible bonds since
their exercise and conversion would have an anti-dilutive
effect.

14 DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

AESREERN (BR)E BRRBEX
AR RBESFEENARREEEBRR
B RARARITERLBLAERES

=P
rEC

14 B2

XA B M BE A E=20184F 122017412 A318
I EEEIRTARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 W% -BERRE

204

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
B R ERR HE
REE BAERE WEEE @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET AT
Cost A&
Balance at 1 January 2017 R201751A18 2 &% 895 4,467 1,494 6,856
Additions B - 103 1,274 1,377
Disposals HE (373) (1,010 - (1,383)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHF 2

differences Iyl 244 107 392
Balance at 31 December 2017 and R2017512 4318 &

1 January 2018 2018F1 818 2 Kt 563 3,804 2,875 7,242
Additions NE - 191 10,199 10,390
Disposals & (131) (984) (256) (1,371)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHy 2

differences (15) (114) (431) (560)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A318 2 &t 417 2,897 12,387 15,701
Accumulated depreciation and ENFERAEE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2017 R2017F1818 2 &% (663) (3,258) (499) (4,420)
Written back on disposals HE&E 372 909 - 1,281
Depreciation expense TERE (53) (415) (665) (1,133)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHEy 2

differences (26) (176) (55) (257)
Balance at 31 December 2017 and R2017512A318 &

1 January 2018 2018F1 A1H 2 #8 (370) (2,940) (1,219) (4,529)
Written back on disposals 1 & &[0l 65 882 - 947
Depreciation expense NERX (78) (433) (1,846) (2,357)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHF 2

differences 11 91 100 202
Balance at 31 December 2018 2018124318 2 &% (372) (2,400) (2,965) (5,737)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A318 2 # 45 497 9,422 9,964
Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017F12 8318 2 &84 193 864 1,656 2,713
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

16 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 16 BAREBEEFSTAEMGZEKRAN
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE TREE
INCOME
HK$'000
T

Balance at 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 and R2017F 1818 ~2017F 128318 &

1 January 2018 (Original stated) 2018F 1 A1B 2 &8 (R27]) -

Effect on adoption of HKFRS 9 (note 2(a)(i)) RN E BTN EREERFRNTE
(B 5E2(a)() )

— Reclassification from club debenture —BEMESFENHE 115
— Fair value change —AREEED 205
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Restated) M2018F1 818 2 &8 (LE5) 320
Fair value change NABEEES 30
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H Z 4 350
The fair value is within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (note NABEBRAABESAMNE & (M
32(c)). 32(c)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

CONCESSION RIGHTS

17 1Eri8E R

HK$'000
T T
Cost R AR
Balance at 1 January 2017 MR2017F1 818 2 & 2,254,098
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREBEE 162,430
Balance at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 201712 A31H K2018F1 A1 2 & ¢4 2,416,528
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EHEZRETE (111,100)
Balance at 31 December 2018 MR2018F 12 A318 2 & 4 2,305,428
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Rt #EREE
Balance at 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 2 # % (2,193,518)
Amortisation expense R (6,471)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REGRERZREEE (58,239)
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREREE (158,300)

Balance at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

MR2017F12A318 K2018F1 H1H 2 84 (2,416,528)

Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EHEETE 111,100
Balance at 31 December 2018 MR2018F 124318 2 &4 (2,305,428)
Carrying amounts BREE

Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F 124318 2 # 4 -
Balance at 31 December 2017 MR2017F12A31H 2 & &4 -
Note: B 5

The amount of concession rights represents the value in use of contractual BACEE BN ANREEERTERAR ([RY
rights stated in the cooperation agreements that Shenzhen Huancai Puda LTEDBRRERGEZALBMREESHAEEETHL
Technology Company Limited* (“Huancai Puda”) CEIIRF BRI AR A T) RN AERBEMEANEN ZERBEE - NEREHME
entered into with several lottery issuing centres for providing software system KRB IR AR RS MR ER 2 -

and technical services. At the end of each reporting period, the concession
rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.

# English name is for identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

CONCESSION RIGHTS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The carrying amount of concession rights is amortised on a straight-line
method over the period over three to eight years in accordance with the terms
of the cooperation agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the management of the Group
has performed an impairment assessment on the lottery business’s CGU
which has reflected the reassessment of the management as well as the
latest business environment and market conditions in the PRC in which the
lottery business's CGU operated. As at 31 December 2017, the recoverable
amount of the concession rights was assessed by the directors with reference
to the professional valuation as at 31 December 2017 performed by an
independent professionally qualified valuer. The recoverable amount of the
lottery business’'s CGU has been determined based on value in use calculation.
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on most recent financial
budgets approved by the management after taking into account the operation
environment and market conditions at that point of time covering a five-
year period with zero growth rate, and pre-tax discount rate of 21%. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculation are those regarding the discount
rate, growth in revenue and direct costs during the periods. The management
estimates discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the CGU. In performing the impairment
testing, the directors of the Company have made reference to a valuation
performed by an independent professionally qualified valuer. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recognised impairment loss of
approximately HK$58,239,000 in relation to concession rights allocated to the
CGU associated with the lottery business.

17 B EE (&

MiEE: (&

FRIEE R REEREAEHR 2 IERBREREN=
ENFEZ R

HE2017F12A31ALFE ASEEREC EHMTER
REFE (KEEB2RESESBMSEMENR) RFE
¥RERUMERRAZEEEB 2R SEEBEMETR
BT - M2017F12A318 » BFaF &1 2 ATl B & 5L
ER2EMB LB ESERGEEMMR2017F12A318 #
TZEEGEEMELTE - KREBRELEM KD
SHEDREEREENEAET - ZAEEFRENER
EBARitELELEER CRERAFHH)MEEABRERTR
MEE ROV BEENRSREEA EREXAT K
RIBRIR R B21% st B REE X2 BE T EE IR
AR WRERREEXAEE EEEGSH
B ZEBERRMREEEERREEZE NS TE AR
BeEEEMZBEERR - #ITHENAR ARRES
E2EBUHEEGERMEEMEL 2 E - KREZE20174F
RANBLEFE AEERSIREELEEBFA2RS
BE A B R R A R TE SRURL(E B5 18 4958,239,0007%8 T ©

INVENTORIES 18 &
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T T
Raw materials A H 742 991
Work in progress wEIRE - 326
Finished goods 2UpK 368 116
1,110 1,433
Written down value of inventories FERE (588) -
522 1,433
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

INVENTORIES (Continued)

Movements on the Group's written down value of inventories

are as follows:

18 F& (#&)

AEEGFEEREZFIT:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FE T
Balance at 1 January P A1E M & - -
Written down value of inventories for FREFERE (MFE10)
the year (note 10) 609 -
Effect of foreign currency exchange EHERETE
differences (21) -
Balance at 31 December R12A31H B & &k 588 -
QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 19 ERRENEERER
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
(i) Quality assurance fund receivables (i) EREERIED
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FiE T
Gross amount: FLE
Balance at 1 January MTATBN&E & - -
Fair value of newly written quality FEERFETHNAAEBE
assurance obligation 38,468 8,942
Contribution received from borrowers &3 AHE (26,105) (8,942)
Effect of foreign currency EHEBETE
exchange difference (450) -
Balance at 31 December R12A3MB B &8 11,913 -
Impairment allowance WERE (1,290) -
Carrying amount REE 10,623 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

19 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 19 ERRENEERES (F)
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)
(i) Quality assurance fund receivables (i) EREERESE (&)
(Continued)
Movements on the Group's provision of quality AEBERESRESNEBEEEZS D
assurance fund receivables are as follows: ™
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$"000
F& T FHTT
Balance at 1 January W1 A18 B & - -
Impairment for the year FARE 1,339 -
Effect of foreign currency exchange EHEBETE
difference 2! -
Balance at 31 December R12A31H & 1,290 -
(ii) Quality assurance fund payables (i) ENEERIES
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$"000
F&T FHTT
Balance at 1 January W1 A1E B & = -
Fair value of newly written quality FEEERFEENAAEE
assurance obligation 38,468 8,942
Release of the margin R RE ® (5,010) (715)
Payouts during the year, net FANRSFHE (19,252) (14,276)
Provision for quality assurance HERBESEERE
fund loss - 5,834
Effect of foreign currency R ERETE
exchange difference (518) 215
Balance at 31 December 128318 B & & 13,688 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

20 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

210

LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets

20 SHNEERGHNERE

(@) EHNEE

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FABTT

Contract assets BHEE 26,467 666
Impairment allowance B (2,730) (666)
contract assets, net EHEEFH 23,737 -

The Group receives payments from borrowers over
the term of the loan. Contract asset represents the
Group's right to consideration in exchange for services
that the Group has provided. A substantial majority of
the Group’s contract assets as at 31 December 2018
would be realised within the next twelve months as the
weighted average term of the arrangements where the
Group is not the loan originator were less than twelve
months. The Group determined there is no significant
financing component for its arrangements where the
Group is not the loan originator.

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

AEBEEFRHRAKEERANN
R AKEERAN KRB A EUREUA R E
AREEEFERFORE - HRAEH
I IEE R EE B LB IR P B IR
PR+ @A NREER2018F12/31
BRBRIDBHEE/NAK+ =@
AREHE AEERS RAKEIL I
ERERMENRIEMS AEENRE
X5 o

AEBEEHEEREREZSHOT

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Balance at 1 January RTATB & 666 -

Impairment for the year FNRE 2,142 666
Effect of foreign currency exchange ERZEFE

difference (78) -

Balance at 31 December W12 A31H M &8 2,730 666
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

20 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20 EHNEEREGHNEE (&)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) cContract liabilities (b) &HEE
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
20185 20174 20174
12H31H 12A31H 1H1H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT FHT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (#&E75)
Contract liabilities GHERE 143 197 126
The contract liabilities are mainly from sports training EHBEZZERABBAEINRRY K&
business. The Group receives payments from students ErEREsIRRERAEAREELSE
in advance before commencement of sports training e
courses.
Revenue recognised in relation to contract BN EEHENEERUA
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIREZE2018F12A31H IEFEH
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018 EHRWAFRELES B EMRBEHK
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. Ae
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
B ZE2018%F B ZE20174F
12A31H 12H31H
LEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue recognised that was FAFVINE N A BEEHT
included in the contract liabilities EEEM\H&)\
balance at the beginning of the year
Provision of sports training services 122 5 5l BR AR 75 197 126
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It F &

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 ESREMEWRFIE

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TATT

Trade receivables 8 5 ' WFIE 145 48

Deposits and other receivables 2 e & H fth fE W IR 4,957 4,199
Less: allowance for doubtful debts for B R R EMERGRIARRR G

deposits and other receivables (29) -

4,928 4,199

Prepayments AT FRIE 1,775 745

Less: allowance for doubtful debts B TE B RER B S

for prepayments (22) -

1,753 745

Total trade and other receivables B 5 & H b EWRIARRE 6,826 4,992
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

BEZRHMEBWRE (£)

(Continueq)

Trade receivables comprise of income receivables from
apartment leasing, sale of smart wearable devices, provision
of financial technology services, sale of lottery equipment
and provision of management, marketing, and operating
services for lottery system and lottery halls, and provision of
sports training services.

The credit terms granted to customers are varied and
are generally the result of negotiation between individual
customer and the Group. 1% per day is charged on overdue
trade receivables in respect of provision of financial
technology services and no interest is charged on overdue
trade receivables in respect of apartment leasing services,
sale of smart wearable devices, sale of lottery equipment,
provision of management, marketing and operating services
for lottery system and lottery halls and provision of sports
training services.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective revenue recognition
dates:

HEHRUFABRARHEE HELTEFH
B RUESBRERE HEXRRE LR
FERGER 2HRE VRHEEANEZE
AR 7% K he (L B8 A oI AR AR 7% & FE MR IR UL -

e

s

BRYEFPONEERIRBERATE DHEREP S
AEBENHEAR - RE S RBHIRS 0B
B ZRWFIAES A REI%NME - MAasHE
Bl HETRTRREG HELERE
REXEZREE Z2HRBEEREHEEK
BEERGREHRESIMRRBNAMES
P& Uit 3R TR B AN U BRI B, ©

AT R ERE DB 5 BBREN DT
TR EERBEHE:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
0 - 30 days 02 30H 67 27
31— 60 days 31260H 78 M
61— 90 days 61£E90H - 6
Over 90 days 90H Mk - 4
145 48
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective revenue recognition
dates: (Continued)

BEZRHEMEBEWRRE (£)

AT E DB 5 BEAEN DT
W aEER B2 (&)

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T T

Past due but not impaired 28 B KRB
— overdue by 1 - 30 days —#HI1E30H 67 27
- overdue by 31 - 60 days —#Hi31E60H 78 11
- overdue by 61 - 90 days —#Hi61E90H - 6
— overdue 90 days or above — B HA90 H g LA + - 4
145 48

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see
above for aged analysis) which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised
an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances
nor does it have a legal right to offset against any amounts
owed by the Group to the counterparties.

EXHRBENE SRV FBBRERREHARD
BHmMAKE R RERREES (RENE
EERWEB RS ARBRDEAR R KE)
e (REITE2R LX) - AEEW R
ZERBHBEEANERRIEMILREERE
e MEBAREREERSF HOERSEE
HIHE A AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 EZRHMEWRE (&)
(Continued)
Movements of the Group's provision for impairment of trade AEBEZREMERRIEBZ REBREEZD
and other receivables are as follows: mR
(a) Deposits and other receivables (a) ZEE& Rk H i EWFRIE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHE T
Balance at 1 January 118 B & - 2,000
Amount written off as uncollectible M sE AR B S 5E - (2,000)
Impairment loss recognised FAERE R EEE
during the year 31 -
Effect of foreign currency EREREE
exchange difference (2) -
Balance at 31 December R12A318 W& & 29 -
(b) Prepayments (b) FEASFE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
& T T
Balance at 1 January 1818 &g = -
Impairment loss recognised FRNERIBEEE
during the year 23 -
Effect of foreign currency ENERTE
exchange difference (1) -
Balance at 31 December 128318 B & & 22 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It F &

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 22 W FENEEATRE
COMPANIES
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Amounts due from related companies FEUREE N 7 KB
- current — BN &R
— Amount due from a related company — R — R ERE 2 A
(note (1)) (PR EEG) ) = 574
— Amount due from a non-controlling — PR — BT B R A 2 FEHE AR b 25
interest of a subsidiary (note (ii) 2 FIE (BEE) ) 6,978 1,500
— Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — W —HERRWEB AR ZRIE
(note (ii)) (B L)) 1,394 -
Amounts due to related companies  FE{JBIE R FKE
- current — BN &R
- Amount due to an intermediate holding  —EfR —RF EIER A R 2 I8
company (note (ii)) (B FEG)) 598 598
- Amount due to a non-controlling interest — FEfT — R B B & 7] 2 FEIE AR i =5
of a subsidiary (note (ii)) 2 A (B =EC)) 247 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

22 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 22 EW ERBEARRE (&)

COMPANIES (Continued)

Notes: B 5

(i) The amount was due from 4t 7 7 B B 22 {5 S 22 R 4il 5 IR 2 &), which 0] WL R B RS 25 E R R AR A B8R IE
is unsecured, interest bearing at 10% per annum and repayable on REER BRFRI0% T ERERERERE-BE
demand. The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended 31 2017F12ANA L FERIERFHEABHKE
December 2017 is approximately HK$574,000 in relation to the non- BERE BN ASL000B T RERLTERER
trade balances. Mr. Sun Haitao, a substantial shareholder, the chairman AIEZRR EFERWTES BRI RHBRERE
and executive director of the Company has beneficial interests in 4t 3 EERMEMARAREEEm i

B EEERBERMARRIE.

(i) The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on (i) ZREERR RO RBRERER
demand.
23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23 BAREBEFAEZNEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T FET
Financial assets at FVPL BEARBEFABRRNEHEE
- Wealth management products — B8 Em 22,058 -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FHTT
Balance at 1 January R1TATB &8 - -
Additions NE 22,892 -
Effect of foreign currency exchange fEHEETE
difference (834) .
Balance at 31 December R12A31H W &4 22,058 -
The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (note EARBEEANEEERNE =R (T
32(c)). 32()) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

24 RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND BANK

218

24 ZRHERE RERBITHER

BALANCES
(a) Restricted cash (a) ZRFIAL
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Cash in quality assurance fund EERBEEHNRS 6,833 -

(b)

Cash in quality assurance fund is cash managed by the
Group for the default payouts. There is no other use of
these funds except for making payments to investor for
default loans that are subject to quality assurance fund.

HERESNRE/AKEFRRZONK
MEENRE -BRUZRNEERESR
MENERAREEELNFRIN %ZF
BeWEAMAE-

cash and bank balances (b) BERBITHEER
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFHEIRSE 18,369 59,173

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

Included in cash at banks and in hand of the Group
is approximately HK$4,996,000 (2017: HK$12,172,000)
of bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB")
and placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

PITEBUG R RTHEF LRI S
IR A8 -

REEHRTERFER2F L
4,996,0007 7T (20174 : 12,172,000
T RSRITEBEUARE (AR ])
SHEWF R A EBRT ARBTE
BRABRAEMEY MEKREPBEINE
EHREEERGOIRINEEERTE
REETRBEENEIINEEBHIRT
BARBABBEMER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 ESRHEHMEMAFIE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables =Y ANE e 1,910 98
Other payables and accruals HEf B REFER 6,709 7,683
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind &5+ % Bl & B 0 B W12 7 1,451 1,064
Total trade and other payables B o REMERNRIBRARE 10,070 8,845
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based RMERER BZRERAEREEHH

on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HERER D AT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 1,157 24
31 - 60 days 31260H 315 5
61 - 90 days 61£290H 100 6
Over 90 days HBiB90R 338 63
1,910 98
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

26 AR ES

2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FH&TT

At 1 January R1A1H 49,516 43,923

Interest expense* BRI 1,846 5,593

Conversion during the year REZEKR (37,594) -

At 31 December R12A31H 13,768 49,516
* Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of * FBERTEERFER1273%T ABEIHS

12.73% to the liability component.

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately
664,580,000 (adjusted for the share consolidation as effected
on 27 February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated
convertible bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a
former substantial shareholder, former chairman and former
executive director of the Company. The convertible bonds
have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
can be convertible into one ordinary share of the Company
at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible bonds at
the holder’s option (adjusted for the share consolidation as
effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion may occur at any
time between 27 August 2010 and 26 August 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
was presented in equity as part of the “convertible bonds
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
component for the convertible bonds on initial recognition
was 17.35% per annum.

F20105F8 A » A A [ A & Al = ZROR
AEFERAPTEERBEE (TREE])
B 17 89664,580,00017 (£¢ 7201262 H27H
ERE DA PR BT ET AR
P&z - AT RES B % TRMEF SHR
FoAHFEAEREREN1.208 T BMRIE
FIEEF0.0058 T ER LB /AR —K
BB (81201292 A27 B AMB B &
FTaR %) - 58 A pA201068 A27H £2015
FEA26E B M E IR 1T 4k -

AR E S AR D AR - R R ERIAE -
VRS EDA B RN ER A E AR
B B — B0 - V] E MR A B AR
BHERESBDNERMNESFE17.35% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

26 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 26 ABERESR (EF)

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 executed
between the Company and Mr. Leung, pursuant to which the
Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend the maturity date
of the convertible bonds for 5 years from the date falling on
the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year from the
date of issue of the convertible bonds. The Supplemental
Deed was approved by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3
November 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components upon the
extension: liability and equity elements. The equity element
on recognition was presented in equity as part of the
“convertible bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the liability component for the convertible bonds on
recognition is 12.73% per annum.

In January 2016, the Company early redeemed 8,400,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$10,080,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$389,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$258,000 has been debited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

RARGINAFTRZE ([HRRE] - AN r) i
R AER2015F8A24BHE) Bt AR
AIMREEREBTBRRESHIPAHRE
RREFZTANTRAFEAERESF
EMTFER WARLEEEIRRN2015
FNMASHRTHARABREREIAS Lt
o o

AR EFNEREAMEB AR BE R
BEAR TR ERIEE NIRRT
tE A ESEm ] 0 — 800 - M1 20 i
RABARRESAESONERNETREFEE
12.73% °

F2016F1 A - IR AT R IR E H 8 K R 1&
1 A A B[R R % £ 17 7 & [018,400,00015 7]
RS E 5 (48201242 27 B A 3 %D
A BFETFAE) - 424X (8 A10,080,0007% It - fE
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26 WMRES (&)

In April 2016, the Company early redeemed 12,500,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$15,000,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$257,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$192,000 has been credited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

In June 2016, the Company early redeemed 9,170,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$11,004,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$10,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$510,000 has been credited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

In January 2018, Mr. Leung exercised the option to convert
the convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
at as effected on 27 February 2012) into 41,666,666 shares
at an exercise price of HK$1.2 per share. The carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component are
reduced by approximately HK$37,594,000 and HK$12,406,000,
respectively as a result of this exercise. No convertible bonds
were converted during the year ended 31 December 2017.

2016F 47 - IRIB AT R IR E H B E R R 1E
- AR A AR % 4 1R F & E112,500,00017 7]
PG & 5 (427201242 27 B £ 3 i D
A HETFAE) 424K (& A15,000,0007% 7T © IE
EleEEABESHREZBHEREEENZ
BE49257,0008 LBt AGABEREMEER
AR K #9192,00078 L E 7T A RRHEEBES -

2016F6 A + 1R & AT #2 B% 18 5 B 15 X & 1§
AR AR RS AR T EE9,170,00015 7
HRRAE SR (72012462 A27 B £ RS 5
A HETHAE) - 2 K(E A11,004,0007% 7T © BB
EleEEBEIHD RERBHEAREENZE
EE#J10,0008 LE AT AGREEBE R EM2E
WA K K #I510,000/8 LB 7F A RHEES -

M2018F 17 - R AT EERIZTEES
f%1.278 70 i Al R (E 2 (4201242 27
AERN RGN E AT ) iR R41,666,666
AR D - B ZIBITE - BEIH S RERE
S R EE 2 BIR 2 4937,594,0007% T &
12,406,0007% 7T » # £2017F 124318 IEF
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26 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

27

Imputed interest expenses of approximately HK$1,846,000
(2017: HK$5,593,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of the convertible bonds
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds amounted to approximately
HK$18,016,000 (2017: HK$68,016,000), which could be
convertible into 15,013,334 (2017: 56,680,000) ordinary
shares of the Company.

26 WmREZ (&)

HZE2018F12A3MBLEE - EETHRK
&% 85T B 5 32 491,846,0005% 7T (20174 :
5,593,000 7)) ENfr & B K H M 2 mE Uk
ARIER -

MR2018F12A31H Al MREHFH KREE
K& Y A18,016,000/8 7T (20174 ¢
68,016,000/ 7T ) - A] 8842 /&15,013,334%
(20174 : 56,680,0000% ) AN A &) & 38 ¥

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27 EEHREEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities balances UTRREMRBEFERRNEZRLTR
recognised and movements thereon during the current and HEE#EBpRAEZE):
prior years:
Concession  Convertible
rights bonds Total
SRR ARRES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHETT T T
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 15,145 3,975 19,120
Credit to profit or loss (note 9(a)) & AEz (KiFE9(@)) (15,145) (923) (16,068)
At 31 December 2017 and MR2017F 128318 &

1 January 2018 2018F1H1H - 3,052 3,052
Credit to profit or loss (note 9(a)) s Az (FtzE9(a)) - (304) (304)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A31H - 2,748 2,748
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27 EEHEERE (&)

Under the PRC corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, no deferred tax
liabilities for withholding tax have been recognised as the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries incurred accumulated losses for the
period since 1 January 2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$15,950,000 (2017:
HK$13,764,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profit of that subsidiary is due to expire within one to
five years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$51,140,000 (2017: HK$51,069,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

RIEF BB EMSHE - B2008F 118
Bt R BT B A R BREUAY &R A FT B R F AR BB
B TE N - 1020184 2017 12R31H -
MR AEERH R EAEB2008F1718
REBANELEREEER WU ERBENHE
RIELERIBEEE-

RmEHER AEEBREZHEESEEN
N [ AR BT B A Al A ET R BV BLIA S
8 #915,950,0007% 7T (20174 : 13,764,000/%
JC) AR G AR BT BB R B A R R FEER B s
M R—ZTFRER MAEEB R
&) A 75 18 k598 4951,140,0007% 7T (20174 :
51,069,000/ 7T ) - A] (LK 85 7 MR B A5 62 1)
AR 2R ) o BB A SR AR TR BT AR 2R R 2RR - il
WER G ABDANEEERREETIEE
E&Eo
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28 SHARE CAPITAL - ORDINARY SHARES 28 BMAR-—ZER
Number of Share
shares capital
REER S
‘000 HK$'000
F i FHET
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, M2017F1 818 2017128318 »
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, 20181 H1H %2018 12A318 -
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each &R 1E0.0057 7T /) & 33 A% 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAZ:
At 1 January 2017, ordinary shares of R2017F 1418
HK$0.005 each A% {50.0057% 7T 1 I 8 A% 3,120,035 15,600
Conversion of non-redeemable convertible 5 # ~ ] & [ 7] #2 §% (& 5t A%
preferred shares (note (i) (BHEEG) ) 1,003,333 5,017
Exercise of share options (note (ii)) 1T AR (B EEGI) 116,000 580
Issue of new ordinary shares (note (iii) BEITHE I AR (BIREGN)) 390,000 1,950
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018, 720174128318 &2018F 1818 -
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each XA 1E0.0057 7T /) 38 A% 4,629,368 23,147
Exercise of convertible bonds (note (iv)) TEATB|RES (i) 41,667 208
At 31 December 2018, ordinary shares of ~ #2018%12H318 -
HK$0.005 each A% M {50.0057% 7T 1) 3 i@ Ak 4,671,035 23,355
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28 SHARE CAPITAL - ORDINARY SHARES
(Continued)

226

Notes:

0]

(iif)

On 11 April 2017, Mr. Leung and 51RENPIN.COM INC. (“51RENPIN") had
entered into a convertible preferred share purchase agreement (the
“Agreement”) pursuant to which Mr. Leung agreed to sell, and 51RENPIN
agreed to acquire, 1,003,333,333 convertible preferred shares at the
consideration of HK$82,273,333.31, being HK$0.082 per convertible
preferred share. It was further stated in the Agreement that 51RENPIN
shall, immediately upon completion of the sale and purchase of the
convertible preferred shares, exercise its conversion rights attaching to
the convertible preferred shares to convert all the convertible preferred
shares into ordinary shares. Completion of the Agreement took place on
the same day.

Immediately after the completion of the sale and purchase of the
convertible preferred shares and pursuant to the terms of the
Agreement, the Company received a notice of conversion from
51RENPIN in respect of the exercise of conversion rights attaching
to all the convertible preferred shares of the Company. As a result of
the exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the 1,003,333,333
convertible preferred shares, 1,003,333,333 ordinary shares of HK$0.005
each in the capital of the Company were allotted and issued to
51RENPIN on 12 April 2017 (note 29).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, subscription rights attaching
to the share options to subscribe for 16,000,000 and 100,000,000
shares of the Company were exercised at the subscription price of
HK$0.087 per share and HK$0.105 per share, respectively (note 30),
resulting in the issuance of 116,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.005
each for a total cash consideration of approximately HK$11,892,000.

On 12 April 2017, the Company and 51RENPIN entered into a
subscription agreement (as amended by a side letter dated 23 April
2017 and a second side letter dated 16 June 2017) (the “Subscription
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company had conditionally agreed
to allot and issue, and 51RENPIN had conditionally agreed to subscribe
for 390,000,000 shares at the consideration of HK$31,980,000, being
HK$0.082 per share (the “Subscription”).

o

(iif)

28 RE-EBR (&

2017548118 - 2 % 4 K5TRENPIN.COM INC.
(T51RENPIN 1) 7T 37 A] # j {8 5t IR U B 17 = (5%
fakl) B REARE L EMSTRENPING
Z U #1,003,333,333 AT AR E LR RE A
82,273,333.317 7t B & iR 7] #2 iR 18 5¢ 1R0.0827%
Teozp@mE—FHL REBESTRRELR
FERK 1% + STRENPINGRE 17 {58 7] #2 iR 12 55 AR Mt %5 89 3%,
i BRI RRELARE IR AL BN - ZH
HERRAAZK-

REEEZTRBRELERTRELBREBEZHED
B ANR BEESTRENPINA 3 OB &1 5 H1T(E
ANAF 2 S AR E 5L IR 5 /0 5 IRk - A AT
1#1,003,333,3330% A #2 AR 18 0 AR BT A5 10 5 3 i - AR
A B P& A b 49 % TE fE0.0055% 7T #91,003,333,333/%
LRALE 2017454 512 B Bl 3 % 297 F51RENPIN
(Ft3E29) ©

>

REZE20177F 128318 LEF 5 - B8 AR BT I A9 3R
& 7K /2 816,000,000 % £ 100,000,000 % 17 #9 72
fERE L B IR 1% 150.087%8 7t & 8 IR iR 1£0.105% 7T
HRBEE D RIETTEE (M FE30) + 116,000,0000% &
fRO.005 T L MR AM T RESREHNA
11,892,000 7T

2017448128 - KA & EB51RENPINGT 37 2
WE (KA A2017F4A2BMM R B A
201766 A16B B % DM s LAERT) ([REE
Wal) B ARRAKGRERE RETM
51RENPINA 1§ 1 A & 52 B390,000,0000% % 15+ £
87331,980,000/%8 7t BN AR AR 190.0827%8 7T, ( [ 7R#
£HE]) -
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28 SHARE CAPITAL - ORDINARY SHARES
(Continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(Continued)

The resolution proposed at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 14 July 2017 (the "EGM") regarding the Subscription
and the granting of the specific mandate was duly passed by the
independent shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the EGM.

Oon 19 July 2017, 390,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each in
the capital of the Company were allotted and issued to 51RENPIN at
HK$0.082 per share. The exercise gave rise to an aggregate net proceed
of approximately HK$31,961,000.

On 24 January 2018, the Company received a conversion notice from
Mr. Leung to exercise the conversion rights attached to the outstanding
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$50,000,000. 41,666,666
shares, representing approximately 0.9% of the issued shares of
the Company as at 24 January 2018 and approximately 0.89% of
the enlarged issued shares of the Company immediately after the
conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. Leung on 26 January 2018 at
the conversion price of HK$1.2 per share.

28 RE-EBR (&

PyeE: (#%)

(iif)
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AABR2017F7R14B BITHRERRIAS ([H%
FERAE]) LIREEAERBEEREEERE
BOREREPABREFIAS LEAR BB LR
BUEERRFAEX BB

R2017F7 A198 + KA 7] #% 2 #7.390,000,0004% &
fi& T {E0.0055% 7T /) & 3@ AR B 12 5 1%0.082/%8 T Al 2%
K EATF5IRENPIN « 2 BT EE £ TS R IBFE
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M2018F 1248 AR RZEEREENERBA
=2 = g7 i R 7 A& & A50,000,000/% 7T & 7]
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SHARE CAPITAL - NON-REDEEMABLE 29 RA-FAEOa#REELER

CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES

Number of Share
shares capital
BB &R @S
‘000 HK$'000
T A% FHET
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, R2017F 1518 20177F12H4318 »
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, 2018F1H1H Kk2018%124318 -
preferred shares of HK$0.005 each & JE E{E0.0057%8 7T K18 o f% 2,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHBE:
At 1 January 2017, preferred shares of M201761 418 -
HK$0.005 each &% M E0.0057% JT By 8 7t % 1,003,333 5,017
Conversion of non-redeemable convertible ¥ #7~ 7] §& 6] 7] #2 (% & 5 I
preferred shares (note 28) (K15E28) (1,003,333) (5,017)

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 20174128318 &
and 31 December 2018, preferred shares  2018F1H1H &2018F12H31H -
of HK$0.005 each & 1% M {80.00578 7T K918 5t IR
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30 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’'s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted on 29 June 2007 for employee compensation. The
share option scheme was expired in June 2017 and the
Company did not adopt a new share option scheme upon
expiry of the Scheme.

The directors may at their absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants (“Eligible Participants”) to take up options to
subscribe for shares:

° any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of
the Group holds an equity interest;

. any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company,
any subsidiary or any Invested Entity;

° any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

° any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

° any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

° any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

° any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of the directors
of the Company has contributed or will contribute to
the growth and development of the Group;

30 LR XAHRS
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30 IRBIZNNRS (&)

(Continued)

. any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group; and

. for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer may be made
to any company wholly owned by one or more Eligible
Participants.

The share option scheme became effective on 2 July 2007
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, would remain
in force for 10 years from its date of adoption on 29 June
2007.

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group shall
not exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by
the Group if the grant of such option will result in the limit
being exceeded. Subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the aggregate number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time
to time.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options excluding, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of this Scheme and any
other option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of passing
the relevant resolution adopting the Scheme without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

s FERABLER FHBMBIHMEBL
B ASENEREMERCFH AR
A RE{E th B B (LA E b 4E B SRR Bl 2
HE: R

e BEEMF ARAEFNB-—RBXZEE
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2007F7 A28 A% WA E 4B E ()
2007F6A298 ) ET T+ FHIMAB B -

RIREH 8] EET 8 K AN 5 B R Ak # (] E Al
BREERONMESRITERITENE
Pt MITERA FRITNERENDEE T
BHIBA LA E S #ETARRAE30% © i %
HERBRESERBLHRE MTFRE
AT 8IS AR B R B (E ] B e B AR T 81X
HEB A < BRIESRIA R RIBCRILE - B AR
PRET B R AR B A (A At B A A R B R
MFT B ERITERRITERBBRERETER A
FTERITNARBARNEBRTEEBARFDT
By BB 1T R 1D #930% ©
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30 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30 UBRBA XN E (£Z)

(Continueq)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options and the options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Where any further
grant of options to a grantee under the Scheme would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1%
of the shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by shareholders of the Company in general
meeting with such grantee and his associates abstaining
from voting.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the share
option scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company to each of any eligible persons (including those
cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in any twelve
months period up to the date of the latest grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue provided
that the number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to each
of the independent non-executive directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates in the twelve months period up to the date
of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares
in issue and with a value in excess of HK$5 million must
be approved in advance by the Company's independent
shareholders. Any further grant of options in excess of such
limit must be separately approved by shareholders in general
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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30 'SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30 URAOXZFHRE (£Z)

(Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in
writing within 21 days from the date of the offer. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and should not be later than ten years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of
the Scheme, if earlier.

The subscription price is equal to the higher of (i) the nominal
value of the shares of the Company; (ii) the closing price per
share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant; and (iii) the average
closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

The fair value of share options granted is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
taking into account the probability that the options will vest
over the vesting period. Upon the exercise of the options,
the resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over the
nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company
in the share premium account. At the time when the share
options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
Options which lapsed, if any, prior to their exercise date are
deleted from the outstanding options.

All equity-settled share-based payments will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options.
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30 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Details of specific categories of share options are as follows:

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

B ERERNFROT:

30 IR ZNNRS (&)

Weighted
average
Exercise fair value at
Option type Date of grant Exercise period price grant date
RIELHBH
HY o0 ¥ F 35
B RS Rl £ BH TEHIMAE TEE A REE
2007 9 July 2007 9 July 2007 to 29 June 2017 1.4250* 0.4540*
20074 200747 A9H 20077 H9R =2017%F6 A29H
2007 22 August 2007 22 August 2007 to 29 June 2017 2.0300* 0.6375*
20074 200758 H22H 20078 H22H £2017%F 6 H29H
2008 10 July 2008 10 July 2008 to 29 June 2017 1.3280* 0.3555*
20084F 20087 A10H 200847 A10H £20179F6 8298
2013 10 October 2013 10 October 2013 to 29 June 2017 0.0870 0.0261
20134 20134 10H10H 201310 108 £2017F 6 A29H
2014 25 March 2014 25 March 2014 to 29 June 2017 0.3640 0.2171
20144 201493 H25H 20143 H25H £2017F 6 A29H
2014 26 March 2014 26 March 2014 to 29 June 2017 0.3650 0.2048
20144 201493 H26H 20143 268 201796 298
2014 10 July 2014 10 July 2014 to 29 June 2017 0.2800 0.0726
20144 201457 108 20147 H10B 2201746 A298
2015 27 May 2015 27 May 2015 to 29 June 2017 0.2900 0.1484
20154 2015 5H27H 20155 27 H £2017F 6 A29H
2015 4 June 2015 4 June 2015 to 29 June 2017 0.2700 0.1210
20154 20156 A4H 2015F6 A48 £2017%F6A29H
2016 6 May 2016 6 May 2016 to 29 June 2017 0.1050 0.0406
20164 2016F5H6H 2016F5 H6A =2017F6 A29H

The Company measures the fair value of share options
granted to consultant by reference to the fair values of
services received.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH
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30 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30 URBXHXESE (&)

(Continued)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TEREEEHZ20177F12A31B L E—FER
share options during the previous year ended 31 December NEIERENES:
2017:
Granted Exercised Lapsed
Outstanding during during during Outstanding
Option type at 1/1/2017 the year the year the year  at 31/12/2017
20175 20175
1A1A8 12A318
BRERR e R AT B FERR FR1TE FREX e R AT
2007 9,600,000* - - (9,600,000)* -
20074
2007 8,200,000* - - (8,200,000 -
2007
2008 9,200,000* - - (9,200,000)* -
20084
2013 16,000,000 - (16,000,000) - -
2013%F
2014 32,000,000 - - (32,000,000) -
20145
2014 2,700,000 - - (2,700,000) -
20144
2014 20,000,000 - - (20,000,000) -
20145
2015 66,000,000 - - (66,000,000) -
2015%
2015 10,000,000 - - (10,000,000) -
20154
2016 100,000,000 - (100,000,000) - -
20165
273,700,000 - (116,000,0000  (157,700,000) -
Exercisable at the end of the year
RERAT{T6 -
Weighted average exercise price
MEFHTEE HK$0.345375 7t - HK$0.10257T  HK$0.5239% 7T -
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30 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

31

(Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s
share options during prior year: (Continueq)

116,000,000 share options have been exercised under the
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Options granted are fully vested at the date of grant.

All share options have been accounted for under HKFRS 2.
No share option was outstanding at the end of the year 2018
and 2017.

* The above information has been adjusted to reflect the effect of the
share consolidation on 27 February 2012 pursuant to which every 5 of
the existing issued and unissued shares of HK$0.001 each in the share
capital of the Company were consolidated into 1 consolidated share
of HK$0.005 each. Every 5 of the options were consolidated into 1
consolidated option and the exercise prices were adjusted accordingly.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are:

~  to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern;

- to provide an adequate return to shareholders; and

- to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost
of capital.

30 IR ZNNRS (&)
TREBEEZFARABERENES: (£F)
RELE20179F12A318 L F E - 116,000,000
BB R &TTE-
BREMBRENEREAHN2HEE -
FRAEBREEREE BN HREERF2RA
AR © 7020184F X 20174F R I £ i R 17 2 69 B8
Pt o

* FltERNE FHEE ARBMN2012F2 8278 &9 8%
DEFNTE Bt AARRAPTRRTHRE
BO.00TE TR A BT RAZITROA A —
A& FRRE(E0.0058 T & BHIR 15 - S A ERES
HhR—HEMHERE BTEENEDARERAE-
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31 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT(Continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders and issue new shares to
reduce its debt level.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
capital. Total borrowings are calculated as current and non-

31 EXERE (E)

BRBAFHBEEARE AEEAEEH
BRETRRMBRE EHE AR TIRR k3
TTH AR B BB KF

AEBELERREERRGRUNEAEARTE -1

AEERBEABBELRERAEELR-ZE
EE®
REMBRRERAR BEEARREEMT

current borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement MARIN RO RE RIERBEEFE  BE
of financial position and total capital is calculated as “total RAR [HERBEE] T8 -
equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
Gearing ratio EXBELER
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RBEHRAR - EXBELERET:
follows:
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Total borrowings BEBE 13,768 49,516
Total equity HEm B 61,667 7,376
Gearing ratio ERBELE 22% 671%
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32 €M T A

(a) categories of financial instruments (a) EWMIENESE

Financial assets THREE
2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial asset at FVOCI BARBEFAHMBE2EEAD
TREE 350 _
Club debenture 2MES - 115
Quality assurance fund receivables EWEERES 10,623 -
Contract assets BREE 23,737 -
Financial assets included in trade FTAE 5 K& H ith fE WRIE 2
and other receivables TREE 5,073 4,247
Amount due from a related company  fEUk —REIRE R &) 2 KA - 574
Amount due from a non-controlling FEU — P B A Al 2 FEE R R 2
interest of a subsidiary 2 IR 6,978 1,500
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary  fEUR—FREIE R B Q7 2 ZE 1,394 -
Financial assets at FVPL BEARBEFABRGNEHEE 22,058 -
Restricted cash ZIREIRE 6,833 -
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITER 18,369 59,173
Financial liabilities THEE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost;:  HE# KA EN SR A G :
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b e IE 10,070 8,845
Amount due to an intermediate JE —E R EIZER A G 2 FIE
holding company 598 598
Amount due to a non-controlling FET — M B AR 2 R =
interest of a subsidiary < FRIA 247 -
Convertible bonds R ES 13,768 49,516
FREBERERAT o 20185FFHK 237
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32 "FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

238

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of
operations and in its investment activities. The financial
risks include market risk (including foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group's short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to
financial markets. Long term financial investments are
managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable
risk levels.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The finance department works under the
policies approved by the board of directors. It identifies
ways to access financial markets and monitors the
Group's financial risk exposures. Regular reports are
provided to the board of directors.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

32 ¢TI A (&)
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @ T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMREBEEEREEK (&)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

Transactional currency exposures arise from revenue
or cost of sales and services by operating units in
currencies other than the unit's functional currency.
Substantially all the Group’s revenue and cost of
sales and services are denominated in the functional
currency of the operating units making the revenue,
and substantially all the cost of sales and services
are denominated in the operating unit’'s functional
currency. Accordingly, the directors consider the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk being
minimal, the respective quantitative disclosures have
not been prepared.

Interest rate risk management

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk. A reasonably possible change in interest rate
in the twelve months is assessed; which could have
immaterial change in the Group's profit after tax and
accumulated losses. Changes in interest rates have no
material impact on the Group’s other components of
equity. The Group adopts centralised treasury policies
in cash and financial management and focuses on
reducing the Group's overall interest expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is relatively low.
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32 "FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

240

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management (Continued)
Other price risk

Price risk is the risk to the Group’s earnings and capital
due to changes in the prices of securities, including
debt securities and equities.

The Group did not actively trade in financial instruments
and in the opinion of the directors, the price risk related
to trading activities to which the Group was exposed
was not material. Accordingly, no quantitative market
risk disclosures for price risk have been made.

Credit risk management

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @I R (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMREBEEEREEK (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt and debt investment at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash deposits at banks. The Group expects that there is
no significant credit risk associated with cash deposits
at banks since they are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or large-sized listed
banks. Management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

The financial asset at FVOCI and financial assets at
FVPL are considered to have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the period was
therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. The
instruments are considered to be low credit risk when
they have a low risk of default and the issuer has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

FERBREE (&)
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32 "FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

242

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group has assessed that the expected loss
rates for trade receivables and restricted cash were
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for trade receivables
and restricted cash were recognised.

The Group has assessed the ECL rate of other
receivables and the loss allowance was recognised.

The Group has policies in place to monitor the credit
exposure of amount due from a related company,
amount due from a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and amount due from a fellow subsidiary.
The Group will assess the financial capabilities of the
above parties including its repayment histories, and its
abilities to obtain financial support when necessary.
Management also regularly reviews the recoverability
of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. Management is of the opinion
that the risk of default by the above parties is low.
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @ T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MBEMREBEEEREEK (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group uses complex models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions and
credit behavior to measure ECLs of contract assets and
financial guarantees to customers.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

ECL measurement

HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment
based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

° A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired
on initial recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and
has its credit risk continuously monitored by the
Group.

. If a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR")
since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)
ECL measurement (Continued)

o If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage 3".

o Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL
measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that result from default events
possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on
ECL on a lifetime basis.

o A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with HKFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information.

° Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets are those financial assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

Please refer to note 4 "Measurement of the ECL
allowance” to the consolidated financial statements for
details of factors implemented for the ECL calculation.
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

ECL measurement (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’'s
exposure to credit risk arising from quality assurance
fund receivables, quality assurance fund payables and
contract assets are disclosed below:

32 ¢ T A (&)

(b) ¥BEAMEEBEBRRBE (&)

FERREE (&)
BHMEEBRGE (&)

BRAKBMEREREERES B
NEERBFELANEEELENERER
BHE—FELBBRENT

As at 31 December 2018
A2018%12H31H

Gross
carrying Loss Carrying
amount allowance amount
BEREME BiERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T THET FET
Financial guarantee B IERED
contracts
- Quiality assurance fund —ElREERES
receivables
Stage 1 F1PEER 10,899 (276) 10,623
Stage 2 F2PEER 571 (571) -
Stage 3 FIPEER 443 (443) -
11,913 (1,290) 10,623
Contract assets EREE
Stage 1 FRER 21,323 (190) 21,133
Stage 2 FoRER 2,657 (325) 2,332
Stage 3 FIMEER 2,487 (2,215) 272
26,467 (2,730) 23,737
Financial guarantee HBEREH
contracts
- Quality assurance fund —-ENEERES
payables
Stage 1 BB - (8,934) (8,934)
Stage 2 F2ME R - (967) (967)
Stage 3 F3M R - (3,787) (3,787)
= (13,688) (13,688)
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32 "FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)
ECL measurement (Continued)

In the prior year, for trade receivables, the Group
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial condition and does not require collateral from
the debtors on the outstanding balances. Based on
the expected recoverability and timing for collection
of the outstanding balances, the Group maintains a
provision for doubtful debts accounts and actual losses
incurred have been within management’s expectations.
For other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to
meet the Group's short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

32 €@ T A (Z)

(b)

BHEABEEEREREE (£)

FERREE (&)
BAHMEEBEE (&)

RBEFE REZREKERNS &
SEEEBANTBERRETHEREE
AHfh - B EBSRER AR KEEEER
R G - RIBREE LRI IAIA
Y B 14 F W Bl 5 - AN SR B & B R AR AR
e MAELENEREBTEERE
EBEA- gt LR HRIATN S - &8
EREBFEECHRBELR EJLE
1t & M5 R TE O U (O] 14 TE VR EE RE

B R {4 o

mBEZEBEER

SHRDETRBRERARKE
T YPRIABENRDESERE R
B UmEASENES FHkE
HESMABHESEEF K-

AEBEBHERSTROMESEEE
BARERRERE YRS RE

EEBENIHERCE FHEER
BESER -
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

32 €@ ITA(EZ)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEEEZEREE (£)
and policies (Continueq)
Liquidity risk management (Continued) REETEBERE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities REAEHIR R NEB IR A 4R BEIR
at the end of the reporting period, based on the HHENSRHABEREBERMT
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
Total
on demand contractual Total
or less than undiscounted carrying
1year 1to5years cash flows amounts
RERY BHRER
—ER —Z5F HERELE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET THET TAR
At 31 December 2018 RK2018F12831A8
Non-derivative financial FTEEHEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERNFIE 10,070 - 10,070 10,070
Amount due to an intermediate R —HREERAF
holding company A 598 - 598 598
Amount due to a non-controlling ~ ER—EHEBAAZ
interest of a subsidiary R R 2 FA 247 - 247 247
Convertible bonds kES 1,518 12,916 14,434 13,768
12,433 12,916 25,349 24,683
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32 'FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 ¢TI A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BBEEBREBEEEREEK (&)
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk management (Continued) HEELREBEE (&)
Total
0On demand contractual Total
or less than undiscounted carrying
1year 1to0 5 years cash flows amounts
RER K BHRER
—FR —EhE ReRELH FHARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT THET AL
At 31 December 2017 RW2017%12A31H
Non-derivative financial FTESREE
liabilities
Trade and other payables EHREMEMNRE 8,845 - 8,845 8,845
Amount dug to an intermediate JEf — A 2R A A
holding company LA 598 - 598 598
Convertible bonds kR ER - 68,016 68,016 49,516
9,443 68,016 77,459 58,959
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the Group's assets/
liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31
December 2017 and 2018:

32 €@ ITA(EZ)
(c) AAEHENE

BEEHBEEZNABETENEHE
EHNREE

TRIIRR20174F K2018%F12A31H
REBZARBEFENEE, BE:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Financial asset at FVOCI ZAREBEFAEMEERAD
— Club debenture TREE-SMES 350 -
Financial assets at FVPL BERARBEFAEENEREE
— Wealth management products — B EM 22,058 -

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are
required)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values.

WHEEEMEELL B ETENE
HBEEHTHBEBH L ALEE (BL4R
EH AR EERE)

BTRAFREN EERRREAY
BHRAEANEHEELERABENR
HEEERAEEEE

2018 2017
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE AREE KA DREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TExT FTET FiET
Financial liabilities tRER
Convertible honds (Note) AR A (HEE) 13,768 14,824 49,516 51,170
Note: B 5

The fair value of the liability component of convertible bonds has been
calculated by using effective interest rate of 12.50% (2017: 11.32%) per
annum with reference to the Hong Kong Sovereign Curve and credit risk
margin.

AR E S B AR EE T ERF E12.50
B (2017F  NRE)NERAN XL 2 EFET#
B R EERB XM E -
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 ¢WMIA (&)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) RAREEE (#&)
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 MN2018FE12A3MEHN A REEEBR
Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EREAABENEEREE:

At 31 December 2018

RH2018%12A831H
Valuation techniques and
key input Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERMREIEGALE £-R EZR F=R o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET THET TEAR
Assets
BE
Club debenture Market comparison
approach
2RSS (R D A2V - 350 - 350
Wealth management products Bank quoted expected return
(Note)
BMER (M) RERTREMER KR - - 22,058 22,058
Note: Bt 2% -
The wealth management products are fair valued using discounted BUERNFEAMBRREREEFEAAEBE K
cash flow approach. The main unobservable input used by the Group is SEFMANEIETESBHASIRANETEK
weighted average yield rate ranging from 1.82% to 4.16%. =E N F1.82%ZE4.16% °
At 31 December 2018
#H2018%12A31H
Valuation techniques and
key input Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERMREEDAE £-& -t B8 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET TET TER
Liabilities
=R
Convertible bonds Generally accepted pricing
models based on
discounted cash flow
analysis
AR ES ERERBERENITH
AREEHER = - 14,824 14,824
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

32 @I A (£&)

(c) 2REEE(E)

A2017F12A831AM A REBEER

ERBEAREBENAG:

At 31 December 2017

120178128318
Valuation techniques and
key input Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERTREEEAYE i FH E=R @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT FET FET
Liabilities
8
Convertible bonds Generally accepted pricing
models based on
discounted cash flow
analysis
#KES ERUBREREDMOLR
EERN - - 51,170 51,170
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FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

METDHELENEGEHER

TERFIAGEERELTHELENAERE:
BRACLIRGEH BELTHELNE
BN MBI AR
SENGARERERTIERREZTHH

KERA

be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash B4 nEmams.
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Amount
due to an
intermediate
holding Convertible
company bonds Total
EBN—E
R
ANAZAIE CE:Y 3¢ et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T7E T FE T
At 1 January 2017 201761818 - 43,923 43,923
Cash inflow: BEMA:
Advance from an intermediate — M EER AR BN
holding company 10,755 - 10,755
Non-cash transactions: FRERH
Effective interest on AR EH 0 B TR
convertibles bonds - 5,593 5,593
Deemed capital contribution HIE—MFREEZERRA T
by an intermediate holding BEE (M5E34)
company (note 34) (10,157) - (10,157)
At 31 December 2017 and MR2017F 123318 &
1 January 2018 20181 HA1H 598 49,516 50,114
Non-cash transactions: FHRERH -
Effective interest on AR &5 0 B BR T B
convertible bonds - 1,846 1,846
Conversion during the year F R - (37,594) (37,594)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F 12 A31H 598 13,768 14,366
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

In 2018, the Company has established a subsidiary, Wuhan
Wuhao Property Management Company Limited* (“Wuhan
Wuhao"), with an independent third party, Mr. Liu Jiping (“Mr.
Liu"). Part of unpaid capital amounted to approximately
HK$5,478,000 from Mr. Liu was included in amount due from
a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary as at 31 December
2018.

In December 2017, gross amount of approximately
HK$10,157,000 was waived by Hangzhou Enniu Network
Technology Company Limited* (410 B AR & FMTA R A
7]) , an intermediate holding company through capitalisation
of the amount due, before taking into account the PRC CIT

34

TEHRERS

20184 - ARREBIE =) BT L4
(T81%4£]) Kz 7 —RHKBARRZEHRE
MEETREBRETQR ([RERE]) -#HE
201812 A31H IEF & - B £ H R
% 2 495,478,000/ 70 B 5T A E U — R BB A
Bl 7 IR 2R 2 FRIE ©

20176127 - FRER S - R
SR EMARA R (ARAHFEZERA
7)) #h % 3k TH 48 56 4910,157,0005% T - I #E 5t
K AR B 1 2 AT 15 B 57 22 #9529,00078 7 (BT a
9) cEAIBFREMERNGE BRI

effect of approximately HK$529,000 (note 9). The net amount Ao

was recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity accordingly.

# English name is for identification purpose only

OPERATING LEASE 35 R&EMEE

(a) Operating lease arrangements

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as

(a) HKeHEEZH

RBSHER AEBEREFP RS
# BT HBEEEHE THRERKE
FETH S ARRET

follows:
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$"000
FHET FET
Within one year R—FA 6,221 -
In the second to fifth years inclusive =~ —ZRHF (BIEERME) 192 -
6,413 -

The Group rents out its investment properties in
PRC under operating leases. Operating lease income
represents rentals receivable for apartments managed
by the Group. Leases are negotiated for term ranging
primarily from 1 to 3 years with monthly fixed rental.

TERBERERAA o 2018FFH

AEERBELEHEEHEEAEHENKR
BYE - ReHERAEREEMRER
MABRKES -HOTHATEARE
He ERPHRIENTF—E=%-
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254

(b) Operating lease commitments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

35 REHE (&)

(b) BREHERE

R|BEHER AEE BN AT HHEZ
HM A HEEEHEN R KR EEE
NFAREDT

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$"000

FHET FET

Within one year R—FR 9,394 2,394
In the second to fifth years inclusive ~—ZRHF (BIEERME) 20,949 613
Over five years AFMNUE 1,064 -
31,407 3,007

Operating leases relate to rented premises and
equipment with lease terms of ranging from 1 to 11
years (2017: 1 to 5 years), with no option to renew
the lease terms at the expiry date. The lease does not
include contingent rental.

REMEEBH/ENF (2017F : —
ERF)NEEDELRRE FBMELS
AN ZEEANLTEBERAEE -
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36 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36 EARKIE
At 31 December 2018, the Group had the following MR2018F 128318  AEBHEE LA T RRER
commitments which were not provided for in the & B 7 TR AR B AR B R

consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Authorised: VETE
Purchase of property, BEWE BEREE
plant and equipment - 35
37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 BEREALRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial R BEmREMBYAFERIIN NEE
statements, the Group had the following significant FNEBBEATHEBUTERARS:
transactions with related parties during the year:
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Interest income from a related company KB —EBEEQBHNF S WA
(Note) (M) - 4
Note: B RE
The interest income is from 4t & #E B BF 225 8 2 #a B i B FR 2 7] in which Mr. FEWATI R B RHER S EEERBEMARAR A
Sun Haitao, a substantial shareholder, the chairman and executive director of ARIEERE FRFNTESRESELENZRAREE
the Company, has beneficial interests. B
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 EBEALREG (£&)
(Continuedq)
Compensation of key management FTEEEABSHMH
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FRAEERTEZEEREEMEKENE S W
management during the year was as follows: ™
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FE T
Short-term benefits EEREF 1,170 2,637
Post-employment benefits wIFERZEF 36 18
1,206 2,655
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 38 MEHMESEE
There was no significant event took place after the reporting RBEHREEE AV BERAILERR I
period up to the date of approval of the consolidated EBATMENER-

financial statements.

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr O Wl 5 ¥R 2 B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 RATMNETEMBARFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

PR2018F12A31BARRNESH E QA
BT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2018 are as follows:

Particulars of issued Proportion of ownership

Place of incorporation/ and fully paid share interest held by
Name of subsidiary registration/ operations  capital/ registered capital the Company Principal activities
EMAL/ 2R/ BEARARRA/ KRAKERE
WEARAR Rews aRMEXFEE ERERIL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
HE Gk
E-silkroad.net Corporation British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% - Investment holding
("BVI") States dollar ("US$")
LBRUEE REREEIZT RERR
WEvAbE:ok:3 il
Easywin International Holdings Limited BVI 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
JERERERERAR LBRUEE 50,0008 BB EE1ETH RERR
LER
Done Best Global Investments Limited BVI 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
VERRREBERAA LBRUEE 50,0008 BB EE1ETH RERR
LER
Ocean Keen Investment Holdings Limited BVI 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
ERREBRERAA LBRUEE 50,0008 BB EE1ETH RERR
LER
Pearl Sharp Limited BVI 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EXBRAT LBRUEE 50,0008 BB EE1ETH RERMR
LER
Glory Top Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
BREBERAT i ETHEBR RERMR
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
REERAT i ETHEBR RERMR
Hui So Hung Table Tennis Sports Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of sports training services
Centre Limited
HRIEERRERLARLA i 5,000,0007% 7z &) & RERBIRES
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It F &

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

39 ARENEEMBERAAFE

(%)

(Continueq)
Particulars of issued Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation/ and fully paid share interest held by
Name of subsidiary registration/ operations capital/ registered capital the Company Principal activities
FMAL/ R/ BRARBERE/ KRAKENE
WEARER gen HMERFE ERERIL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B 83
Glory Ray Inc. Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
KBEXBRAR i TETNEBR REARR
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
RERZBRAT i TETNEBR REARR
Greatest Profit Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
EREREBRAT i TETNEBR REARR
MEsaEREER2a ([RIEX])  PRC HK$5,000,000 (2017: - 100%  Provision of technical services on
(Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi Technology HK$5,000,000) the establishment of lottery sales
Company Limited®) (“Shenzhen Gaorong”) points
HE 5,000,000% 7T RERTVRHERNRIMRH
(20174 5,000,000/ ¢
MNES EEREERAR (IMMES])  PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Safen Information Technology (2017: RMB10,000,000)
Company Limited®) ("Hangzhou Safen”)
HE AE%10,000,0007T (20175 - REER
AR H10,000,0007T)
FIRVEEREERA A PRC RMB41,819,548 (2017: - 51%  Development of computer software,
(Shenzhen Huancai Puda Technology RMB41,819,548) hardware and application
Company Limited?) system and provision of relevant
technical consultancy service
HE AR¥41,819,5487 (20175 : RETERBN B RERZGNU
AR H41,819,54870) R HIBB R AR
MERED X ERRERD A PRC HK$7,500,000 (2017: - 100%  Development, production,
(TRIBRRE]) * HK$7,500,000) wholesale, and provision of
(Shenzhen Maikang Wearable Devices relevant supporting services in
Technology Limited®) ("Shenzhen Maikang”) relation to wearable devices,
smart glasses and smart watches
HE 7,500,0007% 7T (20174 - FE AE HERRAETZIR
7,500,000/ 10 ) B BRRERE T RAENE
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39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 ARFENEEMB L AFEE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (&
(Continuedq)
Particulars of issued Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation/ and fully paid share interest held by
Name of subsidiary registration/ operations capital/ registered capital the Company Principal activities
HRAYL/ ER/ BRARBRRE/ KRRRERE
WEAR AR gen EMERFE EEZEAN TEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE &
MM E BREERAR PRC HK$5,000,000 (2017: - 100%  Provision of credit referral and
(TR ] ) * HK$5,000,000) services including credit
(Hangzhou Hongmai Information Technology facilitation services, post-
Limited?) ("Hangzhou Hongmai”) origination services and financial
guarantee services
HE 5,000,000/ 7T (20174 : REEENERRE 0EEERS
5,000,0007% 10 ) a5 Sk R RO ERRE
MMHEEEERBR LA PRC RMB10,000,000 (2017: - 100%  Provision of asset management,
(TR ) *x* RMB10,000,000) development and provision of
(Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management consultation on result transfer on
Limited?) ("Hangzhou Weizi") network technology, computer
software and hardware and
computer network engineering
HE AR#10,000,0007C (20175 : REAEERNEE REBEHR
AR 10,000,000 ) i EREHREERERAET
BRRERREZN
REMENEEREREADA PRC RMB7,200,000 (2017: Nil - 55%  Apartment leasing
(Wuhan Wuhao Property Management
Company Limited)
HE AR #7,200,0007 RERE
(20175 : %)
RERGRGBERMERL A PRC RMB1,000,000 (2017: Nil) - 55%  Apartment leasing
([ GRED]) *
(Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network
Technology Company Limited)
("Yuechang Feichi")
HE AR 1,000,007 RERE
(20175 : %)
# English name is for identification purpose only.
* Huancai Puda is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the * RELEDRTPBEKRIAFINEBREENT
PRC.

*x Hangzhou Hongmai and Shenzhen Maikang are wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

**%  Hangzhou Weizi and Yuechang Feichi are limited liability companies
established in the PRC. The equity interests are held by individual
nominees on behalf of the Group.

o FUMAR BORYIRBE TR R B ARSI SN B E
=

xR E R B RS YA R B AR S MY R A F] o %
EHREARBARZAEERE -
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39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

260

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continuedq)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

39ﬁ%ﬁ%$%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%

ERAPINARFIMBAR  HEZERBEAE
WS EX%ET%WEKWEE’JWEAﬂ
EERE FVNEMMBRARNELSBARIE
RITK -

F:“m

(@) BEERFEREZNIEZER

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

BRRINEFE

TR AEBBEAFIERERNIE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- 2 A B AT RS
controlling interests:
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest
establishment held by the Loss allocated to Accumulated
and principal non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business interests interests interests
MR R FERER PEREFER
WELAREHE REZEEHY FERERESZAON BRMER RRFERES
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER FET TER FET
Huancai Puda PRC 49% 49% (220) (23,073) (2,407) (2,271)
BYLE H
Wuhan Wuhao PRC 45% - (2,940) - 3,376 -
REME R
Individually immaterial
subsidiary with
non-controlling interest 1,892 1,989
BEFERER E’MIE‘J
FEANMBER
2,861 (282)
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations:

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

(%)

39 AREMNEEMBAAFE

(@) BEEERFERESZNEZER

BRRAIWEE (&)

BERAAEEAEARFZEREDZNMNER
AN EMBERIN AT - AT B 75
BRI 2 EE B MY HAT R B8R

Huancai Puda REZE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Current assets MEEE 369 509
Non-current assets IERBEE 136 385
Current liabilities mEasE (4,453) (4,564)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE = -
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE2018%F HE20174F
12H31H 12A31H
IEEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAETT
Revenue g 193 181
Other income and (losses)/gains, net  E A K (E18) W F4E (38) 3,312
Expenses 2 (604) (50,581)
Loss for the year REEEE (449) (47,088)
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

fzgﬂwigﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%

(@) BEERFEREZNIEZER
BRARAWEE (&)

ERASEBEARFERZEDANNE
REMMEERREHTIMT - A TH
BEMBEESEHYENNER:
(#%&)

Huancai Puda (Continuead) REZE (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE20185F HE20174F
12831H 12HA31H
ILEFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FHE T
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR RI#EE AEILER (229) (24,015)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling IR E S B B 1R
interests (220) (23,073)
Loss for the year KEEEE (449) (47,088)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEHME2EAX 171 3,821
Total comprehensive expense attributable ViN/NETE7F =N
to owners of the Company EiLHEERATEE (142) (22,066)
Total comprehensive expense attributable FE 2 i 2 B
to the non-controlling interests hEERASEE (136) (21,201)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEEMAT B (278) (43,267)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ST IEERERRE - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

(%)

39 ARBEMNEENBLRAFE

(@) BEEERFERESZNEZER

BRRAWEE (&)

BERASEAENIFERE SN B
REMHBEERRESHIN T - AT
5 & R 2 5 5% B ) S 35 A A9 8RR -

information below represents amounts before (%)
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)
Huancai Puda (Continued) REZE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE20185F HE20174F
12A31H 12A31H
IEEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating KETESIRE CRd)
activities mAERR (33) 193
Net cash inflow from investing activities WEERHRESMAFRE 6 -
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEFEHRERAFRE - -
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BekBREFEEOCRD)
equivalents AN FERR (27) 193
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial

39 ?Kz’i\‘)ﬂﬁ’ﬂiﬁﬁﬂ‘%z‘\ﬂﬁ%

(@) BEERFEREZNIEZER
BRARAWEE (&)

ERASEBEARFERZEDANNE
REMMEERREHTIMT - A TH
BEMBEESEHYENNER:

information below represents amounts before (%)
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)
Wuhan Wuhao BEME
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TH&T
Current assets MEBEE 8,094 -
Non-current assets IERBEE 9,961 -
Current liabilities mEBAE (10,547) -
Non-current liabilities EREBEE = -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@i%ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁ%

(@) BEERFERESZNIEZER
BRAWEE (&)

ERASBEBEARFERZEANNE
REMHBEMBESHIN AT - AT
BENBEESEHYENNER:
(%)

Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) EEGE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE2018%F HE20174F
12831H 12H31H
IEFEE FE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FET
Revenue g = 4,446 -
Other income and losses, net B A K EE  F58 (255) -
Expenses 53 (10,725) -
Loss for the year KEEZEE (6,534) -

REEBERRERAT o 2018FFR 265



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=20184 128318 I+ F /&

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

266

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned

39 Z(IKZ’%E MEBMBARFS

(a)

subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

BREARFERESZNEZER
BRARAWEE (&)

BRAASEAERIFERE SN B
REMHBEERRESHIN AT - AT
75 & R 2 5 5% B ) 4 35 A A9 BORR -
(#&)

Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) BEEME(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE20185F HZE2017F
12H31H 12H31H
LEFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FE T
Loss attributable to owners of the Company  RRQal#A AEIEERE (3,594) -
Loss attributable to the non-controlling eI PR ES 1B
interests (2,940) -
Loss for the year KFEEFEE (6,534) -
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEHMEEAX (746) -
Total comprehensive expense attributable to AN A FIHEA AFEAE
owners of the Company FHEAL B (4,004) -
Total comprehensive expense attributable to  FFE¥ERE R B 2@
the non-controlling interests > 4858 (3,276) -
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEErEMRAZRRE (7,280) -

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

SN T IR R AR

g & - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

39 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 39 AATNEEHBARFEE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continueq)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERHFEREZNEZEN
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£Z)

controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the FRAANEEBEEAFIEREROMN B
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling REMBMBEERBZEHT T o« LAT B
interests is set out below. The summarised financial THE R E 45 5 B 8 5 AT A BER
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) EEGE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
HZE2018F HE20174F
12831H 12H31H
IEFEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Fi#E T
Net cash outflow from operating activities L EENIR SR M F (2,179) -
Net cash outflow from investing activities WERGHRE M F5E (11,481) -
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEERIR S MAFE 14,529 -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRReESEEINFRE 869 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Ml % ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It FE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(b) Financial information of subsidiaries
in which the equity interest is held by
individual nominees on behalf of the

group

The summarised financial information below represents

39 Z(IKZ’%% MEBMBARFS

(b) REABEARBEARREIEER
BB L RNMEER

VAT B 65 & BB 22 5 S (B ) 4 9 A 0 28

amounts before intragroup eliminations: LE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Revenue Wz 2,291 -
Loss for the year REEZEBE (723) (4,811)
Net assets BEEFE 13,681 13,607
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o il % ¥R 2 B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE2018% 128318 1+ F /&

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40 XRAFNHERRREREE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB k&E 60 80
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARINEE - -
60 80
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE - e R H it E RIA
other receivables 298 236
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U BT B~ B3k IR - 55,137
Bank balances IRITH B 14,107 34,414
14,405 89,787
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HthENFIEREFER 1,150 1,937
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS BT B A B3k 1A 47,640 28,773
Amount due to an intermediate e — P R A | 2 508
holding company 598 -
49,388 30,710
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(aE) EERE (34,983) 59,077
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBERE (34,923) 59,157
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES 13,768 49,516
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE 2,748 3,052
16,516 52,568
Net (liabilities)/assets (8 BEEZRE (51,439) 6,589
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital - ordinary shares [ 2N — 3 iz 23,355 23,147
Reserves G (74,794) (16,558)
Total (deficit)/equity (B4 =B (51,439) 6,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018412A318 It F &

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40 A& BRI IR R KR # B

270

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#%&)
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves ARTFNRHERS
Convertible
Share Capital bonds Share
premium  redemption equity options Accumulated
account reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BRE  TRREH
BRHBER BEHE ERfE BRERE RHER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR Tin TiEn TiEn Tin T
(Note (i) (Note (i)
(FrEEa) (B2 Gi))
Balance at 1 January 2017 W017E1 A1 E B8 3,348,003 1 16,341 36,783 (3,401,989) (861)
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - (57,020 (57,020
Total comprehensive expense TEERABTEE
for the year - - - - (57,020) (57,020)
Issue of ordinary shares under share option REBRESSRTEAR
scheme 15,791 - - (4,479 - 11,312
Release of reserve upon REREX NG EREE
share options lapsed - - - (32,304) 32,304 -
Issue of new ordinary shares BIMERR 30,030 - - - - 30,030
Transaction cost attributable to issue of new BT EBRREEHT HHA
ordinary shares (19 - - - - (19
Balance at 31 December 2017 W017E12A31B R 6 3,393,805 1 16,341 - (3,426,705) (16,558)
Balance at 1 January 2018 0181 A1RMEH 3,393,805 1 16,341 - (3,426,705) (16,558)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - (95,622) (95,622)
Total comprehensive expense TEEZERTAE
for the year - - - - (95,622) (95,622)
Exercise of convertible bonds IETRRES 49,792 - (12,406) - - 37,386
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018E 127318 K &5 3,443,597 1 3,935 - (3,522,327) (74,794)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O I 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &, Z=2018%F12A318 It F &

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

41

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

Movement in the Company's reserves
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued
at a premium. In accordance with the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium
account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) The capital redemption reserve of the Company represents the nominal
value of the share capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year's presentation. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the presentation would
better reflect the financial performance of the Group.

41

40 RDFHHBM R KK H B

(%

EABRNRERE (&)

o

AR AR R R R BT R OB EE - R
FERBARKELE (19615 BIEP - EHA
RAEAT) - B9 IR T S RA AR TR - R
SHRHERRE MG ARRARNREEE
B5oh S A B B (D it (AR R AR AL
Y S

(i  ARFRMEAEEGFEEEAQFEEREHORK
AEEE-

LR E T

ETHBEFREEFIBUTERFREZ
2 -ARPEFRR BHEEIIEAE I
f2 bR 7 £5 [ 0 B 75 R 3R
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
h = W F5 & it 2

For the year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31HLLEE
20144 20154 20164 20174 2018
(Restated)
(&E5)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET FET FAT TR
Results 4
Revenue Wiz 3,533 964 2,011 19,361 53,067
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB)/&F (330,087) (60,326) (43,144) (71,377) 12,937
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THALEN (BE),/
i
Owners of the Company ZN/NSIEZEIN (186,051) (54,679) (37,043) (48,293) 16,197
Non-controlling interests R ER (144,030) (5,647) (6,101) (23,078) (3,260)
(330,081) (60,326) (43,144) (71,371) 12,937
At 31 December
W12A31H
20144 20154 2016%F 20174 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FET THERT
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BEE 167,824 173,145 92,088 70,500 107,654
Total liabilities FEN=E (131,427) (95,588) (71,417) (63,124) (45,987)
36,397 77,557 20,671 7,376 61,667
Equity attributable to owners AR EEHE AMEGER
of the Company 1,103 48,244 (252) 7,658 58,806
Non-controlling interests iR 35,294 29,313 20,923 (282) 2,861
36,397 77,557 20,671 7,376 61,667
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